# UNIVERSIDAD DE BURGOS And TH KÖLN – UNIVERSITY OF APPLIED SCIENCES



DOCTORAL PROGRAM IN INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGIES AND CIVIL ENGINEERING

# DOCTORAL THESIS

# UNDERSTANDING AND SUPPORTING WEARABLE TECHNOLOGIES FOR FREEDIVERS

# Benjamin Bube

# Director

# DR. Bruno BARUQUE ZANÓN

(Burgos University, Spain)

Director

DR. Ana María LARA PALMA (Burgos University, Spain)

# DR. Heinrich GEORG KLOCKE

(TH Köln – University of Applied Sciences, Germany)

ii



# Technology Arts Sciences TH Köln

This thesis was jointly supervised by the University of Burgos and TH Köln – University of Applied Sciences.

# Abstract

In recent years wearables have evolved significantly both for mainstream wearables and wearables for freediving. While the very first wearables only provided functionality for displaying the time, wearables nowadays provide a rich variety of functionalities. Hardware and Software capabilities like new sensors, touch screens and new human-machine interaction methods gave rise to new use cases for wearables, such as navigation support, making payments or routing below the water surface. While wearable devices in general are currently being widely examined and researched, there is a clear lack in both commercial devices and scientific literature in regard to wearable devices for divers; especially freedivers. Thus, little to none support exists for freedivers to improve the general safety of the dive and all surrounding activities. The goal of this thesis is to contribute systems that support the freediver and to ground these systems' designs in an understanding of user behaviour. Furthermore, this work is intended to advance research in a scientific context and to identify gaps.

The contribution of this research work is twofold: First, this work aims to understand how divers and researchers use wearable devices and in which direction those are developing. Findings are based on published research collected through the most relevant databases available. The methodology and results are available in chapter 3 Wearables in Diving: A Scoping Review.

Second, this work aims to support freediver in providing a wearable freedive computer with communication capabilities to allow a huge enhancement in safety and to provide a system which is expandable in the future. This prototype was then extensively tested and evaluated in the water by freedivers in terms of feasibility and usability. The methodology and results are available in chapter 4 A Novel Wearable Communication Device for Freediver.

Based on this, another prototype was created with fully available hardware and software, which can be adapted to the respective needs of the desired study with a manageable amount of effort. The methodology and results are available in chapter 5 Low-Cost Wearable Dive Computer.

These two fields of contributions — understanding and supporting — are addressed throughout this thesis and is presented in this thesis to address the two fields according to the challenges and research questions stated in the chapter 1 Introduction.

Finally, we will give an outlook in chapter 6 into the future of what can and should happen in this young discipline.

# Acknowledgements

Over the last few years, I have been fortunate to get into contact with the following people. They supported me in a variety of ways working on the document.

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Prof. Dr. Bruno Baruque Zanón and Prof. Dr. Ana María Lara Palma as well as the University of Burgos for making this doctorate thesis possible. The constant help and support, especially in the last days of my doctorate, helped me a lot.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Heiner Klocke, who has been my mentor for many years. He always encouraged me to pursue the research topics I was passionate about and has been a great source of support throughout the years from the beginning of my bachelor thesis until now.

Finally, I thank my family for their support in all other matters over the years, and Sissi: without you none of this would have been possible. Thank you for understanding and supporting me!

Benjamin Bube,

Gummersbach, Dezember 2023

# Publications

Significant parts of this work are based on previously published material or material in preparation for publication during this thesis's writing, of which are all indexed in the Web of Science (WOS) citation database and published in journals with high visibility and rank.

The following in JCR and Scopus Q1 ranked journal articles and reviews are of significance:

• Bube, Benjamin, et al. "Wearable Devices in Diving: Scoping Review." JMIR mHealth and uHealth 10.9 (2022): e35727.

This article is available at the JMIR mHealth and uHealth (JMU, ISSN 2291-5222; Impact Factor: 5.0) and is a leading peer-reviewed journal and one of the flagship journals of JMIR Publications. JMU has been published since 2013 and was the first mhealth journal indexed in PubMed. In June 2023, JMU received a Journal Impact Factor™ from Clarivate of 5.0 (5-year Journal Impact Factor™: 5.7) and continues to be a Q1 journal in the category of 'Healthcare Sciences and Services.' It is indexed in all major literature indices, including MEDLINE, Pub-Med, PubMed Central, Scopus, Psycinfo, SCIE, JCR, EBSCO/EBSCO Essentials, DOAJ, GoOA and others. JMU focuses on health and biomedical applications in mobile and tablet computing, pervasive and ubiquitous computing, wearable computing and domotics. The Journal JMIR mHealth and uHealth can be found on the Journal Citation Report database, within the category HEALTH CARE SCIENCES & SERVICES, is listed in the first quartile, based on its Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (Q1 JIF = 87.3). At the time the paper was published, the journal ranked 12<sup>th</sup> out of 106 with a Journal Impact Factor (JIF) of 5 and a Journal Impact Factor Without Self Citations of 4.8.

 Bube, Benjamin, et al. "Wearable freedive computer with acoustic communication." IEEE Consumer Electronics Magazine 11.5 (2021): 94-100.
 The IEEE Consumer Electronics Magazine covers the following areas that are related to "con

The IEEE Consumer Electronics Magazine covers the following areas that are related to "consumer electronics" and other topics considered of interest to consumer electronics: Video technology, Audio technology, White goods, Home care products, Mobile communications, Gaming, Air care products, Home medical devices, Fitness devices, Home automation & networking devices, Consumer solar technology, Home theater, Digital imaging, In Vehicle technology, Wireless technology, Cable & satellite technology, Home security, Domestic lighting, Human interface, Artificial intelligence, Home computing, Video Technology, Consumer storage technology.

The Journal IEEE Consumer Electronics Magazine can be found on the Journal Citation Report database, within the category COMPUTER SCIENCE, HARDWARE & ARCHITECTURE, is listed in the first quartile, based on its Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (Q1 JIF = 80.6). At the time the paper was published, the journal ranked 11th out of 54 with a Journal Impact Factor (JIF) of 4.5 and a Journal Impact Factor Without Self Citations of 4.1.

Both journal articles are a contribution of the author under supervision of the Supervisors. The chapter 5 Low-Cost Wearable Dive Computer for Monitoring, Logging and Presentation of Large-Scale Freediving Studies is in a different form currently under review in the Springer Journal Wireless Networks<sup>1</sup>.

The Journal Wireless Networks focuses on the networking and user aspects of this field. It provides a single common and global forum for archival value contributions documenting these fast-growing areas of interest. The journal publishes refereed articles dealing with research, experience and management issues of wireless networks. The Journal Wireless Networks can be found on the Journal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> https://www.springer.com/journal/11276

Citation Report database, within the category COMPUTER SCIENCE, HARDWARE & ARCHITECTURE as well as ENGINEERING, ELECTRICAL & ELECTRONIC, is listed in both the second quartile, based on its Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (Q2 JIF = 55.98 and Q2 JIF = 60.37). At the time the paper is under review, the journal ranked  $111^{th}(140^{th})$  out of 251(352) with a Journal Impact Factor (JIF) of 3.0 and a Journal Impact Factor Without Self Citations of 2.9.

Additionally, there are two noteworthy contributions resulting from the thesis work included in open access repositories, that can be of interest for the scientific community:

- Additional materials consisting of the complete schematics of the second prototype presented in chapter 5 enabling the reader to build a copy of the device for further research efforts which is published under Bube, Benjamin, et al. "Low-cost Wearable Dive Computer for Monitoring, Logging and Presentation of Large-scale Freediving Studies." OSF, 26 June 2023. and accessible through the link: https://doi.org/10.17605/OSF.IO/PGU6T
- The second prototype presented in chapter 5 is centred on collecting diving data from divers for further analysis. This includes an android mobile app, that enables the connection of the wearable dive computer with the android app and further to a firebase server available in the cloud. The associated build files for the Android app as well as the corresponding wiki can be viewed at the following link and used, distributed and modified in accordance with the licensing mentioned there: https://github.com/bbube/FreediverAppAndroid

# Table of Contents

1 Introduction	. 1
1.1 The Evolution of Wearable Technology in Freediving	. 1
1.1.1 Freediving	. 1
1.1.2 The Age of Wearable Technology in Freediving	. 4
1.2 Challenges and Motivation	. 5
1.3 Research Questions	. 6
1.4 Thesis Outline	. 7
2 Foundations, Background and Related Work	. 8
2.1 State of the Art	. 8
2.1.1 Underwater Communication	. 8
2.1.2 Wearable Computing	12
2.1.3 Wearable Computer Usage	13
2.1.4 Electronic-user-device Interaction	14
2.2 Context in Wearable Technologies and Sensor Systems	19
2.2.1 Smartglasses and Smartwatch	21
2.2.2 E-textiles	21
2.2.3 Sensors	22
2.3 Research Methodology	23
2.3.1 Research through data from other studies	23
2.3.2 Collecting data in the wild	24
2.3.3 Field experiment	24
2.4 Applied Methods	25
2.4.1 Scoping review	25
2.4.2 Iterative prototyping	26
2.4.3 Usability testing	27
2.5 Summary	29
3 Wearables in Diving: A Scoping Review	30
3.1 Introduction	30
3.2 Methodology	31
3.3 Safety Devices	33
3.3.1 Vital signs	33
3.3.2 Breathing detection	35
3.3.3 Underwater posture determination of a diver	35
3.3.4 Cognitive functions	37
3.4 Underwater Communication	38
3.5 Human-Computer Interaction	39

3.6 Head-up Displays	)
3.7 Housing and Sealing	1
3.8 Summary	1
4 A Novel Wearable Communication Device for Freediver	ŝ
4.1 Introduction	5
4.2 Safety and Experience Needs	ŝ
4.3 Relevant Technology in Freediving	7
4.4 Wearable apnea dive computer with acoustic communication	7
4.4.1 Prototype	7
4.4.2 AIM and Approach	1
4.5 Dive Experiment	1
4.5.1 Setup	1
4.5.2 User Experience Questionnaire - Dive Result	2
4.5.3 Technical Analysis – Dive Result	4
4.6 Summary	3
5 Low-Cost Wearable Dive Computer	Э
5.1 Hardware in context	Э
5.2 Hardware description	כ
5.3 Design files summary	4
5.4 Bill of materials summary	5
5.5 Build instructions	5
5.6 Validation and characterization67	7
5.7 Summary	3
6 General Conclusion	)
6.1 Major Contributions	)
6.2 Future Work	2
6.2.1 Extension and Refinement of Studies72	2
6.2.2 Improvement of the Presented System72	2
6.2.3 One Integrated Single Solution	3
6.3 Closing Remarks	3
Bibliography75	5

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Visible light absorption spectrum of pure water[15]	9
Figure 2. Electromagnetic Spectrum	10
Figure 3. Rf Attenuation in Sea Water[22]	11
Figure 4. Possible Interactions Between Human And The Device	15
Figure 5. Oura Ring	16
Figure 6. Left: Subtle user input with the thumb. Right: Opening a digital[51]	17
Figure 7. Different approaches based on iSkin[63]	17
Figure 8. Interaction basen on an Ultrasonic device mounted on the watch[65]	18
Figure 9. Design thinking Process vs. Standard Form[118]	23
Figure 10. Freediver with a Prototype, Map of the Aggertalsperre	27
Figure 11. Workshop at the Experience Days in Heemoor 2020	28
Figure 12. Flow diagram of study selection for wearable dive computers	32
Figure 13. Housing type and waterproofness in meter, white: tested and confirmed depth	n, grey:
calculated or specified depth	43
Figure 14. PCB Layout and Schematic	48
Figure 15. Componentes of the wearable freedive computer with acoustic communication	49
Figure 16. Program Flow chart	50
Figure 17. Left: The WADAC connected to the right arm. Right: A Freediver with the WADAC in t	he right
hand just before diving	51
Figure 18. The measurement results compared to the Benchmark	53
Figure 19. WADAC Logged Example (Formatted)	54
Figure 20. WADAC Packetloss compared to depth	56
Figure 21. WADAC Depth of the diver and safety diver	57
Figure 22. Left: The dive computer charging wireless without housing. Right: Dive computers	settings
screen	61
Figure 23. Components of the dive computer	63
Figure 24. Epoxy housing	64
Figure 25. Screenshots of the Freediver App: (a): Home Screen; (b): Sidebar Screen; (c): A	Account
Information Screen	65
Figure 26. Huzzah32 mounted on Featherwing and supplemented with the 9 DoF and MS5837	' sensor
	67
Figure 27. Data collection dive computer	68

# List of Tables

Table 1. Studies covering vital signs	. 34
Table 2. Studies covering breathing detection	. 35
Table 3. Studies covering underwater posture determination	. 36
Table 4. Studies covering cognitive functions	. 37
Table 5. Studies covering underwater communication devices	. 38
Table 6. Studies covering human-computer interaction devices	. 40
Table 7. Studies covering Head Mounted Display Devices	. 41
Table 8. Housing and sealing comparison	. 42
Table 9. Units UEQ Results Mean, Standard Deviation and Cronbach`s $\alpha$	. 53
Table 10. Design File Summary	. 64
Table 11. Bill of materials	. 66
Table 12. Comparison between data size each package and transmission values	. 68

# Acronyms

Abbreviation	Long Form
AIDA	Association Internationale pour le Développe-
	ment de l'Apnée
ССК	Complementary Code Keying
CFFF	Critical flicker fusion frequency
CMAS	Confédération Mondiale des Activités Subaqua-
	tiques
CO	Cardiac output
DA	Dynamic apnea
DAN	Divers Alert Network
DoF	Degrees of Freedom
ECG	Electrocardiogram
EM	Electromagnetic
EMI	Electromagnetic interference
FRV	Freediver Recovery Vest
GPS	Global positioning system
GSM	Global System for Mobile Communications
HCI	Human-computer interaction
HR	Heart rate
HUD	Head-up display
IMU	Inertial measurement unit
IoUT	Internet of underwater things
IoWT	Internet of Wearable Things
JCI	Journal Citation Reports
LiPo	Lithium-ion polymer battery
PB	Personal Best
РСВ	Printed Circuit Board
PMMA	Polymethylmethacrylat
pO2	Oxygen partial pressure
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Re-
	views and Meta-Analyses
PRISMA-ScR	PRISMA extension for scoping reviews
RF	Radio frequency
RTC	Real Time Clock
RTT	Round Trip Time
SCUBA	Self-Contained Underwater Breathing Appa-
	ratus
SpO2	Peripheral oxygen saturation
SV	Stroke volume
UEQ	User Experience Questionnaire
VLF	Very low frequency
WADAC	Wearable Apnea Dive Computer with Acoustic
	Communication

# **1 INTRODUCTION**

This first chapter motivates the work and provides an introduction into the topic of this dissertation. It will first briefly recap the evolution of wearables in freediving and discuss challenges that result from that evolution. Based on those challenges will derive the research questions. Finally, Chapter 1 will give an overview on the structure of this work, its different pieces and how they form a bigger picture towards understanding and supporting wearable technologies for freedivers.

# 1.1 THE EVOLUTION OF WEARABLE TECHNOLOGY IN FREEDIVING

The dive computer recently had its 70<sup>th</sup> anniversary: In 1951 the Scripps Institution of Oceanography in California, members of the US Navy Committee for Undersea Warfare and Underwater Swimmers discussed improvements to SCUBA diving gear: Top of their list was a fool proof way of monitoring nitrogen loading[1]. From that day until this thesis was written, 7 decades later, dive computer has evolved significantly. Parallel to the development, the use of a dive computer became more and more popular, so that now almost nobody goes diving without a dive computer[2]. We distinguish two aspects of this evolution:

- (1) Dive computer (wearables) improved in terms of the technology.
- (2) Dive computer (wearables) became ubiquitous in freediving worldwide.

The more functionality wearables provide and the better the technology is, the more likely people are to get themselves a new wearable [3]i.e., aspect (1) supports aspect (2). Inversely, the more people have a wearable dive computer the bigger the market grows, and the more likely it becomes that manufacturers of wearable dive computers will improve their devices to increase their market share (e.g., since people will be more likely to choose the model which has a SpO2 meter build in); i.e., (2) also leads back to (1). The relation between these two aspects has led to the evolution that finally resulted in the ecosystem of wearables in general as known today. This development could not prevail to this extent for divers, especially free divers, because the target group is too small and the barriers to enter are too high. Therefore, both aspects will be discussed— Freediving and technology — leading to the momentum of wearables as dive computer.

## 1.1.1 FREEDIVING

In ancient times freediving without technical equipment was the only possibility to go diving at all. Back in those days freediving had been used to gather food, harvest resources such as sponge, pearl and other valuable things beneath the surface of the water. Both, Plato and Homer, mentioned the sponge as being used for bathing. By using weights breath-holding divers descended up to 30 metres to collect sponges [4]. In several fights in the Peloponnesian War divers were used to pass enemy blockades to relay messages as well as supplies to allied troops that were cut off. In Japan, ama divers began to collect pearls about 2,000 years ago [5], [6]. Most of the gathered seawater pearls were retrieved by divers working in the Indian Ocean in areas such as the Persian Gulf, the Red Sea or in the Gulf of Mannar [7]. However, at this time such terms as freediving did not exist. Therefore, the term freediving referred historically to the today known SCUBA divers, due to the freedom of their movements compared with surface supplied diving [8]–[10].

While historically the freedivers only held their breath for as long as possible the freedivers today enhance their dive by using technical equipment [8]–[10]. The equipment the freediver is using varies depending on the chosen activity. To better understand the developments and thoughts in this thesis, an explanation of the respective application areas of freediving follows.

There are currently several freediving activities which are either commercial, competitive or just for fun. Each of these activities will be shortly described.

• Spearfishing

Spearfishing is one, if not the, biggest activity of all the other activities. Everyone who has a speargun can basically go in the water for hunting. On the other hand, there is no limit for the equipment to the top like a boat, several spearguns for every kind of fish or only special fitted fins. However, only a spear is necessary for spearfishing. When the spearfisher is diving, he needs to find, give and shot at the target. Supposing the spearfisher caught the target he needs to resurface as fast as possible. Otherwise, based on the dive-length, he could blackout and thereupon drown. If the spearfisher re-enters the surface he immediately needs to bring the fish as well to the surface. Based on the weight and power of the target the spearfisher needs a huge effort. Considering that the spearfisher recently resurfaced and that he is maybe breathless, the fight will be difficult. The spearfisher than must kill the target with a knife, generally mounted at the ankle. After the successful hunt the spearfisher either puts the target to the buoy or in the boat, depending on what he is using.

• Photography

A freediver who want to photograph the seaworld basically only needs a camera to record and capture pictures. This camera needs to be waterproof. However, as well as the other activities photography underwater can also be extended to a complete other level. Especially under water is the light not very strong, which needs to be handled by the camera. The camera needs to be, in most cases, a better one compared to the camera used for atmospheric camera. Additionally, the camera housing must be waterproof, which directly increases the price and value as well. The more expensive cameras are most of the time for a usage in both hands. This requires some skill to handle the camera while diving. To adjust the settings for the camera the photographer has generally to surface before changing them.

• Competitive Freediving

Competitive freediving is currently governed by two world associations: AIDA International and CMAS [11]. Each of these organizations has its own rules on recognizing a record attempt which can be found on their respective websites. Both organizations offer different levels as certifications. The greater the amount of level the better and often experienced the freediver is. Each certificate must be a theoretical as well as a practical exam with each level increasing requirements for the athlete. To highlight one specific example from the AIDA first level certification the freediver needs to dive 8 meters deep with fins, hold their breath for at least 1,15 minutes in a pool and can dive 25 meters with fins in a pool. The fourth level certification requires a 32 meters deep dive with fins, at least 3,30 minutes of breath hold in a pool and 70 meters with fins in a pool to pass the practical exam.

• Recreational freediving

Recreational Freediving is the most used activity among all others freediving options. While recreational freediving can be dangerous, it is less problematic or dangerous compared to the other types of freediving. But this is also since recreational freedivers range from snorkelers to professional freedivers. As an activity, recreational freediving can best be compared to recreational SCUBA diving, as both serve the same purpose of exploring and perceiving the underwater world.

Compared to SCUBA diving, however, Recreational freediving has enormous advantages:

- Cheaper, since in principle no equipment is required.
- Faster and easier to setup and dive.

- Deeper and in total time longer stay in the water diving.
- No decompression time for deep dives.
- Better fusion and adaptation to the natural environment underwater.
- Quieter and smoother movements.

There are plenty of things and activities more for which freediving is used which can't be all listed here. To outline some of those other aspects an understanding needs to be established what freediving really means. Most of the freedivers chose freediving as their dedication for life. They try to find their personal and maybe humankind limits und even surpass them. Freediving also let the person who practice it find themselves in a completely new situation and learn to handle those situations. That's how people learn to find their inner peace and to control their emotions, feelings and body in a peaceful way. Therefore, freediving can be practiced gaining positive effects on both situational and stable psychological characteristics [12]. This circumstance is also used in business by offering special courses for leaders and companies in general. Concerning that most of the freedivers are not certified freedivers rather than just recreational freedivers a huge problem occurs, when those people do not know their actual limit and more importantly don't know when to stop. Therefore, the most important aspect while practicing freediving is the safety.

When a sport is exercised which can't be stopped or cancelled in this exact moment (because the diver is dozens of meters below the surface), one must think about several options to guarantee the safety of the divers. Otherwise, the accident rate would be very high. Unfortunately, beside the current safety standards, the diving fatalities are still high. Based on 763 incidents, collected through each individual who submit an accident while diving to the Divers Alert Network, 80% end fatal [13]. This chapter will not focus on why these incidents went fatal, rather than only to figure out which standards for safety exist and describe them. The safety standards are twofold:

Human related standards are those standards which are directly in correlation with the diver or the buddy<sup>2</sup> and their actions while diving. Those can be but are not exclusively:

- Never dive alone.
- Create a dive plan before the dive session.
- Never hyperventilate.
- Never dive after an LMC/samba or blackout<sup>3</sup>
- Preserve the correct interval between dives.
- Never dive when tired or cold
- Know yourself and your limits.

Technical related standards are those standards which can be defined with a Norm like ISO, DIN or similar. However, in this special case we will also consider those things which are technical but not defined. This has the reason, that the activity freediving is not very diversified and therefore a lot of the equipment is custom made. To outline the most important equipment parts:

- Dive computer (dive time, depth, recovery time, differentiated acoustic alarms, temperature, etc.)
- Heart Rate Monitor
- Mask, Snorkel, Fins, Belt, Weight, Wet suit, Gloves, Booties, etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A buddy, in case of freediving, is the person responsible for the safety. The buddy should be at the same level of performance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Samba or Loss of Motor Control is the name given to the uncontrolled movements that occur because of having very low levels of oxygen in the body. Blackout is the sudden loss of consciousness caused by oxygen starvation.

• Buoy, Lanyard, Rope, Counterweight, etc.

This list is by far not complete. However, those are the most relevant technical related standards which are necessary to understand this thesis. Since Safety is the most fundamental part of freediving and this thesis, will take a deeper look at safety throughout this thesis with a more detailed look in Chapter 2. The next chapter focus on the age of wearable technology with a focus on freediving and diving in general. After this, the challenges and the authors motivation will be outlined.

### 1.1.2 THE AGE OF WEARABLE TECHNOLOGY IN FREEDIVING

Dive computers have revolutionized the way one explores and enjoy the underwater world. These devices have come a long way since their inception, blending technology and diving expertise to enhance safety and optimize dive planning.

In the early days of recreational diving, divers relied on dive tables and manual calculations to plan their dives. These tables provided guidelines based on time and depth limits, but they lacked the precision and flexibility that divers needed. As diving became more popular, there arose a need for a device that could simplify and streamline dive planning. Dive computers have made an enormous leap from the development from two researchers in 1955 to the arms of millions of people worldwide today. These two researchers published a paper outlining the functions needed for a decompression device back then. Such a device, they said, should calculate three things – the decompression during a dive, the nitrogen remaining in the human body from a previous dive, and based on this information, the optimal and fastest rate of ascent. Groves and Monk suggested using an electrical analog computer to measure pressure and air intake[14].

In the 1960s, the first dive computers for recreational diver emerged, marking a significant turning point in the history of diving. These early models were relatively simplistic and primarily focused on depth and time calculations. They utilized analog mechanisms to track the diver's descent, bottom time, and ascent rate. While limited in their capabilities, these dive computers were a major leap forward, offering real-time information and reducing the risk of human error.

The 1980s witnessed a significant leap in dive computer technology with the advent of digital displays and microprocessors. This breakthrough allowed for greater computational power and improved accuracy. Manufacturers started incorporating additional features such as ascent rate monitoring, nitrogen loading calculations, and decompression algorithms. These advancements not only enhanced dive planning but also increased diver safety by providing vital information to prevent decompression sickness.

In the 1990s, dive computers underwent a renaissance as new players entered the market, pushing the boundaries of functionality and design. Manufacturers introduced more intuitive user interfaces, multiple gas mix capabilities, and customizable dive algorithms to cater to different diving profiles. Dive computers became smaller, more compact, and integrated with other dive equipment, such as dive watches and wrist-mounted devices. This integration eliminated the need for additional gear and simplified the diving experience.

As technology continued to advance, dive computers embraced wireless connectivity features while above the surface of the water. Divers could now connect their devices to smartphones or dive log applications, enabling them to log and analyse their dives in greater detail. These wireless capabilities also allowed for firmware updates, ensuring that divers had access to the latest algorithms and features, further enhancing safety and performance during their dives.

Furthermore, advancements in materials, display technologies, and sensor miniaturization will continue to make dive computers more compact, lightweight, and durable. Integrated heads-up

displays, voice command modules integrated into full face masks, and augmented reality overlays may become common features, offering divers an immersive and intuitive experience.

As we reflect on the rich history of dive computers, it becomes evident that these devices have significantly transformed the diving landscape. From simple analog devices to sophisticated Alpowered companions, dive computers have evolved to empower divers with valuable information and enhance their underwater adventures. The future holds immense potential for further innovation, ensuring that divers can explore the depths with greater confidence and safety.

A closer look at the last years in the development of both dive computers and wearables in general is examined in detail in Chapter 2.1 State of the Art.

## **1.2 CHALLENGES AND MOTIVATION**

With an increasing rate of freedivers and an increasing rate of accidents which happen in freediving, safety comes more and more into focus. However, both the accidents itself and the reasons for those accidents are in most accident cases the same. Indeed, the technology has changed a lot, which gives the opportunity to think and create completely new things to help and improve the safety for every freediver further.

### A Thought Experiment:

People can have different reasons why they want to freedive. Basically, the reasons are twofold. People either want to dive to find inner peace, silence and enjoy the underwater world or they want to know their limits, possibilities and human restrictions. Of course, not only one of those reasons need to apply. Many people are practising freediving because of both parts. If we focus on the people who are practicing freediving who want to figure out their limits, possibilities and human restrictions we can assume followed listing:

- People want to find limits and to surpass them if possible.
- People who want to surpass those limits can easily lose control about their actions and close their mind for the obvious dangerous situation and can enter a state of euphoria.
- Actions and Reactions done by those people are not anymore in a logical order. Therefore, their behaviour is not controllable anymore.
- As soon as this occurs to a freediver he is in tremendous danger, because as we already outlined nearly 80% of the accidents end fatal[13].

### Challenges:

Since the affected freediver can't act rationally anymore in this state, we need to find another solution to guarantee the safety for the participating freedivers. Since the buddy of the freediver can still act rationally he should carry the control and possibility to react to the freedivers danger. From the highly experienced buddys and freedivers covering other freedivers, we can derive two challenges worth investigating to work towards this optimal safety independently from the freedivers and their buddys experience.

• Constant monitoring

For a step towards the optimal safety of the freediver he needs to know how he feels and how his condition is. If he feels good, but he is maybe in trouble than he can react based on the given Information done by the constant monitoring.

### Communication

The optimal safety can be reached when the buddy can directly see the same information and data as the freediver itself. Then he can completely rationally decide whether he acts or not.

Beyond the scope of the presented work:

This work has its background in human-computer interaction (HCI) and aims to understand and support people — especially freedivers — regarding their freediving activities under a smart device aspect to improve the safety, fun and experience while freediving.

However, for this thesis are several aspects by far too complex to be handled. Therefore, only a few steps in some specific directions will be made throughout this thesis. This thesis rather paves the way for future research done on those fronts. Parts which are crucial but too complex and time consuming to be handled and already mentioned are the following:

- Analysing the behaviour and critical points where freediver lose control.
- Usability and User Experience for the smart device (both for freediver and buddy)

#### Personal Motivation:

The Author's very personal motivation results from his over 10 years of experience in freediving. Before he even started to study and research in computer science, he became an AIDA 4\* freediver, the highest level of freediver someone can reach. Over the last year's spending freediving almost every time the question comes up, how inexperienced freedivers can guarantee the safety of their buddies. Over the many dives done, he experienced this knowledge by observing others freediving, attending courses and conversations with other freedivers. However, he still tries to answer the question, how inexperienced and sometimes even experienced freedivers can be helped by a significantly improvement for the safety and therefore a more relaxed and enjoyable dive with no significantly disadvantages.

### 1.3 RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The overarching research question that we address in this work is:

# How do freedivers use wearables, and how can we build systems to support freedivers in making effective and efficient use of wearables?

This question will be answered more by specifically addressing the challenges of the three fields of understanding, developing, and advancing wearable technology for freedivers. In particular, we can break down this research question into more specific questions, which this work sets out to answer, as by assigning them either an (U) for understanding or (S) for supporting:

(U1) What use cases do wearables cover, besides a depth logger dive computer, and in which directions are they developing?

(U2) Which communication technologies and seals are the most forward-looking for wearables and up to what depth have they been used and evaluated?

(U3) To what extent have wearable devices been evaluated and what results have been attained?

(U4) Are there important topics that have only been covered to an exceedingly small extent in scientific literature?

(S5) How can we build a system to support freedivers achieve one of the crucial goals aforementioned?

(S6) How can we further enhance such a system for further studies in this field?

The goal of this thesis is to contribute with systems that support the use of wearables and to ground these systems' designs in an understanding of user behaviour gained through empirical observations tailored for freedivers.

# **1.4 THESIS OUTLINE**

The core contributions of this work are twofold: The first part, understanding, is on gaining insights into how people, while diving or researching in this field, focus and use their wearables to inform an understanding of wearable technology for freediver. Results of these sections are, for instance, descriptions of fields of application. As such, the first part of this thesis makes contributions the conceptual design through research on previous contributions to the topic. Based on this understanding, we present the second part of this thesis, which aims to support people during diving and make handling wearables more effective and efficient. The results of this second, more systems-oriented part is, for instance, applications and systems that provide communication between several divers. As such, this second part of this thesis makes technical contributions to engineering. These two fields of contributions — understanding and supporting — are addressed throughout this thesis and is presented in the following chapters to address the two fields according to the challenges and research questions stated above:

- Chapter 3 Wearables in Diving: A scoping Review
- Chapter 4 A Novel Wearable Communication Device for Freediver
- Chapter 5 Low-Cost Wearable dive Computer

The first part mainly written in Chapter 3 contributes to our understanding of how divers and the scientific community use wearable technology, while the latter chapters contribute to the part of supporting people with new devices, building on the findings of the previous study. In order to take a first step in this direction of development, the key point for a smart wearable device was built and tested as a prototype in the chapter 4 A Novel Wearable Communication Device for Freediver: probably the first wearable diving computer with wireless data transmission. We also underline the relevance and necessity of this prototype through an extensive test with the help of test subjects in the water.

# 2 FOUNDATIONS, BACKGROUND AND RELATED WORK

This chapter provides the foundations, background, and related work for this thesis and introduce the notion of context as it relates to the field of wearable technologies, describe the research methodology, and provide a literature review on works that are related to the two fields of contributions — understanding and supporting — of this thesis, as well as on fundamental work to frame this thesis.

# 2.1 STATE OF THE ART

In the previous chapter we defined the research questions of this thesis. Work related to these questions can be found in four different areas: First we will provide an overview on literature for 2.1.1 Underwater Communication, since this is the backbone of every smart device for an underwater use case. After this well go into more detail and explain 2.1.2 Wearable Computing followed by 2.1.3 Wearable Computer Usage, taking a deeper look into the different electronic user-device interactions and finally to ground these in the context of context-aware sensor systems as they apply to the three areas of this thesis: Chapter 3 Wearables in Diving: A Scoping Review, Chapter 4 A Novel Wearable Freedive Computer with acoustic communication and 5 Low-Cost Wearable Dive Computer. Further an overview of the applied methodology is given and explained why they were used.

### 2.1.1 UNDERWATER COMMUNICATION

The term underwater communication is covering a great range of applications and definitions, since both wired and wireless communication principles are covered. However, in this thesis it is generally about the wireless underwater transmission. If this is not the case, this will be explicitly mentioned. Further improvements and the addition of more use cases to the capabilities of the wearable systems will likely increase the usage in the future. There are many submarines, submersibles, exploration robots, etc. floating in the water. All of these are related to science, business or the military. In all of these disciplines, communication plays one of the most important roles, not just above but also below the water. In the following sub-section we will go into more detail and explain the three most relevant communication options: radio frequency, optical and acoustic communication.

### 2.1.1.1 OPTICAL COMMUNICATION

Optical communication uses light to transmit information. Light is an electromagnetic wave and therefore has the same properties as Radio Frequency (RF) waves, but at a higher frequency (430-790 THz). As shown in Figure 2.1, visible light frequencies are the least attenuated in all electromagnetic radiation. Wavelengths in the 470 nm range are generally attenuated the least, always depending on the properties of the water in question, as absorption and scattering are influenced by the chemical and biological composition of the water [5]. The low attenuation at these frequencies and the high propagation speed of electromagnetic waves offers optical systems the ability to communicate at data rates that are far superior to acoustic systems. Figure 1 shows that the blue light is the least attenuated and is therefore used by many commercial systems and research experiments.



FIGURE 1. VISIBLE LIGHT ABSORPTION SPECTRUM OF PURE WATER[15]

Its limitations stem from the fact that light, as an electromagnetic wave, is strongly attenuated in water, affecting the transmission range. A key limitation of optical systems is the heavy reliance on a direct line-of-sight, which can be challenging when viewing an underwater environment especially lakes. Current improvements in LED technology [16] has enabled the development of low-cost, energy-efficient optical transmitters that provide high light intensity, fast switching speeds, high efficiency, and optimal wavelengths for underwater light transmission. Using lasers instead of LEDs can improve the quality of transmission even further as it provides a much better collimated beam of light than LEDs. However, it is much more prone to misalignment and is therefore not always considered [16]. Nevertheless, the need for line-of-sight and the strong reduction of performance caused by scattering, makes these systems impossible to apply in some scenarios.

#### 2.1.1.2 RADIO FREQUENCY COMMUNICATION

Radio frequency waves are electromagnetic (EM) waves in the frequency band below 300 GHz. An electromagnetic wave is a wave of energy with a frequency within the electromagnetic spectrum (Figure 2) and propagates as a periodic disturbance of the electromagnetic field when an electric charge oscillates or accelerates[17]. Due to the high conductivity of water, few underwater RF systems have been developed, although these systems have been studied since the early days of radio and had received significant attention in the 1970s.



FIGURE 2. ELECTROMAGNETIC SPECTRUM<sup>4</sup>

Unlike acoustic waves, EM waves can be used in shallow water. EM transmissions are tolerant of turbulence caused by tidal waves or human activities, unlike acoustic and optical waves which are not[18]. They are insensitive to turbidity and pressure gradients and immune to acoustic noise [19]. Furthermore, they are not affected by multipath and effects on marine animals have not been identified so far[20]. Underwater communication based on EM waves is faster and can be used at higher operating frequencies (resulting in higher bandwidth). However, they are susceptible to electromagnetic interference (EMI)[19]. Their main problem is the high signal attenuation due to the conductivity of the water. This fact implies short communication distances between devices, so EM is never selected for long-distance communication.

When it comes to RF-based underwater communications systems, the number of commercially available systems has declined, largely due to the lack of research, and investment in this area's theoretical models show pessimistic scenarios. In fact, there isn't too much documentation about radio frequency in underwater communications, as most work is designed for low frequency.

$$\alpha_{\rm sea \, water} \approx \sqrt{\pi f \, \mu \sigma},$$
(1)

The absorption coefficient of sea water is related to the conductivity where  $\alpha$  is the absorption coefficient, f the operating frequency,  $\mu$  the permeability and  $\sigma$  the conductivity. This is the reason why most of the work carried out for long range communication is in the low frequencies.

Therefore, researchers work with very low frequency (VLF) in RF communications and reduce the frequency to achieve a more effective communication range. Lloret et al. performed their simulations at 3 kHz with distances between nodes of about 40 meters[21]. In [19] there is also reference to an article in which the authors determined the maximum ranges for low frequencies and found around 6 m at 100 kHz, 16 m at 10 kHz and 22 m at 1 kHz. When using high frequencies around 2.4 GHz, [19] evaluated RTT and packet loss at different frequencies and modulations depending on distance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Source: <u>https://byjus.com/jee/electromagnetic-spectrum-and-electromagnetic-waves/</u>



FIGURE 3. RF ATTENUATION IN SEA WATER[22]

Their results show the best-case scenarios in the frequencies 2,412 GHz, 2,437 GHz and 2,472 GHz. In the 2,412 GHz frequency range, they achieve the best results with a transmission rate of 11 Mbit/s (CCK modulation) at a maximum distance of approx. 15 cm.

Average conductivity in sea water is 4 mhos/m which is almost two orders higher than the conductivity in fresh water. This increases the absorption loss at high frequencies in sea water as shown in Figure 3. Rf Attenuation in Sea Water[22]. RF wave communication is good in fresh water. However, this requires huge antennas to work reliable (the wavelength is 10 km at 30 kHz).

#### 2.1.1.3 ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION

Acoustic channels associated with a sonar system can be used in seabed navigation and special features leading to underwater applications, such as fishing sonar systems or hunting sonars for mines[22]. This technology contributes to underwater navigation and information gathering, since this communication technology doesn't suffer in the water penetration as the electromagnetic attenuation in water does. It is a technology that uses the propagation of sound underwater to navigate, communicate with, or detect objects (e.g., submarines and mines) on or below the surface of the water by projecting sound and the Detects echoes of objects[23]. However, the physical properties of the underwater environment such as temperature, pressure, salinity and water density have a major impact on the propagation of sonar waves underwater, as these physical properties change drastically across the air-water interface. The density of water is much larger compared to the density of air, and obviously the density of the medium at the air-water interface changes accordingly. Therefore, the sonar wave is strongly attenuated as it propagates across the air-water boundary. Consequently, it is completely impractical to establish a communication system that uses sonar waves to cross air-water boundaries[24]. The sonar system uses a hydrophone as a transducer to send and receive acoustic signals in the water. Sound travels in water at a higher speed than air (around 1500 m/s in water compared to around 340 m/s in air), making seawater a favourable medium for sound transmission[25]. The propagation of sound underwater is influenced by temperature, salinity, hydrostatic pressure and other factors; its speed in the ocean varies between 1450 and 1540 m/s[23]. The speed of sound as a function of these three parameters became available in the 1920s. After improvisation, a simple formula from Medwin from 1975 states that the speed of sound c (in meters per second) is as in Eq. which can be expressed as (2)[26]:

$$c(S,T,z) = 1449.2 + 4.6T + 0.016z - 0.055T^{2} + [(1.34 - 0.010T)(S - 35) + 2.9 \times 10^{-4}T^{3}]$$
(2)

where T is the temperature expressed in units of degree Celsius; S is the salinity in parts per thousand (g/kg); and z is the depth from the sea surface in meters. While Equation (2) is not accurate by modern standards, its simplicity makes it particularly suitable for investigating the sensitivity to temperature and pressure (parameterized as depth), which are of interest to this historical account.

Another important aspect when it comes to the acoustic communication is the speed of sound beneath the water surface, which is denoted  $c_{water}$  is 1490m/s. More generally, the parameters S, T, and P all vary with depth and therefore so too does the sound speed, resulting in significant refraction. Neglected for simplicity the wavelength,  $\lambda$  at a certain frequency f is in Eq. (3):

$$\lambda = \frac{c_{water}}{f} \tag{3}$$

Acoustic technology is mainly used during diving and on ships. However, it is limited to several hundred Kbit/s at ranges with a few kilometres, supports slow data rates and can be harmful to marine mammals such as dolphins and whales[27] The propagation delay underwater is five orders of magnitude higher than in terrestrial radio frequency (RF) channels and is extremely variable. In addition, the available bandwidth is severely limited due to the frequency range, which is only between 10 and 15 kHz. In addition, the underwater channel is severely affected, especially by multipath propagation and fading[28]. Due to the extreme characteristics of the underwater channel, high bit error rates and temporary connection losses (shadow zones) can occur.

#### 2.1.2 WEARABLE COMPUTING

The work presented in this thesis contributes to the research and development of a wearable freedive computer with acoustic communication for freedivers and a Wearable dive computer for Monitoring, Logging and Presentation of large-scale Freediving studies as well as a wearable dive computer suitable for large-scale studies. As this belongs to smart wearables, we will look on general aspects of personal and socio-cultural studies related to wearable computers, and present works that reflect on how wearables shaped our habits and how we strive further away from smartphones to smartphone independent wearables.

#### 2.1.2.1 PERSONAL AND SOCIO-CULTURAL ASPECTS

A key strength of mobile devices is their ability to provide a strong sense of expediency and immediacy that lead users to believe that the devices allow them easy, fast, and timely access to information [29], [30]. Gillick et al. argued that the anywhere-anytime access to content and services offered by mobility and availability is the greatest benefit of mobile information and communications technology [29].

While people buy watches to tell time, the number one criterion in choosing a [smart] watch for most people is how it will look. It's a fashion statement, not a technology one

#### (Bajarin, 2014[29])

The Statement above clearly shows that people buy wearables more for fashion than their actual use. However, the mobile information and communications technology is clearly as well an important factor. If the wearer can't see or tell the time, the smart watch would be obsolete. Cherrylyn Buenaflor and Hee-Cheol Kim outlined, that the most important parts for people to accept wearables are [31]:

- (1) Fundamental needs
- (2) Cognitive activity
- (3) Social aspect
- (4) Physical aspect
- (5) Demographic characteristics

However, the influence of these factors on the attitude or behaviour towards the acceptance of the wearable devices will depend on who the target users are and the nature of their environment to which the device is intended to be utilized. Unfortunately, there is no research for freedivers and smart wearables currently available.

### 2.1.2.2 HABITS OF SMART WEARABLE USAGE

The daily habits while using a smart wearable device is manifold. We will focus on the parts, which are relevant for freedivers in general.

Stress is one of the major problems in modern society[32]. Therefore, many people try to find a balance. A few of them choose freediving to relax. At first glance, the concept of smart wearables and freediving seem opposite to one another since freediving is labelled as an extreme sport. However, in freediving, unlike in most other sports, stress and adrenaline are counterproductive. Several studies focused on this topic and find physiological or behavioural markers for stress during the usage of smart wearables. Those markers have to be considered for a further development and either confirmed or refuted especially in the context of freediving.

### 2.1.2.3 SHIFT FROM SMARTPHONE TO WEARABLE

Recent developments in the commercialization and usage of wearables led to a huge gain of popularity. Today, after a long time of technological improvements, smart wearables seem to be heading in the same direction as mobile phones: multiple functionalities. Especially

# smartwatches have two strong advantages over other devices: their mount location and (probably more important) the continual connection to the skin[33].

However, the downside of those smartwatches is clearly their display size. Compared to a smartphone the user just has to raise their hand or lower the head. However, with innovative devices, this could, performance and battery provided, replace the typical smartphone. Since Microsoft failed with SPOT (Smart Personal Object Technology) because of cost and battery limitations, and the delay of Apples Watch release show these two factors[34]. Considering the actual development, we can say that the smartphone will be more and more unnecessary, because all the computing power will be stored in each of those devices<sup>5</sup>. Even the connection between them will be done automatically.

## 2.1.3 WEARABLE COMPUTER USAGE

Wearable technology is rapidly advancing in terms of technology, functionality, size and applications[35]. The currently available wearables are mainly used for one or more functions such as: Fitness tracker and health issue monitoring, navigation tool, media device, communication gadget or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Authors assumption. Article: https://www.notebookcheck.net/Samsung-believes-smartphones-will-becomeobsolete-in-5-years.426860.0.html last accessed 16.06.2023

just as a fashion statement. As most of those devices support more than one of those functions we will focus on several parts and their statistics.

Many people use fitness tracker in their daily life. More specific, over half of all Americans (51%) using a fitness tracker at least once a day, according to a report conducted by Researchscape International[36]. Furthermore over 53 million are sold and 26.43bn USD revenue have made with wearables for fitness and activity tracker in 2018[37]. Beside the fitness tracker there are not so strong gains in popularity in the other fields. The predicted wearables boom is all about the wrist as a statistic outlined. The prediction for the year 2019 was, in the wrist wear, significantly higher (over 90%) than all other fields such as modular, clothing, eyewear, earwear or others[38].

However, this couldn't stop the rapidly increasing amount of people who use such a device for one or more of the functions mentioned above. In 2014 already one out of five American adults had a wearable device according to the 2014 PriceWaterhouseCoopers Wearable Future Report[39]. With the appearance of Samsung and Apple smartwatches, the wearable device sector started gaining mass market attention. Another study in 2014 by MSI and McAfee reported that 70% of people think that wearable technologies will soon send health vitals readings to physicians. In professional sports, wearable technology has applications in monitoring and real time feedback for athletes. The constantly decreasing price of those devices is encouraging widespread adoption and availability. According to a study by Forbes back in 2014 71% of 16 to 24-year-old people want wearable tech[40]. While another study in 2015 carried out in the UK among 1000 people reported that 56% said that wearable tech was "just a fad"; indeed, the consumer satisfaction level with wearables commerce usage in 2017 showed that 84% rated the experience as "excellent" or "very good" [41]–[43].

### 2.1.4 ELECTRONIC-USER-DEVICE INTERACTION

The Interaction with electronic devices is usually performed with a mouse, touchscreen or keyboard. The Result is in general displayed on a screen. In mobile Human Computer Interaction (HCI), however, the requirements are shifted. The user has to adapt his attention to different environments and might not be able to devote too much attention to the device. In the freediving scenario this is an important part to focus on. In the recent years different concepts of HCI had to be applied to reduce the amount of attention the wearer has to pay, including a natural or leastways easy to learn input method. Following we will outline those different attempts for a general mobile and wearable device use as seen in Figure 4.



FIGURE 4. POSSIBLE INTERACTIONS BETWEEN HUMAN AND THE DEVICE<sup>6</sup>

In principle, we divide the interaction into touch and touchless inputs. A different division may also make sense in a different context. However, this division was chosen here because entering underwater with a pressure-intensive or conductive material is significantly more difficult in both cases than on land.

### 2.1.4.1 TOUCH INPUTS - ON-DEVICE INTERACTION

Touch Inputs are currently the most used on mobile devices. This chapter is of utmost importance since we also try to address this problem and adapt it to the underwater world. This interaction has a touchable spectral frame, where gestures like swiping, pointing, dragging, etc. can be acted on the frame. Researchers propose a swipe-based gesture for text entries[44], [45], especially on very small devices which have a reduced form and size to interact with touch interaction. Therefore, the need for complementary interaction methods is evolving. Currently external devices can be made in various physical forms such as rings[46]–[48], wristbands[49], sleeves[50] and belts[51]. The research in this field is manyfold.

Finger-worn devices have gained a lot of attention in the recent years, because those devices are small, discreet and allow single handed controls[52]. As we already outlined the most important factor for people to wear or buy such a device is the look rather than the pure functionality. Therefore, those devices are more like a fashion statement which could bring them the advantage to be better accepted within the potential users. There are several different approaches for those rings to be the controller. MagicFinger use an optical sensor positioned on the fingertips[48]. These types of hardware allow stroke-based gestures on any surface. In contrast LightRing consists of a gyroscope and an infrared emitter positioned on the second phalanx of the index finger[47]. Other rings are iRing and Nenya which both provide a touch surface on the ring[46], [53]. However, iRing can detect both the touch and bending of the finger which allows a huge increase of combinations. In addition, Nenya senses the absolute orientation of the finger with a magnetometer in the bracelet. One example for a commercial version of such a smart ring is the Oura Ring in Figure 5.



FIGURE 5. OURA RING<sup>7</sup>

Arm-worn devices are, compared to the finger-worn devices, relatively large. In addition, this facilitates the interaction possibilities due to the greater size of the touch surface compared to finger-worn devices[50]. However, when the control will be done with muscle tension or arm movements the size isn't important anymore[49], [54]. Those devices are controlled with capacitive sensors and an inertial measurement unit (IMU). Touch-belt device are touch sensitive belts. Dobbelstein et al. proposed such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> All further figures and tables are solely made by the author when there are no additional sources given.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> <u>https://www.welt.de/wirtschaft/webwelt/article231626067/Oura-Ring-im-Test-Sensoren-messen-die-</u> Qualitaet-des-Schlafes.html

a device, which increases the input area and therefore a more easy and advanced control About the device[51].



FIGURE 6. LEFT: SUBTLE USER INPUT WITH THE THUMB. RIGHT: OPENING A DIGITAL[51]

The developed device shown in Figure 6 allows swipe gestures to manipulate the pixel cards on the optical display. The approach is claimed to be unobtrusive as the user does not need to raise the arm as well as a subtle interaction with the belt.

### 2.1.4.2 TOUCH INPUTS – ON-BODY INTERACTION

Touch inputs done by the body interaction can offer a huge advantage. Users no longer need to rely on visual clues to accomplish their tasks when the tactile clue can help them to locate their touch[55]. This can lead to an eyes-free input that is useful in actions where the user has lower cognitive or physical efforts or lack-of-attentions scenarios[56]. Especially in freediving, this can offer the diver a huge advantage, because he does not need to focus on the device and the control rather than the dive itself. This can reduce the distraction and danger[57]. Several works investigated in various parts of the human body, such as the palm[58]–[63], the forearm[64]–[66], the hand[64]–[66], the finger, the face[67] and the ear[68].



FIGURE 7. DIFFERENT APPROACHES BASED ON ISKIN[63]

Palm as surface devices are projection-based techniques which project a picture on their body including their palm and interact with multi-touch gestures[59]. OmniTouch developed a proof-of-concept with a shoulder worn device that is equipped with depth-sensor and a projector. The user can receive tactile feedback from the finger when active touch is acted on these surfaces [58]. In addition, Skinput is an arm-worn device equipped with a vibration sensor and a projector[69].



FIGURE 8. INTERACTION BASEN ON AN ULTRASONIC DEVICE MOUNTED ON THE WATCH[65]

Different to the OmniTouch the Skinput use vibration sensor to capture the movement of the skeletal structure when a finger presses on the skin. There exist several more palm-controlled devices such as PalmGesture, SenSkin and PUB as shown in Figure 8 [61], [65], [66].

#### 2.1.4.3 TOUCHLESS INPUTS - HANDS-FREE INTERACTION

Touchless inputs are those inputs where users make general mid-air movements and receive visual clues from the optical display on the device. This touchless input is twofold: Hands-free and Freehand interactions. Hands-free interaction can be made by the movements of the head, gaze, voice and tongue while freehand interactions focus on mid-air hand movements for gestural input. Hands-free interaction is, without a doubt, one of the most popular techniques for interaction with devices. This technique enables the user to control the specific device without any use of the hands. This is specifically for freedivers associated with high interest because they need the hands free for diving. The Category of hands-free interaction includes voice recognition, head gestures and eye tracking.

Voice recognition will not be further discussed, due to the reason that divers can't talk under water. In general, voice recognition is widely used in interaction with devices such as Alexa, Siri, Cortana or Google Assistant which are nearly in any smartphone, tablet or in smartglasses available.

Head movements are mainly controlled with gestures. Those gestures can be recorded with built-in accelerometers and gyroscopes in such devices. This technique is applicable to text input, user authentication or game controllers [70]–[72]. Those gestures can be achieved in smartglasses with high input accuracy. However, this input method cannot be considered as the main input source, due to the reason that head movements are exhausting. Gaze movement can move and control the cursor movement for several tasks, for instance choosing an object with an eye gaze, text input based on an object with an eye gaze or even the recognition of objects in augmented reality[73]–[78].

Even for head-mounted displays several gaze interactions have been proposed[72], [75], [79], [80]. Eye movements are undeniable natural and fast input channels, in which only a minimum necessary amount of muscle usage is needed to perform a certain task. In addition, the greatest downsides are that these devices are error prone and that they lack of fast usage due to the needed calibration, which is often not available in smart glasses[81]. The common eye-tracker technology will not be popular for the next several years, because of the price for those trackers and their needed processing power, to map the infrared signal to the displayed image in front of the eyes.

However, in some parts a compromise can be applied for improved accuracy. Those drawbacks can be large. As Kozaki et al. outlined, they use a fairly simple design, to analyse if the eye is opened or closed[82], [83]. If this system would be adapted and made more complex, the possible eye movements which can be tracked will increase. Compared to the expensive eye-tracker this system can't be as precise in the current state of art. However, if this precision is not needed the advantages are obvious. Lower costs with basic eye-movement control. As miniaturization progresses, a portable system will gradually become normal in this area too.

### 2.1.4.4 TOUCHLESS INPUTS - FREEHAND INTERACTION

Although various hands-free techniques are available, there is no evidence that those hands-free input outperform the other types of interaction techniques such as freehand interaction. Zheng et al. made the conclusion that human beings are good at adapting to various conditions whether or not their hands are occupied by instruments, tasks or not used at all. Another study outlined, that the gestural input is preferable to on-body gestures and handheld devices especially in an interactive environment[84]. Since those touchless inputs will not reach, in the current technology state, the versatility of the other interaction techniques, we will neglect them in the rest of this work.

# 2.2 CONTEXT IN WEARABLE TECHNOLOGIES AND SENSOR SYSTEMS

Once we established and explained the different input methods available, we have to take a closer look at these in the respective context. Wearable technologies refer to electronic devices that are designed to be worn on the body, often incorporating sensors, computing power, and wireless communication capabilities.

Wearable technologies are used in a range of fields, including healthcare, sports and fitness, entertainment, and fashion. They can be used to monitor health and fitness metrics, track and analyse athletic performance, enhance user experiences, and even enable new forms of human-computer interaction[85], [86].

To specify the user activities while using a wearable device, we will use the concept of context to characterize the interaction between the user and the wearable device and the applications. It certifies the importance of the concept of context that there is more than one definition and that the context is in most cases a situational context.

In this thesis, we refer to the definition of situational context provided by Schmidt[87]:

"In our work we propose to regard situational context, such as location, surrounding environment or state of the device, as implicit input to the system. We use the term situational context to describe implicit interaction fragments. This extends the concept of context beyond the informational context into real world environments."

In this thesis we refer to Schmidt's definition of situational context when describing the location, environment or state of the device. Conterminous we use Schilit and Theimers definition of context-aware computing as the

*"ability of a mobile user's application to discover and react to changes in the environment they are situated in"*[88].

Although their primary focus was on the locations of people and objects for their Active Maps System<sup>8</sup> we know that context is more than this [89]. They stated that there are three categories for context-aware features. First the presentation of information and services to a user, second the automatic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Active Maps System itself isn't of importance here. Just that context is more than this. For further information go to reference [88]

execution of a service and third the tagging of context to information for later retrieval [90]. The context-aware system in form of a wearable device has to deal with all of those three categories. Mainly because the wearable device has to present information to the user, second it has to adapt by changing the state of the device while running when a special event happens and third to log those special events for later use and evaluation. Based on the aforementioned situational context we use in this thesis the definition of Schmidt, where the situational context is defined as followed [89]:

- 1. running on a specific device (e.g. input system, screen size, network access, portability, etc.),
- 2. at a certain time (absolute time e.g. 9:34 p.m., class of time e.g. in the morning)
- 3. used by one or more users (concurrently or sequentially),
- 4. in a certain physical environment (absolute location, type of location, conditions such as light, audio, and temperature, infrastructure, etc.),
- 5. social setting (people co-located and social role),
- 6. to solve a particular task (single task, group of tasks, or a general goal).

In this thesis we will mainly focus on the items 1., 4. and 6. with different approaches for 2, 3 and an outlook for 5. Retrospective this thesis will research the design and use of computer technology, focused on the interfaces between people (users) and computers.

The discipline of wearable technologies draws on a range of fields, including computer science, electrical engineering, materials science, and human factors engineering.

As the field continues to evolve, wearable technologies are becoming increasingly sophisticated, incorporating advanced sensors, artificial intelligence, and machine learning algorithms. The discipline of wearable technologies is therefore poised to continue to grow and expand, enabling new and exciting applications in a wide range of industries and domains.

After we specified the context in the field of HCI, we can define sensor systems as a part of contextawareness. Beside this, we need to find a definition for sensors and sensor systems. While sensors are devices or pieces that can sense things or states, sensor systems are a bit greater than that. A system is a group of interacting or interrelated entities that form a unified whole. A system is as well delineated by its spatial and temporal boundaries, surrounded and influenced by its environment, described by its structure and purpose and expressed in its functioning. Once we see both aspects together, we can say that

### A sensor system is a group of interacting and interrelated sensors, which can sense things or states in their environment described by its structure and purpose delineated by its spatial and temporal boundaries.

When comparing the previous sensor systems and context awareness definitions we can conclude that they contain very clear similarities.

One could argue that both the context and sensor systems describe the same. However, there are still differences between those two. One the one hand, context is a more abstract construct of the current situation based on many factors. On the other hand, there are the different sensors and communication systems between them to serve with information. With that information generated by the sensor system, the context can be, hopefully, identified and in the needed way handled. Therefore, the combination of context aware sensor systems is the interaction and communication between the complete ecosystem of context aware sensor systems.

Once we defined the term context aware sensor system we analyse and question the different sensor systems which were treated in papers and their ability to fulfil the requirements for context aware sensor systems as we defined above in order to complete our description of the state of the art.

Since most of the literature divide the different sensor systems often in consumer, commercial, industrial, and infrastructure spaces, we will adapt this[91]. However, in this thesis we focus only on the consumer market in which connected vehicles, home automation, wearable technology (as part of Internet of Wearable Things (IoWT)) and connected health belong[92]. The correlation between those parts and the thesis are discussed in the following chapters with a listing of the most relevant sensors in their respectively use case.

As already outlined, wearable technology groups under a common name smart devices that can be incorporated into clothing or worn on the body as implants or accessories[93]. Those devices are mostly used for collecting data with sensors and adapt them for either the user or for commercial purposes. Following we will outline and describe smartglasses, smartwatch and e-textiles which are the most common sensor systems currently available.

### 2.2.1 SMARTGLASSES AND SMARTWATCH

Smartglasses add information alongside or to what the wearer sees[94]. Like other computers, smartglasses may collect information about the environment, the body of the wearer or other information with internal or external sensors. Some of those smartglasses may also have all the features of smartphones[95]. They can as well as smartphones, smartwatches and/or E-textiles support activity tracker functionality features, voice and video communication and other functionalities.

A Smartwatch is a wearable computer in the form of a wristwatch. They currently provide a local touchscreen for daily use and an associated smartphone app for management and adjustment of the smartwatch. Smartwatches offer several typical features depending on the use case. Most smartwatches offer more than one of the features below. While sport watches include the functionality to track the activities which are made for training, diving, and outdoor sports, they can as well include training programs, speed display, GPS tracking unit, Route tracking, dive computer (ascent, decent, time, oxygen, etc.), heart rate monitor compatibility, lap times, Cadence sensor compatibility, and compatibility with sport transitions. They can even cooperate with a smartphone to carry out more functionality if needed. Over the years smartwatches are advancing, especially their design, battery capacity, and health-related applications[33].

### 2.2.2 E-TEXTILES

Electronic textiles offer a compelling solution for seamlessly integrating digital technology with the human body. By leveraging our clothing needs, electronic textiles can eliminate the intrusiveness and risks associated with implantable or epidermal electronics. To achieve autonomous functionality, these textiles require various technological capabilities, including sensing physiological signals, harvesting energy, and wireless data communication without causing discomfort or interfering with daily activities[96]–[99]. This enables the creation of a network of sensors, actuators, and displays around the body for applications ranging from health monitoring to human-computer interfaces. However, integrating electronics with clothing materials remains challenging due to the stark contrast between the rigid nature of conventional electronics and the flexible, porous structure of textiles.

Several innovative approaches have been explored to overcome the inherent incompatibilities in materials and geometry. For instance, button-sized electronics integrating sensors, batteries, and wireless communication components can be attached directly to existing clothing. Nevertheless, the size constraints of such devices limit their functionalities, performance, and sensing opportunities. Another approach involves fabricating textile functional systems by printing or coating functional materials, such as conductive fillers, into the porous structure of the textile substrate. However, these methods are prone to failures like cracks and delamination due to the mechanical mismatch. Moreover, they often cause discomfort by stiffening the textile materials and obstructing the
necessary transport of moisture and air through the porous structure. Hybrid strategies that combine miniature electronic modules with large-area textile sensors can address some of the limitations but require non-intrusive solutions for powering and communication during daily activities.

One promising solution is the use of conductive threads that can be digitally embroidered into clothing, enabling wireless powering and communication[100], [101]. This can be achieved through computercontrolled textile manufacturing, ensuring a seamless translation from digital design to fabrication. Embroidered conductive threads offer advantages over coating and printing processes as they preserve the flexibility and permeability of the textile while leveraging existing manufacturing processes for scalable production. However, existing conductive materials for textiles suffer from a trade-off between mechanical and electrical performance[102]–[104]. Metal-based threads, for instance, have low resistance but are fragile under repeated bending, whereas carbon-based threads with high elasticity have insufficient electrical conductivity for essential components like antennas and radio-frequency elements.

In contrast, liquid metal encapsulated with stretchable polymer, such as silicone rubber, exhibits high electrical conductivity and adaptability to mechanical changes[105]–[107]. This unique combination of properties has enabled the creation of stretchable electromagnetic devices and liquid metal fibres for sensing and energy harvesting[108], [109]. However, previous demonstrations have not fully harnessed these properties to develop textile threads compatible with digital embroidery or incorporate them into clothing to form autonomous systems.

#### 2.2.3 SENSORS

Wearable sensors are advanced devices that combine the characteristics of point-of-care systems with mobile connectivity. They operate autonomously as self-contained units, enabling continuous monitoring of an individual's biometrics in a non-invasive or minimally invasive manner. This allows for the detection of subtle physiological changes from baseline values over time[110].

The concept of wearables has been around for several decades, with examples like the Holter monitor, a medical sensor used for measuring heart electrical activity, dating back to the 1960s[111]. While the specific components may vary depending on the application, wearable devices generally consist of common building blocks. These include the substrate and electrode materials, sensing units responsible for interfacing, sampling, biorecognition, signal transduction, and amplification, decision-making units that handle data collection, processing, and transmission, and power units to sustain their operation.

The line between consumer and medical wearable devices is becoming increasingly blurred as modern wearables can perform high-quality measurements comparable to regulated medical instruments. Initially, first-generation wearables like watches, shoes, and headsets focused on monitoring biophysical parameters such as physical activity, heart rate, and body temperature[112], [113]. However, with the widespread adoption and success of these devices, there has been a gradual shift towards non-invasive or minimally invasive biochemical and multimodal monitoring, aiming to achieve truly personalized healthcare[114]. In freediving, however, this development still poses a problem, since the sealing of such sensors is extremely difficult or, as of now, cannot be solved in many cases.

Second-generation wearables come in various forms such as on-skin patches, tattoos, tooth-mounted films, contact lenses, textiles, as well as more invasive options like microneedles and injectable devices[115]. A notable characteristic of these second-generation wearables is their utilization of biofluids, where biorecognition elements convert the presence of specific analytes into detectable signals. While most of these examples are still in the laboratory prototype stage, there are a few commercial exceptions, such as the FreeStyle Libre glucose monitoring system and the Gx Sweat Patch[110].

Wearable sensors, both biochemical and biophysical, have demonstrated their effectiveness in disease detection, management, and wellness applications[116]. Beyond human-centered health and wellbeing, wearables have also found applications in animal health monitoring for the pet and animal husbandry markets[117]. The versatility and expanding applications of wearable devices are revolutionizing healthcare and extending their impact beyond human health also in freediving.

## 2.3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

The approach taken in this study was influenced by the concept of implementing real systems and utilizing them for research purposes. This methodology serves a dual purpose: first, it allows for the acquisition of scientific insights, and second, it enables the development of systems that cater to the actual needs of users. For this specific reason we choose to apply design thinking as our iterative approach[118].



FIGURE 9. DESIGN THINKING PROCESS VS. STANDARD FORM[118]

In deployment-based research, empirical observations are derived from systems that have been deployed, providing valuable insights for enhancing theoretical understanding of human-computer interaction. These insights, in turn, contribute to the iterative improvement of the design of the deployed system. This design thinking approach follows a user-centered design methodology, creating a cyclical progression of iterative refinement.

To achieve this goal, we made a twofold approach which we will discuss in detail in the following two chapters.

## 2.3.1 RESEARCH THROUGH DATA FROM OTHER STUDIES

The work of this dissertation started, and first papers, reviews and articles were scanned. Our early idea was to develop a device which could communicate below the surface of the water in any direction. This development was mainly driven by the experience of the author during freediving itself. However, as we advanced further into this topic we discovered a lot of research papers, reviews and articles which focused on other parts and not the communication aspect itself. Driven by this observation we thought it would be reasonable to switch to this topic first and to conduct a collection of data regarding wearables development, usage and results from these studies. The paper [119] was a direct result of this idea.

Chapter 3 Wearables in Diving: A Scoping Review examines the applied methodological approach through scoping reviews in detail and, among other things, goes into this methodology and why it was chosen.

#### 2.3.2 COLLECTING DATA IN THE WILD

As stated by Rodgers, the concept of "turning to the wild" aims to investigate phenomena within their natural context rather than in isolation[120]. It involves observing how individuals adapt, respond to, or incorporate new technologies into their daily lives in this case during freediving. This approach, known as studying technologies in the wild, has been employed in various fields of Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) and ubiquitous computing to examine the usage of new or existing systems in real-world settings[121], [122].

Rodgers also acknowledges the challenges of isolating specific effects observed in an in-the-wild study, as participants have control over the study rather than the researcher. Additionally, the observed effects may be influenced by complex dependencies between various factors.

For the developed communication device, we took into consideration user feedback and data logging. We collected data on the usage of the device to at least outline improvements for their user interface; to improve the technical system (e.g., through users` recommendations after the usage) and to inform the design (e.g., through users` feature requests).

#### 2.3.3 FIELD EXPERIMENT

A field experiment is a research method in which an experiment is conducted in a real-world setting, such as a natural environment, rather than in a controlled laboratory environment. It involves manipulating independent variables and observing their effects on dependent variables under natural conditions. Field experiments are valuable for studying human behaviour and social phenomena as they provide insights into real-life contexts and minimize artificiality.

Field experiments have been widely used across various disciplines, including psychology, sociology, economics, and environmental science. They offer advantages such as increased ecological validity, allowing researchers to examine behaviour in natural settings and capture real-time responses. These experiments also enable researchers to explore causal relationships between variables and generate practical implications.

One classic example of a field experiment is the study conducted by Milgram (1963) on obedience to authority, where participants were instructed to administer electric shocks to a person (a confederate) in a different room[123]. This experiment revealed unexpected insights into human behaviour and the influence of situational factors.

Another notable field experiment is the work of Thaler and Sunstein (2008) on behavioural economics, exploring the concept of "nudging" to influence individuals' choices and decision-making[124]. Their study demonstrated how small interventions in real-world settings can have significant impacts on behaviour.

Field experiments continue to be a valuable research tool, allowing researchers to investigate complex phenomena and their practical implications in authentic settings. They offer a bridge between controlled laboratory experiments and the complexities of the real world, providing valuable insights into human behaviour. In this thesis, we are motivated by field experiments (when proposing a device to use in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5).

## 2.4 APPLIED METHODS

This chapter deals with the applied methods in the different studies which were already tested and proofed in other fields. First, we will look at scoping reviews, which were then used in Chapter "3 Wearables in Diving: A Scoping Review" for data collection and the analysis of the data. Then we will go into more detail on the topics of iterative prototyping and usability testing, which were applied and used in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5.

#### 2.4.1 SCOPING REVIEW

To make a better distinction and classification, we will briefly explain reviews and systematic reviews in contrast.

A review in general is an overview of the research that's already been completed on a topic, while a systematic review differentiates from other types of reviews in that the research methods are designed to reduce bias. The methods are repeatable, and the approach is formal and systematic[125].

Systematic reviews have become increasingly popular in recent years by first emerging in the 1970s[126]. This triggered an exploding number of systematic reviews over a period, both in terms of number and popularity[126].

Like a systematic review, a scoping review is a type of review that attempts to minimize bias with transparent and repeatable methods. However, a scoping review is not a type of systematic review. The main difference is the goal: instead of answering a specific question, a scoping review explores a topic. The researcher attempts to identify the key concepts, theories, and evidence, as well as gaps in current research[127]. Sometimes scoping reviews are an exploratory step in preparation for a systematic review, and sometimes they are a standalone project. The first question is why we used a scoping review and not a systematic review or some other type of review. In contrast to other review types that deal with relatively precise questions, such as systematic reviews of the effectiveness of interventions based on well-defined outcomes, scoping reviews serve to map the key concepts of a research area, to create working definitions or the substantive boundaries to stake out a topic [128]. Scoping reviews can be deployed and used for various purposes. The general direction of a scoping review is to use evidence-based examination of a broader area to identify gaps in knowledge, clarify key concepts and report on the types of evidence relevant to practice[129]–[131].

A first demarcation and delimitation compared to systematic review took place in 2005 by Arksey and O'Malley[128]. Various scoping studies were identified and classified by the authors through publishing a first methodological framework for conducting scoping studies.

Further Levac and colleagues build upon their experience conducting scoping reviews using the aforementioned methodology and proposed recommendations that clarify and enhance each stage of the framework[132].

Based on this work the JBI (Joanna Briggs Institute) published a guidance document for the conduct of scoping reviews with an update in 2017[133], [134]. Up to this point in time, however, there was no reporting guideline for scoping reviews. Reporting guidelines establish a minimum set of elements that must be included in research reports and have been shown to increase methodological transparency and the acceptability of research results[135], [136].

In 2018, the Preferred Reporting Items for 97 Systematic Reviews extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR) was developed by an international team of experts in scoping reviews and evidence synthesis, including members of the JBI/JBC working group, to be consistent with the JBI's scoping review methodology and to provide reviewers with a reporting checklist for their reviews[134].

In its current state, the checklist contains 20 essential reporting items and 2 optional items which should be considered when conducting a scoping review. Scoping reviews are used to synthesize evidence and assess the body of literature on a topic. Among other things, scoping reviews help to determine whether a systematic review of the literature is warranted[137].

Since freediving is a relatively young area in terms of technical solutions, especially wearables, we decided to carry out a scoping review for the first step according to the status of the framework. The knowledge gained in this way is examined in more detail in Chapter 3 Wearables in Diving: A Scoping Review upon which we further build our prototypes in Chapter 4 and 5 Low-Cost Wearable Dive Computer which is the consistent further development of the findings in this review.

#### 2.4.2 ITERATIVE PROTOTYPING

A prototype is an artifact that approximates a feature (or multiple features) of a product, service, model or system to test a concept or process[138], [139]. The design and the prototype are linked throughout history. Palladio already used wooden prototypes to better plan the architectural elements more cost-effectively regarding stones[140].

We can distinguish different types of prototypes defined by Ullman and later refined by C.S. Lai and G. Locatelli[141], [142]:

- Proof-of-Concept develops the system function for customers' requirements or engineering specifications comparison. This prototype acts as a learning tool, and details (e.g., materials and manufacturing process) are unimportant (e.g., a prototype could be built from any material or part available).
- Proof-of-Product is constructed to aid refining the assemblies and components. This prototyping examines the details and the performance of the system. The prototyping time and cost can be optimised with rapid/desktop prototyping, using stereolithography, 3D printing, or computer-aided design.
- Proof-of-Process verifies the design details. The precise manufacturing processes and materials are employed to manufacture system samples for functional testing.
- Proof-of-Production verifies the whole production process. This prototype is the outcome of a preproduction run.

In principle, prototypes that are to be used for an underwater mission are much more difficult to produce, since the above-mentioned requirements and the engineering cannot be implemented 1 to 1 as in a land-based scenario. This includes, for example, the use of 3D printing for the first prototype. As a rule, they do not withstand the pressure under water. We will focus on this part in more detail in the sub-chapter 3.7 Housing and Sealing. After we could see that a desired communication solution also had to be developed from scratch for a new field of research, we were able to develop an initial proof of concept based on this data. The exact steps and content are described in detail in Chapter 5.

The development of an advanced prototype and disclosure of the same has already been used many times in a scientific context to collect data. A good first reference point for such prototypes is the journal Hardware-X.

We were able to test the complete development of the two prototypes at any time with relatively little effort in the reservoir Aggertalsperre, which is not far from the TH Köln University of Applied Sciences and the authors home, so that, while complying with the safety regulations, the development could be managed quickly and clearly from the start. The fairly good conditions for such dives are clearly visible in Figure 10.



FIGURE 10. FREEDIVER WITH A PROTOTYPE, MAP OF THE AGGERTALSPERRE

Since both developments are a relatively young field of research and have so far only been associated with considerable costs, we were able to use this approach to implement and develop it quickly and at significantly lower costs using iterative prototyping. In this way, various tests could also be carried out in this water reservoir, as can be seen in 4.5 Dive Experiment. The relatively constant conditions on site enabled us to focus on the essential aspects of the tests. The studies carried out later, however, ran under scientifically more precisely determined parameters. These tests were all carried out on the same day to ensure objective comparability.

## 2.4.3 USABILITY TESTING

Usability testing is a crucial method used to evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of a product or system in meeting the needs of its users. It involves observing users as they interact with the product, gathering feedback, and analysing their experiences to identify areas of improvement.

The primary goal of usability testing is to ensure that a product is intuitive, easy to use, and provides a satisfactory user experience. By conducting usability tests, designers and developers can gain valuable insights into how real users navigate through the system, uncover any usability issues, and make informed design decisions.

The process of conducting usability testing typically involves the following steps:

- Planning: Define the objectives of the test, identify the target audience, and determine the scope of the testing. Develop tasks and scenarios that reflect typical user interactions.
- Recruitment: Recruit participants who represent the intended user base. The number of participants may vary based on the resources available, but a general guideline is to test with 5-10 users per testing round.
- Test Setup: Set up the testing environment, which may include preparing the test location, recording equipment, and any necessary software or prototypes.
- Test Execution: Conduct the usability test sessions, where participants are asked to perform specific tasks while their actions, comments, and feedback are observed and recorded. It is important to encourage participants to think aloud, expressing their thoughts, impressions, and difficulties encountered.

- Data Analysis: Review and analyse the collected data, including observations, notes, audio/video recordings, and participants' feedback. Look for common patterns, trends, and usability issues that emerged during the testing.
- Issue Prioritization: Prioritize identified usability issues based on their severity and impact on the user experience. This helps in determining which issues should be addressed first during the design or development process.
- Reporting: Document the findings and recommendations in a usability test report. This report provides stakeholders, designers, and developers with actionable insights to improve the product's usability and user experience.
- Iterative Testing: Incorporate the feedback and recommendations from usability testing into the design or development process. Conduct additional rounds of usability testing to validate the effectiveness of the improvements made. Goes hand in hand with the previous chapter.

Usability testing should be an iterative process, integrated throughout the product development lifecycle. By involving users early and continuously seeking their feedback, designers and developers can create products that better meet user needs, enhance user satisfaction, and ultimately increase the likelihood of product success in the market.



FIGURE 11. WORKSHOP AT THE EXPERIENCE DAYS IN HEEMOOR 2020

Depending on the respective development and test stage we were in, we had several sides where we gathered necessary information. This included workshops during freediving events such as the biggest event in freediving the Experience days in Hemmoor 2020<sup>9</sup> as seen in chapter 4, A novel wearable freedive computer with acoustic communication and in Figure 11. In addition, the usability laboratory of TH Köln was used to analyse the software and identify potential for further improvements. Tests in the nearby Aggertalsperre were also used as seen in 4.5 Dive Experiment with subsequent expert interviews. In addition, surveys and ideas could be carried out at the Boot trade fair and during various freediving events located in Germany where valuable feedback on ideas could be obtained at an early stage of the development. Some of the ideas were not pursued further afterwards and are not dealt with in this thesis either, since they were rejected by the same feedback in its early stage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Video of the Experience days https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=W060xJnssXE

During those events we captured ideas, problems, solution approaches and challenges mainly through expert interviews, Usability tests with the usage of eye-tracking, heatmaps and guided interviews as well as the UEQ (User Experience Questionnaire). As the name shows, the UEQ can be used to measure the user experience very well. The classic usability aspects (efficiency, perspicuity, dependability) as well as the user experience aspects (originality, stimulation) can be measured[143], [144]. This questionnaire was used to measure those aspects for the prototype in chapter 4.5.2 User Experience Questionnaire - Dive Result. The Raw Material of those questionnaires are in the appendix.

## 2.5 SUMMARY

In this chapter we have introduced the foundations of this thesis, presented the research approach we have taken for the work conducted, and discussed works relating to the two fields of this thesis as they are described in chapter 1.4 Thesis Outline which are – understanding and supporting – as well as wearable computing in general. First, we introduced the term context and its relation and meaning for this work and described the context as a situational context, where the situation for the context is the most important factor. In 1.3 Research Questions the research approach is explained which were carried out in this thesis. Further an explanation of the applied approach, how and why it is needed to strive further into this direction as well as highlighted for this the several approaches done by different people, companies or startups and outlined the need for a greater approach.

Next, we presented work relating to wearable computing in general, to get a better understanding of the topic. Based on this knowledge we could introduce and outline related work for the two other fields of our thesis. The link between those related work and these specific fields is as follows:

- In Chapter 3 Wearables in Diving: A Scoping Review we were one of the first to examine the general orientation and the development status of the wearable devices used for divers and freedivers in the form of a scoping review since we could see that this field isn't covered very well.
- In Chapter 4 A Novel Wearable freedive computer with acoustic communication: From related work and the scoping review on wearable devices, we have most importantly learned that users accept different devices only under special circumstances. While this acceptance is important, we answered this in Chapter 4.5.2 User Experience Questionnaire Dive Result. In addition, we've seen wearables gain more and more popularity and acceptance among the people and especially freediver even when they are completely different.
- In Chapter 5 Low-Cost Wearable Dive Computer: We will go into more detail approaching the low-cost devices to further enhance research through large scale data collection during freediving and to provide a prototype which is feasible for this task.

In the following chapters we present the work based on the foundation we presented in the chapter 1 Introduction and then grounded in this chapter Foundations, Background and Related Work. We will first start to go into detail regarding the capabilities, features and current development direction of wearable technology for freediver. We will describe the methodology, investigate the different use cases, and finally take a deeper look in the applied housing and sealing of those devices to get deeper into the part understanding. Once this is done, we will go into more detail in chapter 4 and 5 the two developed prototypes as well as the respective results to close the gap for the second part supporting.

## 3 WEARABLES IN DIVING: A SCOPING REVIEW

This chapter deals with the capabilities, features and current development direction of wearable technology for freediver. We will first describe our methodology, then investigate the different use cases, and finally take a deeper look in the applied housing and sealing of those devices. Some of the results in this chapter have been presented in the publication [119].

## **3.1 INTRODUCTION**

Over the past few years, wearables have been widely adopted and became a tool for many people in their daily lives [145]–[147]. As a result, interest in using these for data collection and evaluation for scientific purpose also increased in many areas in the last decade, especially for monitoring fitness and health related metrics [148], [149].

Divers can be divided into different categories just like mainstream users. These include SCUBA divers, who tend to be recreational divers, as well as freedivers who want to stay under water for as long as possible with one breath. A transition from SCUBA diving to technical diving is fluent. Authors consider technical diving activities beyond the depth and conditions of SCUBA diving. Technical divers have a clear focus on professional activities under water with mostly increased demands on the equipment and conditions under water.

Although divers are generally at higher risk than non-divers, far fewer studies have been conducted in this area[13]. The underwater environment is for humans unnatural and dangerous, which makes it particularly necessary to survey physiological factors. Those factors relating to the pulmonary, cardiovascular, neurological, and renal systems have so far been described in detail[150]–[152].

Due to the significantly smaller number of people who are divers, but also to the higher demands on the wearable device in terms of water resistance and water pressure makes development challenging. With the increasing pressure under water, many sensors and actuators must further be treated differently than on land. In particular, the medical values such as oxygen saturation, heartbeat or Holter monitoring must be adapted to the different conditions underwater to function smoothly. Furthermore, the water represents an almost impenetrable barrier for various radio networks such as WLAN or Bluetooth and reduce the propagation of radio waves underwater as the frequency increases. This results in enormous hurdles, especially when networking different wearables under water, since radio wave-based connection methods cannot be used. In addition to wired connections, primarily the acoustic and optical data transmission has been investigated and recognized as useful so far [153]–[155].

Ongoing development and research made it possible to propose initial prototypes, concepts and ideas in the field of diving physiology while wearable sensors were also extensively investigated recently[156], [157]. Therefore, using devices to collect and process these data, could be helpful in minimizing future resulting dangers, such as drowning, floating away or fear. Previous studies have already been able to collect and describe in detail the individual sensors that have been used underwater [[156]–[158].

However, none of the studies went into more detail as to whether and how these sensors can be combined in a portable, compact and, if possible, networked end device. In addition, only sensors directly related to the health of the diver have been covered in the literature so far.

To close this gap and to show a first tendency of different portable wearables for any kind of diver and therefore, for a general underwater use; we especially try to answer the following questions:

- What use cases do wearables acknowledge, besides a depth logger dive computer, and in which directions are they developing?
- Which communication technologies and seals are the most forward-looking for wearables and up to what depth were they used and tested?
- To what extent were the wearable devices tested and what were the results attained?
- Are there important topics that have only been covered to a very small extent by scientific literature?

For the sake of completeness, individual wearables from other reviews are included, provided they are intelligent electronic devices that can be worn on the body or on the surface of the skin and can detect, analyse and/or transmit information. Dive computers that depict the classic approach of a pure depth sensor are not included in the review, as we consider them too simple to be compared with devices we defined as wearables. Similarly, commercial dive computers were not considered in this review for the following reasons. The details of the specifications of the individual dive computers can only be compared with great effort and not in a review since they were often tested according to manufacturer-specific conditions. In addition, the built-in sensors and actuators are often not disclosed, which would have to result in a direct comparison in the laboratory. Purely commercial studies on dive computers have been published so far, to which the reader can refer[159]–[161].

## **3.2 METHODOLOGY**

The methodology used in the study is based on the approach of a scoping review. The scoping review approach aims to present certain key concepts that have not, or only partially been reviewed so far.

The review targeted wearable devices which are used underwater to make a comprehensive map of their capabilities and features, and to discuss the general direction of the development and orientation of research and prototype design of this kind of devices.

For this study, a scoping review was used to identify and discuss the extent, scope and nature of this line of research, to propose a summary of existing research, and to identify gaps in the existing literature [132], [162], [163]. During the process, we followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines and its extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR)[137].

The search syntax was developed on PubMed and the Scopus database using different word variations and combinations for the search in the search field for PubMed in "Title-Abstract" and in the Scopus database in the "Article title, Abstract, Keywords" field. Each iteration the search results were searched for 10 publications previously known to the authors to randomly examine the results of the search. If not all 10 papers were found, the search was repeated with a different search string. The final search formula "wearable OR device AND (diver OR diving)" yielded the most complete and strongest results with containing all 10 papers. Other terms did not yield any useful results in the respective databases and were further discarded. By using a final search string that was as generic as possible, most of the results with a possible match could be found.

The final search was conducted on September 2021, including the PubMed, Scopus, ACM databases and further checked Google Scholar for additional literature which may has not been covered by any of the beforementioned databases.

To get only relevant results, the search was restricted to the period after 2005. The reference lists of included articles were screened for any potentially missed papers.

A total of 2320 articles were identified by the search; of which PubMed returned 664, Scopus 992; while additional sources were included, like 15 papers from the respective references section of the mentioned papers that didn't appear in the initial results lists. After excluding duplicates, a total of 1420 papers passed the initial filter and were subsequently checked for title and abstract in terms of the objectives of the review. If the paper could not be clearly rejected or accepted based on the title or the abstract because it did not match the conditions, a full-text analysis was also carried out. To be considered as an appropriate paper, the following criteria had to be met:

- prototype or device that was described and tested in water.
- could be worn and interacted with (e.g., display, buttons, etc.)
- fully functional without external equipment
- English written, peer-reviewed academic source

Wearables that could not function independently as a research object were excluded. This included individual sensors which did not function as an independent device, actuators or non-portable sensors or systems which are not a wearable device[164]–[166].

After discussion with all Authors, we decided to include 171 studies for a full text screening. 41 articles were retained for synthesis an analysis from which, in a later stage, 5 were further discarded, since they did not fully meet the inclusion criteria. The individual steps carried out can be seen in 2.4.1 Scoping review and in Figure 12.

The subsequent steps of the review are presented in more detail in the next sections.



FIGURE 12. FLOW DIAGRAM OF STUDY SELECTION FOR WEARABLE DIVE COMPUTERS

A Spreadsheet table was created to present the data from the individual papers. Data extraction was performed by the first author. In cases where individual parameters of the wearable devices were not clear, these were examined more closely with all authors and a joint decision was made. There was no document instance in which a final consensus was not achieved among the four authors. The data extracted from the articles included in the review: Type of the article, source, title, study topic, study sample, housing and sealing, depth rating, location on body, implemented sensors/actuators, results and other studies who used this device. In particular, the housing type and the tested depth were listed on a separate Spreadsheet and displayed in a graphic. The application of the respective wearables was compared with the respective preferred way of wearing, which, however, did not show any further added value and was therefore discarded.

From these 36 studies retained in the review, 9 studies focused on communication as a wearable underwater between different devices, while 7 articles dealt primarily with the development of a headup display, 2 studies with human-computer interaction possibilities underwater and the remaining 18 as different kind of safety devices. Theoretical measures are extracted from the wearable components' specifications, where this information was available. In the following, the "max. depth" is the depth at which the respective wearable was successfully used and tested underwater. The "construction depth" is the theoretically possible depth based on the design and commercial specification of the components reported in the publication.

## **3.3 SAFETY DEVICES**

Most of the studies deal with divers' safety. This is nothing unusual considering that when something happens it usually ends fatally [13]. The applied maximum test depth varied between 2.7m and theoretical 300m. In this and the rest of the tables, both tested and theoretical depth measures were analyzed.

The section on safety device can be divided and specified in further sub-sections. The primary areas of application were vital signs (7 studies), Underwater determination of a diver (6 studies), breathing detection and cognitive functions (each. 2 studies). Although breathing detection is a part of the vital signs, this part has its own section due to its relevance and importance.

## 3.3.1 VITAL SIGNS

Four out of the seven studies had the collection of electrocardiogram (ECG) values as the subject of the study (Table 1). In doing so, depths of 2.7m up to 30m were reached. All systems could be worn regardless of the surface or external devices. Measuring oxygen saturation, blood pressure and heart rate is particularly relevant for freedivers.

Ref.	Study topic	max. Depth (Construction depth)	Sensors/Actuators	Results
[167]	heart rate (HR), stroke volume (SV), and cardiac output (CO) during dynamic apnea (DA)	3m (90m)	miniaturized impedance cardiograph	no changes in HR, SV and CO compared with surface breathing, immersed at the surface and at 4m depth.
[168]	heart rate (HR), stroke volume (SV) and cardiac output (CO)	3m (90m)	Impedance and ECG- recorder	bradycardia, decrement in SV an CO
[169]	measuring body temperature (core and skin) and electrocardiogram (ECG)	30m	ECG, Temperature, Bluetooth,	housing weak, cables problematic
[170]	underwater monitoring of a diver's ECG signal, including an alert system that warns the diver of predefined medical emergency situations	2.7m	ECG sensor	show the good accuracy of the analysis system as well as the alert system
[171]	wrist mounted apnea dive computer for continuous plethysmography monitoring of oxygen saturation and heart rate	11m (200m)	transcutaneous oxygen saturation, heart rate, plethysmography pulse waveform, depth, time and temperature	continuous measurement of O2, heart rate and plethysmography pulse wave for, water temperature and depth were successful
[172]	measurement of blood pressure underwater	10.5m (200m)	Pressure sensor, sphygmomanometer	accurate non- invasive measurement of blood pressure underwater
[173]	detect peripheral oxygen saturation for rebreather ECCR diver	14m	pulse oximeter	Detecting pulse oximetry during an immersion makes diving with a rebreather safer

TABLE 1. STUDIES COVERING VITAL SIGNS

## **3.3.2** BREATHING DETECTION

The detection of breathing has received too little attention in the literature so far but is of elementary importance for maintaining or increasing safety underwater. To know whether a SCUBA diver is drowning or not, it is helpful to know if the diver is still breathing or not. Two different approaches were successfully tested (Table 2). A precision of over 97% could be achieved with one device by reading the intermediate pressure (IP) signal on the SCUBA regulator and evaluating it with the help of an algorithm. In the second study, a textile sensor was attached to a diver's chest, which expands accordingly when breathing and thus provides different values. With this system, a breathing signal can be read independently of the SCUBA equipment. Both studies achieved depths of 25 m and 30 m, which are acceptable for recreational use.

Ref.	Study topic	max. Depth (Construction depth)	Sensors/Actuators	Results
[174]	breathing detection device	25m (100m)	two pressure sensors	sensitivity as high as 97.5% in 16 dives of 13.9hours recording
[175]	enhance safety, collect biometric information	30m	MS5803-14BA, respiratory sensing	steps entering detailed menu should be shortened and setting functions that deem to be unnecessary and dangerous (for example, rising speed warning alarm function) should be removed. Diving computer usability got overall average valuation of 84.7%.

TABLE 2. STUDIES COVERING BREATHING DETECTION

#### **3.3.3 UNDERWATER POSTURE DETERMINATION OF A DIVER**

A determination of the position under water has been pursued by many studies with other approaches (Table 3). A clear tendency towards a specific solution to record the position for diver in general is not discernible since the technologies shown cover very different approaches. However, an automated buoyancy vest is particularly suitable for SCUBA and technical divers, as commercial products have already shown [176], [177]. A posture determination suitable for freedivers could be carried out by means of the depth sensor and an inertial measurement unit (IMU) [38]. Other approaches pursued a possibility of recording unconscious behaviour of the diver with a camera that was pulled behind the diver or determined the position of a diver with GPS or by holding a sonar device.

Ref.	Study topic	max. Depth (Constr uction	Sensors/Actuators	Results
[176]	automatic buoyancy control	30m (80m)	pressure sensors (water, and first stage), 3D accelerometer, pneumatic valves	initial correlations between the real dives and the simulated dive results were satisfactory.
[177]	increase the safety of divers. aimed at detecting the occurrence of too fast, possibly uncontrolled, ascents of the diver	300m	servo, (Pressure sensors, but not mentioned)	the proposed application seems feasible
[178]	automatically collect and average pressure data	4.4m (30m)	Pressure Sensor, Display, Magnetic Induction Switch	sunlight/temperature affects the pressure sensor, therefore misleading results for the depth
[179]	underwater pose determination	N.A.	three-axes accelerometer, three-axes gyroscope, camera	could analyze poses and fin kicks in real- time
[180]	enhance the diving experiences by recording user's unconscious behavior	N.A.	Camera, wire transmission to the diver	The camera can capture the diver fully and even other diving members
[181]	accurate and affordable geo- referencing for diver	N.A. (300m)	GPS, Pressure Sensor, Display	accuracy less then 5m
[182]	whether a handheld sonar device reduces the mean time to locate a missing diver	9m	Mark Track sonar dive equipment (RJE International, Irvine, CA).	Handheld sonar significantly reduces the mean duration to locate a missing diver

TABLE 3. STUDIES COVERING UNDERWATER POSTURE DETERMINAT	ION
---	-----

## **3.3.4** COGNITIVE FUNCTIONS

To move in a strange and hostile environment like water, intact cognitive functions are required. Although the topic is extremely relevant, only two systems could be identified that could function independently. The effect of cold water and cognitive impairment could be recorded by a significant increase of 111.7% with CFFF values. The other study could only determine a reduced performance at a depth of 20m when processing the Stroop test (Table 4). At a depth of 5m or on land, no changes were found.

Ref.	Study topic	max.	Sensors/Actuators	Results
		Depth		
[183]	critical flicker fusion	45m	Display, flickering	increase of 111.7% in
	frequency (CFFF) test		LED light	CFFF compared to pre-
				dives, skin temp.
				dropped 0.48°C
[184]	Stroop test,	20m	heart rate and	several findings and
	Number/Letter test, 2-		tank air pressure	results
	back test and a simple		stored with	
	reaction time test		Galileo Sol	

TABLE 4. STUDIES COVERING COGNITIVE FUNCTIONS

The collection and storage of vital values received the most attention, since little is known about the medical background of diving, especially among divers and freedivers. However, due to the advancing development in this area in recent years, the use of these devices has made it possible to achieve initial results. By linking the previously developed and functioning safety devices with underwater communication, almost real-time monitoring of the diver can take place in various disciplines in the future. Possible scenarios include the use of these for technical divers, freediving competitions and other areas and as well as increasing the safety conditions of these activities. By specifically measuring the vital parameters of freedivers in all competitions, a significantly larger and more meaningful database can be accessed in the future. In subsequent developments, predictive algorithms can be developed on this database that will warn the diver before a critical condition occurs. This approach as a concept has already been presented but not yet tested in real use [185]. For this, however, it is necessary that the prototypes are significantly further developed to be able to be used meaningfully outside of a scientific study. Preferably as a finished consumer product.

As a result of the fact that divers can move freely in all 3 dimensions, contrary to a land-based deployment, the location and position determination receive a significantly higher level of attention. In addition, since GPS does not work when used in water, various localization options were investigated, but show weaknesses in various situations such as caves, strong currents or great depths of the diver[181]. The location and position determination with an integrated IMU shows promising results and should be further investigated. An almost real-time transmission of the position of a diver underwater also has many applications such as monitoring the individual students at a diving school, early detection of dangers such as currents and drifts or, for freedivers, the analysis of the movement sequences by a trainer.

The use of breathing detection devices in combination with underwater communication also opens new possibilities. In addition, by using the developed respiratory sensor system, a further focus on the collection and evaluation of contractions in freedivers on the diaphragm can be achieved[175].

## **3.4 UNDERWATER COMMUNICATION**

Underwater communication is the most important aspect of a wearable for the Internet of underwater things (IoUT) [155]. Without a wireless connection between each other and the Internet, this would not be able to establish itself. That is why wireless connectivity is of particular importance in the future development and establishment of the IoUT. Due to the complexity and size of the modems for wireless underwater transmission, there are so far only a handful that have been successfully implemented and tested in a wearable.

Ref.	Communication	Data	Maximum	power	depth	Sensors
	technology	rate	range (m)	consumption		Actuators
[186]	light	N.A.	few meters	N.A.	1m	N.A.
[187]	acoustic	N.A.	18m (direct	>5W and	N.A.	hydrophones,
			positioning)	<10W		speaker,
						keyboard/display
[188]	acoustic	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.
[189]	acoustic	N.A.	>50m	N.A.	6.6m	beacon (GPS),
						acoustic
						communication,
						MIS5837-BA30,
						pressure
[100]		FOOKhara	20	(10)4/	20	transducer
[190]	optical	SUUKOps	20m	<10.00	30m	camera,
						sensor, audio
						Display
[101]	acoustic	20hns	15m	ΝΔ	18m	acoustic
	acoustic	20005	13111	11.7.	10111	transducer
						depth. IMU
[192]	GPS/GSM Cable	N.A.	N.A.	N.A.	16m	pressure sensor,
	,					tank pressure
						sensor,
						GPS/GSM,
						Display
[193]	acoustic	64bps	200m	2.6W	250m	pressure sensor,
						RTC, acoustic
						modem,
						temperature,
						heartbeat
						sensor, display
[194]	light	4Kbps	7m	N.A.	1.5m	Light sensors,
						Earphones,
						Phototransistors

TABLE 5. STUDIES COVERING UNDERWATER COMMUNICATION DEVICES

As seen in Table 5. Studies covering underwater communication devices, two of them fall back on a two-part solution, in that the transmitter / receiver is attached to the back and the diver simply connects a wearable to the device on the back [188], [189]. Furthermore, apart from [193], none of

the wearables can reach a range of more than 20m, which is not sufficient for a meaningful use until now. Conversely, however, the data rate also decreases significantly with the range.

Underwater communication between multiple devices or to the surface is a fundamental pillar for the extensive networking of wearables.

This is currently limited in its spread by three essential factors. These factors are the size, cost and bandwidth of the module that currently do not allow any economic dissemination. Due to a constantly advancing development in the IoUT and the underlying sensor networks, these will be useful in the future due to scalability in wearables for underwater use. The use of underwater communication in wearables are diverse and expand the possibilities enormously.

By implementing the AHOI acoustic modem in a wearable, a significantly more compact and cheaper option for use under water could be created in the future[195]. If the development proceeds in the same way as with mainstream wearables, an area of development could focus on miniaturization and arrangement, which would benefit the current bulky modems underwater[196]. By networking the divers devices with each other and with the Internet, the potentials were often examined and shown in regard to IoUT[150], [152].

Through a further connection of the wearables to other sensors on reefs, boats or sights, safetyrelevant aspects can also be transmitted to the divers independently of vital parameters through underwater positioning, navigation or currents, for example, and appropriate recommendations (appearing, changing direction, etc.) to avoid accidents. An overview of the variety of options is provided by Jahanbakht et al [155].

As soon as this can be solved inexpensively and compactly, the other sub-aspects such as the collection of vital parameters will automatically arise. The first promising step in the direction of a more cost-effective and compact device with an acceptable range has already been presented[193]. A wearable device with data transmission can be manufactured commercially through consistent further development based on previous approaches. Whether freedivers are willing to spend more money for unique products, has yet to be investigated.

Since GPS also does not work under water, a different approach is required here as well. With an entry and exit point recorded by GPS, the location of the diver under water can be determined with an IMU.

Algorithms that can recognize whether the diver is in danger based on the movement data can also make enormous progress here and significantly increase safety, which has already been described in great detail in land-based use cases[197], [198]. Vinetti et al. concludes that monitoring, feedback and transmission of oxygen levels and the most effective economical swimming technique will have the greatest impact in the future [157]. By considering both aspects, monitoring and data transmission under water for the first time, we also assume that this trend will continue in the future and will have the greatest impact on the underwater world.

## **3.5 HUMAN-COMPUTER INTERACTION**

The interaction with a conventional dive computer usually takes place via various buttons that are sealed against the ambient pressure under water. Although there is great potential for improvement in this area, only two of the papers dealt with the topic of interaction as seen in Table 6. Studies covering human-computer interaction devices. For this purpose, both the implementation of a touchscreen that is insensitive to water pressure and the interaction by tilting the device for input were tested. For both variants, the advantage over button-based interaction stands out. Furthermore, there is no need for a physical connection to the outside of the housing, which always represents a potential weak point.

In both studies, good results were achieved under all conditions, which makes further tests in this direction appear sensible. A comparison of the two options for interaction with those of a classic dive computer with buttons makes sense.

Ref.	Interaction type	Mounting	max. depth	Sensors
				Actuators
[199]	touchscreen	wrist	50m	Temperature, Water
				pressure, Direction
[200]	tilting for underwater	handheld	5m	Samsung S8 Sensors
	typing			

TABLE 6. STUDIES COVERING HUMAN-COMPUTER INTERACTION DEVICES

Because the focus in the development of dive computers has so far been almost exclusively on scientific studies, it is not surprising that this aspect has only been considered very rudimentary so far. As a result, the number of studies that have been carried out on the subject has been very limited until this moment. However, both identified approaches showed a clear trend and the associated need for further investigations. A trend towards a design without weak points and connections to the outside can be seen in the literature. While once the classic touchscreen was chosen as the interaction method, the others opted for an interaction by tilting the device. As soon as a wider commercialization becomes established, as in mainstream wearables, this aspect could gain in importance and attention in the next years [201]. However, it is possible that insufficient attention is paid to the subject, as has been the case in the mainstream wearables market in recent years [196].

Whether this type of interaction turns out to be better or more useful compared to a wearable device controlled by a button should be further pursued and investigated.

It may well be that the general paradigms of usability and user experience cannot be applied underwater to the same extent. So far, however, no studies have been carried out in this direction to the knowledge of the authors. Nevertheless, as soon as underwater data communication is offered as a commercial function in a dive computer, this aspect could also receive increased attention, since it opens both completely new ways of interaction and interaction needs for the user, since the computers will allow much more extended functionality.

## 3.6 HEAD-UP DISPLAYS

Head-up displays are difficult to manufacture for the mainstream and to design in an appealing way, as the aesthetics are primarily decisive. As a result, only the large manufacturers of electronic devices could claim this market for themselves and developed HUDs for everyday use like Microsoft HoloLens, Google Glass or Intel Vaunt. And even these have partially stopped production for the time being, due to a lack of acceptance as a mainstream device [202], [203], even if they are currently offered to help carrying out working activities. However, since functionality is clearly in the foreground in diving, and a diving mask or a full-face mask is used anyway, the acceptance among divers is significantly higher. As can be seen in Table 7. Studies covering Head Mounted Display Devices, there are relatively many studies devoted to a HUD for divers. Due to the extensive integration of the technology into the mask itself, and the associated balanced pressure, most of the HUDs can experience a significantly greater depth or pressure without any problems. This is of particular benefit to technical divers; in whose environment they are most likely to be used. Of the 7 studies, only 2 enabled a see-through mounted HUD. Only one of the two can be attached to a conventional mask, which would be a potential use in freediving. Since the HUD is often integrated into a full-face mask, these are not subject to the classic challenges of a wearable device and can instead be placed in the mask without a waterproof housing and without direct seals. As a result, they reach a significantly greater depth than HUDs mounted outside the mask.

Ref.	Type of HUD	Mounting	Dive Mode	Depth (Construct ion depth)	Sensors Actuators
[204]	Not see- through	Mounted outside a mask	rebreather diving	300m	HUD, 3 pO2 sensors, depth, time, and decompression obligations
[205]	Not see- through	Mounted inside a full-face mask	SCUBA, surface supplied gas, rebreathers	45m (100m)	full color display, depth sensor, tilt compensated compass and a tank pressure sensor
[206]	Not see- through	Mounted outside a mask	Military combat diving	N.A.	micro display, optical lens, electronic compass, depth sensor, microprocessor, associated electronics, and battery
[207]	See- through	Mounted inside a mask	SCUBA, surface supplied gas, rebreathers	9m	Depth sensor, compass, LEDs, HUD
[208]	See- through	Diving helmet	Military combat diving	12m	HUD
[209]	Not see- through	Mounted outside a mask	all (copies the dive computer screen)	95m (300m)	Bluetooth, Pressure Sensor, Display, Buttons, pO2
[210]	Not see- through	Mounted outside a mask	rebreather diving	130m	IR receiver, 3 axis IMU, pressure sensor, tank pressure sensors, galvanic pO2 sensors, Display. Buttons

TABLE 7. STUDIES COVERING HEAD MOUNTED DISPLAY DEVICES

#### **3.7 HOUSING AND SEALING**

Particular attention should be paid to the implementation of the housing for the large number of different studies, as this is currently one of the greatest hurdles for the development of new and innovative ideas for the IoUT. As can be seen in Table 8. Housing and sealing comparison, almost every housing type was used for different study designs. Nevertheless, a clear tendency in the choice of the primarily used housing type polymer / PMMA can be seen with 13 out of 36 (36%) of the studies analysed. The second most common option was either an aluminum case or a commercial smartphone / tablet case / case with 7 out of 36 (19%) each. With 3 out of 36 (8%) each, the device was either sealed in a diving helmet or with a potting compound within the corresponding studies. Only 1 out of 36 (2%) was a tempered glass used for the housing. In 2 out of 36 studies (5%), no information on the housing was given.

Housing and sealing	Study topic	Ref.	tested depth
			(construction depth)
aluminum case	communication	[187], [192]	N.A., 16m
	HUD	[205] <sup>a</sup>	45m
	Safety device	[176], [174], [181],	30m (80m), 25m
		[173]	(100m), N.A. (300m),
			14m
commercial	communication	[186], [188], [189]	1m, N.A., 6,6m
smartphone/tablet	Interaction	[200]	5m
housing/bag	Safety device	[169], [170], [178],	4.4m (30m), 20m, N.A.,
		[179], [184]	30m, 2.7m
Diving helmet/mask	communication	[190]	30m
	HUD	[208]	12m (N.A.)
	Safety device	[173]	14m
Polymer/PMMA	communication	[191], [193], [194]	1.5m, 18m, 250m
(Lexan, Acryl,	HUD	[204], [205] <sup>10</sup> ,[206],	300m, 45m (100m),
Plexiglas, etc.)		[209]	N.A. ,95m (300m)
	Safety device	[176], [167], [168],	30m (80m), 11m
		[171], [172], [177],	(200m), 3m (90m),
		[180], [183]	10.5m (200m), 45m,
			3m (90m), 300m, N.A.,
potting compound	HUD	[207] <sup>11</sup> ,[209],[210]	9m, 95m (300m), 130m
tempered glass	Interaction	[199]	50m
not specified	Safety device	[175], [182]	30m, 9m

TABLE 8. HOUSING AND SEALING COMPARISON

As expected, across all examined studies, the depth tested is well below the theoretical respectively the construction depth (Figure 13. Housing type and waterproofness in meter, white: tested and confirmed depth, grey: calculated or specified depth). Only the use of tempered glass was tested to the maximum specified depth. A direct comparison of a housing made of polymer / PMMA and potting compound shows that both depths achieved are approximately equivalent. By weighing the costs and benefits of each specific study to be carried out, a decision can be made between the two housing types. The most common primary cause cited against the use of a potting compound housing was the difficult access to the device for charging, programming and interacting after pouring [178]. If the challenges are overcome, the use of cast housings could prevail in the long term, also regarding the use of sensors in water.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Device consists of 2 parts and is therefore listed in 2 housing and sealing categories.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> It is only 9m because the potting compound has not been applied to all components. Instead, those had own compartments which are a problem with sealing. The buttons where sealed with O-Rings.



FIGURE **13.** HOUSING TYPE AND WATERPROOFNESS IN METER, WHITE: TESTED AND CONFIRMED DEPTH, GREY: CALCULATED OR SPECIFIED DEPTH

Several lines of evidence suggest that especially the sealing against environmental influences under water will continue to distinguish the development of wearables for underwater use from those for land-based use in the future. As far as the authors research shows, no source is known that has dealt with the subject before. With the data on housing and sealing and their respective achieved or projected depths, we assume that polymer / PMMA and cast housings will continue to be the primary use in the future[204]. The cast housing can assert itself in eliminating various problems such as heat generation, programmability, chargeability and user-friendliness. Furthermore, the next step should be a careful study of the relationship between cost, aesthetics, design and achievable depth, which has direct implications for the various seals. Here it is particularly important regarding a completely cast housing whether this will be accepted in a commercial product. Even if the individual reasons were not mentioned, a completely encapsulated housing only occurred in three HUDs[207], [209], [210]. Therefore, no clear trend can be identified in this area. Reasons can be poor aesthetics, maintainability and heat generation. The introduction of different coloured epoxy adhesives in connection with LEDs and a special form of the dive computer could certainly appeal to the market.

#### 3.8 SUMMARY

Most of the reviews previously carried out had the collection and evaluation of physiological and psychological parameters during diving as the primary research objective. The focus was either on generally available sensors that can be adapted for underwater use[156] or dealt exclusively with the sensors and not the entire wearable[157] or only dealt with physiological measuring devices [158].

Apart from the fact that some of the papers mentioned above were published a few years ago, they only dealt with safety related aspects in the field of diving. This trend was repeatedly confirmed in this review, since most of the wearable devices examined were also safety related. Furthermore, the wearable devices identified in this review in terms of safety, largely corresponded to those from previous studies. The only differences here were, if they could not be used as a wearable device as in the Methods section or if they were published after the respective review.

By considering other devices under water for the first time, a first approach could be shown in which areas potentials and challenges can be seen. So far, the development areas of underwater communication and human-computer interaction for divers have not received any real attention. Furthermore, this is the first review summarizing the available full-fledged diving devices that can be considered as a scientifically tested wearable prototype for diving. Commercial dive computers themselves have already been studied in terms of various parameters such as precision in measuring depth and their ergonomic performance[161], [211]. A review of modern dive computers and a comparison of 47 dive computer models as well as a comparison of the specifications was carried out before [159], [160]. By gathering the respective housing in combination with the maximum tested and the theoretically calculated depth in which a wearable device is functional, we were also able to show a first tendency in this area, which has not been shown before, as far as the authors know.

The present scoping review shows a first comprehensive insight into the various sub-aspects of developed prototypes of wearable devices for an underwater usage.

The possibilities and challenges of the respective technologies were considered and evaluated separately. In addition to the well-covered field of safety devices relating to the collection of vital signs from divers, other areas such as underwater communication between divers as well as topics such as human-computer interaction and specialized wearables for divers were also covered for the first time. Recent research has shown that the underwater communication has the most significant influence on future developments.

In contrast, human-computer interaction has so far received far too little consideration. This is particularly surprising because the conditions under water are different from those on the surface. A scientific summary and overview of the housings and seals used in devices for scientific purposes should be considered in a future and larger scale.

Currently, none of the individual wearable devices can lead the general development. The greatest future potential will result from a combination of all the aspects mentioned above with a special focus on safety and communication. A trend like mainstream wearables can thus be identified here as well, which focuses primarily on sensor design, communication protocols and data processing and analysis [196]. In this way, the underwater safety devices could communicate with other divers and stations in the IoUT and, if necessary, immediately carry out an action. This could e.g., significantly shorten and optimize a rescue chain in an emergency. By focusing research on wearable devices in underwater use and further developing them into a consumer product, such underwater networking could also be used for other sub-areas, besides safety measures or human physiology data collection[156]. Possible application scenarios would be the maintenance and repair of underwater structures such as bridges or drilling platforms, data collection and evaluation of animals using sensor material or a broad-based data collection on submarine environments using wearable devices underwater. In order to take a first

step in this direction of development, the key point for a smart wearable device was built and tested as a prototype in the following chapter: probably the first wearable diving computer with wireless data transmission. We also underline the relevance and necessity of this prototype through an extensive test with the help of test subjects in the water.

# 4 A NOVEL WEARABLE COMMUNICATION DEVICE FOR FREEDIVER

As already discussed briefly in the previous chapter, the focus of Capabilities, Features and Current development direction of wearable technology strive in four different categories. In this chapter we developed, implemented and tested this prototype relying on the communication aspect between different devices under water. The studies outline the importance of such a communication system which is why such a system for supporting this task will be proposed. The results of this chapter have been presented in the publication[193] and were extended with, until now, unpublished material from the prototype and the results.

## **4.1 INTRODUCTION**

Freediving is the most natural form of diving, limited only by the ability to hold your breath. A study by the Divers Alert Network from 2018 included 855 reported accidents that occurred while freediving. Of these, 78% were fatal[13]. The data collected are only a fraction of the accidents that occurred during this period, but clearly show the dangers and challenges during freediving. The term freediving can also vary greatly so that both top athletes and snorkelers appear in these statistics. A likely not insignificant part of the accidents probably occurred among non-certified freedivers. However, recreational freediving is the most popular and, in some aspects, the most dangerous kind of freediving[212]. While every recreational freediver holds the risk of an accident in their hands because of their own willingness to take risks, inexperienced partners or those diving at a different level of performance can represent an incalculable risk. Those who go diving alone are excluded, as they expose themselves to a completely different type of danger. However, the choice of a diving partner can be a problem if the diving partner is not aware of the significantly poorer performance. This can be dangerous, for both the diver and safety diver especially in lakes with poor visibility. If something unusual should happen to the diver that poses the risk of not getting to the surface in time, it is of little use to the diver to know that he is already in danger. On the contrary, triggered by this certainty, especially inexperienced freedivers can get hectic and panic, which has a negative effect on the oxygen demand and what amplifies the process of danger even further. In such a situation, this information can help the safety diver considerably more, as he can prepare, before he dives, for the challenge of rescuing the diver. Krack et al. made in 2006 the statement: "We want to know where a person is and how they are doing at any time during their dive"[213]. Even if this statement was not aimed at a technological solution, it can still be described exactly with these words. It is always particularly important to know where the freediving partner is underwater. In this paper, we propose a prototype that is capable of calculating, logging, displaying and communicating between several devices through acoustic data transfer. The contribution of this paper is threefold: An easy expandable and powerful processing dive computer with a near real-time communication underwater between several dive computers as well as the first scientific investigation in this direction. Results evaluated through the User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) of 14 healthy freedivers who tested the Wearable Apnea Dive Computer with Acoustic Communication (WADAC) in water showed, that this should be the next logical step in the further development of dive computers.

## **4.2 SAFETY AND EXPERIENCE NEEDS**

Technological progress has had a major impact on sports from the very beginning. Up to now this has been limited to a few areas. In diving, there is so far little to be seen of this multitude of possibilities. There is a simple cause. While most wearables, smart watches, smartphones, etc. are almost mainly faced with recurring challenges during development, equipment for underwater use must also be sealed watertight. And water tightness is a challenge for some sensors and actuators. In addition, conventional transmission technologies such as Bluetooth, WLAN, ZigBee, etc. do not work under water[19]. This makes it more difficult to exchange data in the local body area network as well as

between several divers. These data can make a significant contribution to improve safety and the perceived experience during the dive. It is precisely the safety of freediving that makes it necessary due to the enormous increase in freediving performance in recent years. The safety of every diver is always of the utmost importance. Attempts are currently being made to achieve this goal in various ways. Buoys are used with the use of a lanyard on the diver to be able to rescue them if necessary. In addition, there are various procedures and rules that are all discussed in advance of the dive. Further, due to the increasing importance of the Internet of Underwater Things (IouT), the development in the maritime sector is being strongly promoted in recent years[214], [215]. In this article we describe a prototype that takes a first step towards networked freedivers underwater, to enable them for better and more pleasant decisions and to increase the perception of the safety diver. While the prototype is in the early stages of development, the results which have been achieved make further research in the area promising and necessary.

## 4.3 RELEVANT TECHNOLOGY IN FREEDIVING

The physiological factors relating to the pulmonary, cardiovascular, neurological, and renal systems have so far been described in detail[150]–[152]. In contrast, very few efforts in the technological area for freedivers have been developed so far. Kuch et al. (2010) developed a wearable apnea dive computer that records and displays oxygen saturation and other parameters [171]. Kuch et al. (2012) also designed a wired GPS system for divers[181]. In 2013 Terry Maas developed a Freediver Recovery Vest (FRV) that activates at a pre-set depth or duration and that carries the diver to the surface using a vest that is filled with air [216]. In this way, if the diver experiences a blackout, the diver can be safely carried to the surface. The same principle of the life jacket is used by the SENS07VEST, which is supplemented by an app with which the vest can be configured in advance with a smartphone[217]. Wiehr et al. proposed an early prototype of a personal freediving safety wearable that can detect high risk of a blackout before resurfacing[185]. However, all these devices have the disadvantage that the diver itself must react or that the safety diver is uncertain about the condition of the diver. A correct reaction cannot be guaranteed, especially in problematic situations. To increase safety, it is advisable to transfer these relevant data to the diving partner or partners. In this way, namely while the diver is on the bottom or is on the way to the surface, the safety diver is given the opportunity to be prepared even before something happens. This enables the safety diver to submerge at an early stage, knowing that he must intervene to help.

## 4.4 WEARABLE APNEA DIVE COMPUTER WITH ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION

While self-contained underwater breathing apparatus (SCUBA) dive computers were often used in the early days of freediving, freediving computer have become increasingly independent over the last few years. Nevertheless, most of the SCUBA dive computers are equipped with an freedive mode, as this ultimately offers more functionality and can thus save costs for both the manufacturer and the user. This is one reason why manufacturers develop independent freediving computers only to a limited extent.

## 4.4.1 PROTOTYPE

In order not to make the prototype unnecessarily large, we designed a circuit board on which the individual components could be soldered. As can be seen in Figure 14. PCB Layout and Schematic, we developed the PCB elongated based on the schematic next to it. To produce the boards for testing we used the company JLCBCP. To minimize the effort involved in developing an individual housing for the various tests, we opted for an existing, round housing from Blue Robotics. In combination with the respective seals, cables and connectors, a clean solution for small tests could be developed, depending on the resources available, quickly, which as well offered a depth rating of 200 meters.



FIGURE 14. PCB LAYOUT AND SCHEMATIC

-**ŀ**₿

Furthermore, we developed the prototype, based on feedback from both world-class athletes and beginners. An iterative incremental approach was followed for the entire development process. During development, there was deliberately no focus on the external design so as not to influence the results of the test, and to test the usefulness of such a novel device. The cylindrical pressure-resistant body contains all relevant components of a conventional dive computer.



FIGURE 15. COMPONENTES OF THE WEARABLE FREEDIVE COMPUTER WITH ACOUSTIC COMMUNICATION

The constellation of the individual components can be seen in Figure 15. This includes the powerful Teensy 3.6 microcontroller with a clock frequency of 180Mhz and an integrated micro-SD card slot. The code for all components were written in C / C ++ and partly in Arduino C with Platform.io. The rudimentary data about a dive is provided by the precise pressure and temperature sensor MS5837-30BA from Texas Instruments. The sensor enables an application range from 0 bar to 30 bar with an accuracy of 0.2 cm in water. The energy consumption is given as only 0.6  $\mu$ A. Further, the WADAC is supplemented with a real-time clock (RTC) of type DS3231MZ + with its own power supply via the button cell CR1220. The RTC was used both to display the time for the diver and to log the data on the SD. The M64 modem from Waterlinked AS was implemented to obtain a cost-effective, compact module that meets the requirements for data transmission[218]. This enables us to transmit data at 64 bits / s, which currently transmits the depth, temperature and heartbeat in two digits. The last 8 bits are currently not used.





The duration of the dive is calculated on the other WADAC from the depth received. The modem M64 consumes an average of around 2.6Watt and was attached outside the watertight enclosure and connected to the inside by cable penetrators. The watertight enclosure is made of cast acrylic plastic with an inner diameter of 50mm and a length of 150mm with a depth rating of 250 m. Each side of the enclosure is sealed with a flange cap made of aluminium and two holes which house the connections to the outside. Communication with the microcontroller was implemented using the 3.3V UART. Since the voltage for the modem must be somewhere between 10V and 18V, a 3S lithium polymer accumulator (LiPo) with 1000 mAh was chosen as the energy source. This ensures continuous operation for about 3-4 hours. Since the microcontroller allows a maximum of 6v at the input, a Stepdown Tracopower tsr 1-2450 was switched between the LiPo and the Teensy. A digital current sense amplifier from TE the INA219 transmits permanently the power consumption from the modem and the other components via I2C to the microcontroller. This information is then shown to the user next to the date on the 1.8 " full 18-bit colour display with a resolution of 128x160. The whole program flow chart is shown in Figure 16. To demonstrate the capabilities of the WADAC, a heart rate receiver released by Polar was added, which records any signal at a frequency of 5.2Khz[219]. This is a commercially available and widely used uncoded chest strap sensor that is primarily used in the fitness

sector. The calculation of the current heart rate is added and averaged from the last 10 registered signals based on the time. The Polar T34 chest strap used for this allows a maximum water depth of 100m. An expansion or replacement of the system with the SPo2 measuring device developed by ONIN OEM III is also possible and has already provided acceptable results in another study[171].

#### 4.4.2 AIM AND APPROACH

The aim was to develop a dive computer that offers all the basic functions, is easily expandable and enables communication between several of the same type. The focus was on lakes with poor visibility of only a few meters as well as great diving depths in the sea as seen in Figure 17. In both situations, it can take a few seconds to several minutes before the safety diver knows about the condition of the freediver. In a threatening situation for the freediver, these periods of time can significantly reduce



FIGURE 17. LEFT: THE WADAC CONNECTED TO THE RIGHT ARM. RIGHT: A FREEDIVER WITH THE WADAC IN THE RIGHT HAND JUST BEFORE DIVING.

the reaction time of the safety diver, whereby accidents and their consequences can be minimized. A not insignificant question that arises is how a freediver reacts to such a technical development. Is the freediver more likely looking for inner peace combined with relaxation and does not want to be distracted by such a dive computer or would the freediver like to know where their diving partner is at any time. However, at any time it would be a very helpful benefit for the safety diver to know where the buddy is.

## 4.5 DIVE EXPERIMENT

The following chapter contains two different dive experiments which were observed during the same dives. One focuses on the user and the experience while the other focuses on the dive performance and connectivity of the dive computer itself.

## 4.5.1 SETUP

To find out the general product acceptance, the developed WADAC was made available for a full day during a freediving event in Ibbenbüren and another day in the Aggertalsperre then evaluated using the UEQ [17]. 14 people were enrolled for this study which were all healthy freedivers (12 men, 2 women) with an average age of around 50 (M = 53.5, standard deviation [SD] = 11.38), between 29 and 65 years old. Dive Experiment with Packets send and lost. To assess the experience of the

freedivers as best as possible, the number of dives deeper than 20m were used as an indicator, in which the average was 350 dives (M = 200, SD = 333) ranging between less than 100 and more than 1000 dives. The Personal Best (PB) in deep diving with an average of around 34m (M = 33, SD = 9.2). Informed written consent was obtained from each participant as well as subject information about possible risks and challenges. The tests took place in the Aggertalsperre (Fig. 3) and during a freediving event in Ibbenbüren where all necessary safety regulations were met as well as a medical statement about the fitness to dive and a brevet from any of the recognized diving organizations. During the event, each individual participant could choose whether he wanted to participate in the survey. During the dives, the WADAC was either attached to the arm like a wearable or held in the hand. Each of the participants could choose the duration and number of dives. Dives into caves, wrecks and other underwater facilities were carried out at will, where there was most of the time no visual contact between the participants. Thanks to the use of an independent safety diver, it was still possible to secure protection for those who were diving at any time. Once a freediver finished testing, he gave the WADAC to the next participant, went ashore, and filled out the questionnaire which can be seen in the appendix. A briefly interview about improvements, wishes and suggestions in relation to the WADAC was carried out.

The data obtained during the dives were stored on a built-in SD card in the WADAC and later analysed.

#### 4.5.2 USER EXPERIENCE QUESTIONNAIRE - DIVE RESULT

The data set with which we compared the WADAC consists of 20.190 data sets collected through 452 studies. The values of the UEQ are divided into the six categories attractiveness, perspicuity, efficiency, dependability, stimulation and novelty. The attractiveness determines the overall impression of the product, whether users like this product or not. The measured value of attractiveness showed in the benchmark that only 10% of the results are better, which means that the achieved values were above average (see Figure 18). Perspicuity tries to answer the question of how easy or difficult it is to operate and empathize with the product. The values identified for perspicuity are the worst of all six in this category. Nevertheless, the WADAC achieves better results than 50% or is worse than 25% of the entire data set compared with. Especially in freediving, a technical device should solve the assigned tasks quickly and easily for the user without great effort. Here, the efficiency is particularly important to what extent the user can complete the task quickly and without unnecessary effort.



FIGURE 18. THE MEASUREMENT RESULTS COMPARED TO THE BENCHMARK

In comparison, this value showed that only 10% of the data sets performed better. However, the Cronbach's  $\alpha$  value for the efficiency only shows 0.34, which is why the informative value gained in the questionnaire is questionable (see Table 9). The three other scales, dependability, stimulation and novelty, achieved all excellent values and are all in the top 10%. The dependability tries to make a statement about whether the user controls the product and whether it is secure and predictable. The stimulation, on the other hand, determines the fun and pleasure in interacting with and using the product. Particular attention should be paid to this point, especially regarding recreational freedivers. The last point determines the novelty of a product with what is known so far. As there is currently no freediving computer with a function like this, the novelty is, as expected, very high. The amazing thing is that it is just a first prototype, with no emphasis on design, functionality or usability. And yet high to very high values were achieved in comparison. Our assumption is that the functionality of wireless communication underwater and its possibilities in freediving overshadows all other points.

Scale	Mean	Std. Dev.	Cronbach`s α
Attractiveness	1.595	1.029	0.94
Perspicuity	1.607	0.836	0.71
Efficiency	1.571	0.682	0.34
Dependability	1.732	0.857	0.72
Stimulation	1.732	0.840	0.83
Novelty	2.000	0.797	0.83

TABLE 9. UNITS UEQ RESULTS MEAN, STANDARD DEVIATION AND CRONBACH'S A.

This assumption is reinforced by the fact that the participants repeatedly mentioned the advantages of a no longer existing line of sight and that these are enormous. In addition, the WADAC is particularly

suitable for the safety diver, who receives good support in securing the diver. From the diving point of view, the WADAC was received with mixed feelings.

## 4.5.3 TECHNICAL ANALYSIS - DIVE RESULT

In addition to displaying the various parameters, the data was also logged on an SD card in the dive computer. Internally, the current values were saved every second by means of an interrupt. Below we will take a closer look at a package excerpt and go into the individual values. The data was saved line by line in a file every second. The file names used were searched after each start of the WADAC according to the principle BD\_01.TXT, BD\_02.TXT... BD\_N.TXT and saved as BD\_N+1.TXT. As a result, after each session, the divers could be clearly assigned according to the respective data set. The size of a data record of 1 second is approximately 80 bytes on average. With a continuous operation of 1 hour (60 minutes \* 60 seconds) that is 288 Kbytes of data. As seen in Figure 19, the data has been delimited for easier processing.

2020.9.26;10:31:19,138521 14,17.90,119.25, 999.00 0 wrd,y,42,4,8.0*7b,4,17,	84
2020.9.26;10:31:20,139658 14,17.89,119.25, 999.00 0 wrd,y,43,4,3.6*5a,4,17,	83
2020.9.26;10:31:21,140764 -0.12,17.90,102.43,1001.00 0 wrd,y,43,4,5.4*29,4,17,	83
2020.9.26;10:31:22,141767 -0.09,17.90,77.25, 1004.00 0 wrd,y,43,5,5.4*4b,4,17,	83
2020.9.26;10:31:23,142771 -0.05,17.90,43.78, 1008.00 0 wrd,y,44,5,11.8*4f,4,17,	86
2020.9.26;10:31:24,143888 -0.09,17.91,77.25, 1004.00 0 wrd,y,45,5,20.8*0d,4,17,	68
2020.9.26;10:31:25,144901 -0.13,17.90,110.84,1000.00 0 wrd,y,46,5,18.6*79,4,17,	60
2020.9.26;10:31:26,145904 -0.11,17.89,94.03, 1002.00 0 wrd,y,46,5,14.8*a9,4,17,	60
2020.9.26;10:31:27,147024 -0.14,17.91,119.25, 999.00 0 wrd,y,47,5,19.4*0f,4,17,	0

FIGURE 19. WADAC LOGGED EXAMPLE (FORMATTED)

The first characters represent the date and time generated by the built-in clock. The data set shown here were produced on September 26, 2020, at the time 10:31 from second 19 to second 27. The number behind it is extrapolated internally in the WADAC. This always starts at the beginning with 0 milliseconds and permanently adds the time that has already elapsed. In the example, between 138 seconds and 147 seconds have elapsed. The next value is the depth of the current WADACS in meters. Due to the use on the water surface, these values are often negative at less than 1 meter. The next value in the respective line beginning with 17 reflects the current water temperature. The following value shows the altitude above normal 0 in meters. However, this is not calibrated and therefore fluctuates. The values in the next column represent the ambient pressure in Mbar. Since this WADAC is not currently diving, approx. 1 bar is constantly displayed here. The value |0| only serves as a checksum for internal operations. The values that follow represent the data received via the modem. The abbreviation "wrd" in combination with the y indicates that this is a valid connection and that the other WADAC has been found and connected. The following values are for internal purposes and are processed further until the final checksum in the 9\*3b format. Finally, the data from the other WADAC is given, separated by a comma, in the form of water depth in meters, water temperature in degrees Celsius and heartbeat in beats per minute.

During the tests carried out in the water, the data was continuously saved in parallel. The data obtained in this way was then formatted with a spreadsheet program and filtered according to the parameters mentioned above. Values less than 1 meter were shown as 0 meters and straightened out. Values greater than 1 were not further modified because the sensor works very precisely in this range<sup>12</sup>.

Figure 21 shows the depth in relation to the accumulated number of lost packets during several dives. The dives are shown in grey with a maximum depth of around 30 meters. After several dives we reset the dive computer to start a new logging interval which led to the abrupt change to zero in the orange accumulated line. It is interesting to observe that during the regular descent to the maximum depth, almost no packet losses occurred. Only at the so-called "turn" of the free diver did the number of lost

<sup>12</sup> https://www.te.com/deu-de/product-CAT-BLPS0017.datasheet.pdf

packages increase rapidly within this short time. This can be seen particularly well in the dive on the first dive or the dive at second 1429. There are 2 possible explanations for this. One possibility can be characterized by a more active phase of diving and thus significantly more movement. The free diver only has to move to a limited extent when descending, while he has to work actively when surfacing and is therefore in motion. On the other hand, most have held the WADAC either on their wrist or in their hand. Due to the natural, relaxed posture when diving, the fins are used to descend and emerge, while the arms are close to the body. By diving headfirst, the dive computer is in a direct "line of sight" to the other dive computer on the water surface. This is how most of the signals arrive. As soon as the diver makes the turn below, the dive computer is on the "shadow side" of the body and no longer allows direct visual contact with the counterpart on the water surface. On closer inspection, it also becomes clear that the deep dives in particular have an above-average number of errors. This can either be due to the increasing depth and thus generally poorer reception, or it can be due to the fact that the greater depth means that freedivers have to work against a significantly stronger downforce, which causes greater movement and more noise. We compared the same time window of the dives with the data of the safety diver. It is easy to see over time that the runtime between the individual WADACs does not deviate significantly. Otherwise, the free diver's data would be different in blue from the backup diver's data in orange. The depth at which the safety diver picks up the diver and accompanies him to the surface is clearly visible. However, it is worth mentioning that due to the rounding of the safety diver's dive data to full digits, the depth can either be below or above it.



FIGURE 20. WADAC PACKETLOSS COMPARED TO DEPTH



FIGURE 21. WADAC DEPTH OF THE DIVER AND SAFETY DIVER
### 4.6 SUMMARY

This chapter presented the work done on a prototype of diving computer (WADAC), which was built mainly in order to test underwater wireless communications.

The primary goal of the WADAC is to support the safety diver in safeguarding the actual diver by providing permanent monitoring without visual contact. Under certain conditions, the WADAC creates enormous advantages. However, the safety diver must still be able to assess the situation based on the transmitted values. In addition, when there are many obstacles between diver and safety, the WADAC has a limited connection quality. The connection was interrupted more often in winding caves. In the shipwreck, on the other hand, permanent data transmission could be guaranteed. A major disadvantage of the WADAC is its clearly too small and low-contrast display, which almost every subject noted. Most of the subjects, however, wear glasses and go diving without glasses, yet the brightness was not set to the maximum brightness at the beginning, as this in turn is dazzling. By installing an ambient light sensor, the brightness could be adjusted automatically. The heart rate sensor posed a further challenge. It only delivers a high level when a heartbeat is detected. This revealed that this system was not reliable enough, as signals from the chest strap could get lost or other chest straps caught them incorrectly. The size of the WADAC was also found sometimes bulky on the wrist, but this is due to the early prototype.

The WADAC has room for improvement in many areas. In the event of further development, the form factor can be reduced, the design developed, and power consumption optimized. In addition, the cost of manufacturing a WADAC is around 2000€. By changing to another, more compact and cheaper modem, the WADAC can also be implemented at significantly lower costs[220]. In relation to developments in recent years, there will be many possibilities in this regard. Another challenge is louT for freedivers. Through integration, relatives, coast guards and other authorized persons could intervene at any time in the event of danger. That could enormously shorten the time span of a rescue chain. By linking a life jacket for divers to the WADAC, the safety diver can deploy the jacket externally and without exposing himself to any danger. This is especially important when the weight difference between safety and diver is huge, but also when unforeseen safety events such as cramps, pressure equalization problems, etc. occur. Thanks to the modular system of the WADAC, any components can be added or removed at any time, which is an ideal basis for further scientific investigations. In addition, the collected data can be used to identify different situations with the help of machine learning. Consistent further development towards a user interface is also useful.

We will go into some of these challenges in more detail in the following chapter and present a prototype that has a modular structure. Special emphasis was placed on optimizing the size of the device, but also on making it accessible for others to recreate and expand this prototype.

## 5 LOW-COST WEARABLE DIVE COMPUTER

Due to the enormous spread and acceptance of wearables, it has become easier in recent years to collect physical data and use it to improve the living conditions of the wearer. On the other hand, there is the underwater world, in which technological development could not progress so quickly; mainly because the sealing of the device and the interaction with it pose different and novel problems compared to more widespread wearables. To close this gap, a low-cost dive computer with a customizable set of sensors which is suitable for large-scale data collection for divers is presented in this contribution. This prototype makes use of existing electronic components such as sensors or modules aimed to develop a fully functional and low-cost portable system. In addition, the portable system is also able to store the data of all users bundled on a server for further research. These results cover two primary goals: (1) to provide an easily reproducible portable system at low cost, and (2) to collect data in an easily adaptable platform and its subsequent easy accessibility. Finally, the prototype was built based on the instructions and tested under real conditions.

## **5.1 HARDWARE IN CONTEXT**

Over the past few years, wearables have been widely adopted and become a worthwhile tool for many people in their daily lives, especially those aimed to the collection of health-related data from the user. Consequently, wearables have already been scientifically examined in detail in many areas in recent times. This resulted in many solutions that can be used for scientific tests and data collection[119], [193], [221]-[224]. Beside this, wearables have been actively used in a wide variety of areas for personal or scientific data collection in the wild for several years[225]-[227]. As a result, interest in using wearables for scientific surveys and evaluation toward a scientific purpose has also increased in many areas within the last decade, especially for the monitoring of fitness and health-related metrics, where this data can be viewed by the users and analysed either with or without supporting applications[119], [224]. In cases where there was no commercially viable solution, an in-house development has been used. With the consent of the test subjects, the data obtained in this way were able to drive scientific developments in several cases [174], [228]. However, so far, only one suitable study for wearables has been offered for a general large-scale study in freediving underwater[119]. Only studies that had already been carried out with special hardware were used in some cases in order to be able to carry out further investigations by improving the previously developed devices [172], [229]. At the same time, the commercially available dive computers are only very limited for collecting scientific data, due to the lack of open interfaces, proprietary sensors, data formats, or they are simply too expensive for large studies. The iX3M from Ratio Computers as well as the Garmin Descent Mk2 dive computers cost around €1000 while the Aqualung i770R, Suunto EON Core and Mares Genius are all over €600 per unit [230]–[233].

This is largely because the dive computers available are tailored to the consumer and less to scientific studies. Furthermore, the data collection and evaluation among the models are not automatically comparable, because often the integrated sensors or approaches to collect data work differently in each dive computer.

Although divers are generally at higher risk than non-divers, far fewer studies have been conducted in this area, compared to those considering the general population[13]. The underwater environment is, for humans, unnatural and dangerous, which makes it particularly necessary to survey physiological factors. Due to the significantly smaller number of people who are divers, as well as the higher demands on wearable devices in terms of water resistance and water pressure, the development of underwater wearables has been challenging, mainly due to the lower commercial potential of this effort. As a result of the increased pressure under water, many sensors and actuators must be treated differently than they are on land. To allow further investigations in this area a customizable wearable that can withstand the special conditions under water is needed. Furthermore, the wearable should

be easily adaptable and expandable to be able to correspondently adapt to the rapidly growing technological development, while a further advantage of this dive computer would be that the use of the same sensor models allows for a more consistent data collection.

Therefore, the aim of this project is to offer a waterproof dive computer that is easy to build, easy to expand, inexpensive and suitable for collecting large amounts of data. To ensure the best possible support and reproducibility also in future projects, it was decided to use the popular open-source solution Arduino [234]. The Arduino Platform combines the advantages of hardware and software that is useful for both beginners and professional prototyping. The reusability and further development are supported precisely by the use of widespread components and publicly available code. Ongoing development and research have made it possible to propose initial prototypes, concepts, and ideas in the field of diving physiology, while wearable sensors have also been extensively investigated recently [156], [157]. Unfortunately, only a few of those projects with Arduino compatible components are suitable for underwater use and therefore do not allow them to be easily adapted and extended[193], [194].

These results in two primary demands on the device presented in this contribution. Through the integration and detailed description of many components in the system, we enable a wide range of scientists to collect data in the context of diving or, in this case, freediving, without major hurdles. The other aspect results from the inexpensive construction, so that even in a large-scale data collection, the cost of the dive computer is contained. The consistent use of off-the-shelf products further enhances reproducibility and adaptability, whereby the dive computer can be easily and uncomplicatedly adapted to conditions of a given study.

## 5.2 HARDWARE DESCRIPTION

The dive computer consists of the primary component microcontroller, display, SD card, temperature and pressure sensor, Real Time Clock (RTC) and battery. These are sufficient for use as a classic dive computer and allow normal operation. To demonstrate the capabilities and customizability of the dive computer, an Inertial Measurement Unit (IMU) with 9 Degrees of Freedom (DoF) was also installed. This sensor can be replaced by any sensor that is better suited to the respective study and used instead. To seal the dive computer against environmental influences, especially water, the entire device was cast in epoxy[207], [209], [210]. To still allow communication with the prototype, two touch pins of the ESP32 with the contact surface were led outwards. A QI wireless charger is installed to charge the system without physical connection. New updates for improvements or bug fixes can be applied over the air in the settings via the Arduino OTA Library. A magnetic USB plug was also tested as an alternative to wireless charging. This method is recommended for easier handling, especially during software development. The dive computer can be loaded via the connection and updated with new software if the OTA update does not work. The blocking diode protects the USB port against short circuits and thus conductive water. As a result, researchers without a deeper technical understanding should achieve results with manageable effort in the future. The already justified desired characteristics result in various requirements for the dive computer:

- Built from cheap and widely used components (breakout boards)
- Development of an adaptable prototype to the respective needs
- Freely usable and customizable software
- Beginner-friendly operation of the dive computer
- Robust, waterproof, reusable dive computer

To drastically simplify data collection, an app for android smartphones was also developed. It provides the user with a straightforward digital tool to processes the data collected by the dive computer, enrich it with study-specific information and forward it to a server for central analysis.

The microcontroller forms the core of the dive computer. There are several requirements that the microcontroller must meet: It must be able to exchange information via WLAN, it must have high performance, a small form factor, the hardware must be freely available and already be equipped with various configuration options for batteries. It is responsible for saving the individual data from the sensors on the SD card, presenting them appropriately to the user on the display and establishing connections to other devices via WLAN. In addition, the module must have a small form factor and at the same time be easy to use to be optimally integrated into a diving computer. Most of the above parameters can be reached by different microcontrollers. To facilitate reproducibility for other studies, the cheapest module was deliberately not sought, but instead a compromise between price and documentation of the components was taken into consideration. Especially in commercial solutions, Adafruit stands out as the best provider of the requirements. Among the products offered, the HUZZAH32 with an ESP32 were considered as the most suitable given the initial requirements[235]. This offers high performance with a small form factor, a battery connection with charging option and the possibility of mounting a display directly on it. Further advantages such as a USB connection for debugging and the simple possibility of testing other components have become a matter of course in this environment.



FIGURE 22. LEFT: THE DIVE COMPUTER CHARGING WIRELESS WITHOUT HOUSING. RIGHT: DIVE COMPUTERS SETTINGS SCREEN

The availability of so-called touch pins also enables direct input by simply touching them, making additional components superfluous. With a built-in voltage divider, the remaining voltage of the battery can easily be read out by doubling the voltage on a permanently assigned pin, which allows an approximate state of charge to be calculated. To be usable for different types of studies, it was decided to use a large display for the data presentation and hardware interaction. At the same time, as with the microcontroller, the compatibility and documentation should be in good condition. Since the TFT FeatherWing - 2.4; 320x240 with micro-SD and touch were developed directly for the above microcontroller, there is optimal compatibility with minimal effort. With the integrated micro-SD card slot, another source of error is minimized by design. The pressure sensor MS5837-30BA from TE Connectivity is at the same time the most difficult and most important sensor on the whole dive computer. Without this, the pressure, depth or temperature of the surrounding environment cannot be determined. The most difficult part is mounting the sensor on the dive computer, as it is an SMD (surface mounted device). For the tested prototypes, this sensor was soldered to 4 header pins with a soldering iron and then attached with a hot glue gun under the display in such a way that it sticks out

with the head after the epoxy has been poured. The header pins can be connected directly to the header pins of the HUZZAH32 using short cables, as this sensor requires the 3.3V, which the Huzzah offers. The two communication cables SDA (Serial Data) and SCL (Serial Clock) can also be connected to the corresponding connectors without PULL-UP resistors, as the IMU have these already installed on the board.

To record the movement of the user in the best possible way, a 9-axis IMU (Inertial Measurement Unit), the TDK InvenSense ICM-20948, was also installed[236]. This IMU can record 3-axis accelerometer and 3-axis magnetometer, supplemented by a 3-axis gyroscope. However, in this Design the IMU is optional and can be omitted if desired. However, the pressure sensor must then be connected to 3V with 2 4.7KOhm resistors. The complete connection and wiring are shown in Figure 23.

To ensure a long enough operation of the dive computer, a significantly oversized Lithium Polymer 3.7V battery with 2500 mAh has been installed (Figure 22). However, since this battery has the same dimensions as the display, the size is not so important at a first glance.

We used a special USB adapter with magnetic contacts to increase the availability and reliability of the dive computer during underwater activities. The inbuild protection diode allows a short-circuit prevention and gives an easy access to all the data needed on the SD card.



FIGURE 23. COMPONENTS OF THE DIVE COMPUTER

Since the development of a waterproof housing with various connections (e.g., interaction, charging the battery or the pressure sensor) requires considerable cost and development effort, it was decided to cast the complete dive computer in epoxy resin. This eliminates the greatest challenge to an enclosure, namely water pressure. This triggered, however, other problems that had to be resolved.



FIGURE 24. EPOXY HOUSING

Therefore, a solution had to be found for the buttons and their operation by the user. In the end, the existing touch pins of the ESP32 were used for this, which deliver a changed signal when touched by a person. However, since these touch sensors also trigger when they encounter water, a submersion in water could lead to incorrect user entries. To prevent incorrect entries on the touch sensors under water, they are blocked when they encounter water by using appropriate threshold values. Interaction under water is possible, but not yet fully developed at the current stage of development.

The touch pins are brought out with short cables or metal rods in such a way that they lie directly on the mold when the epoxy is poured. After the epoxy has cured, the entire dive computer can be polished to fuse both the aesthetics and the buttons in one plane with the epoxy. For this purpose, the pressure and temperature sensor are also pressed against the casting mold so that they lie outside the hardened epoxy. The 3D printed housing (Figure 24) is needed as an extension to cast the device in its final form.

## **5.3 DESIGN FILES SUMMARY**

In order to be able to build the prototype as described in this chapter, other materials and components are required in addition to the hardware components. Beside the exact connection of the individual hardware components shown in the schematic, the housing or the corresponding file for the 3D printer is also required. To upload the software to the dive computer, the Arduino IDE or Visual Studio Code with the platform.io plugin is required. The app can be installed directly as AKP on an Android smartphone (Table 10).

Design file name	File type	Open-source license	Location of the file
Schematic	figure	GNU	https://doi.org/10.17605
Android mobile	.apk file	General	/OSF.IO/PGU6T
application – Source		Public	
Code		License (GPL)	
Dive computer	Folder	3.0	
source code			
3D printed housing	.stl file		

TABLE 10. DESIGN FILE SUMMARY

Schematic: The electronic schematic of the device with all the necessary components and their connections. Android mobile application: The ready-to-install Android application file containing the application partially shown in Figure 25. The data of the dive computer can also be exchanged and displayed via this app. Over the air updates for the dive computer are also possible, but only recommended for advanced users.



FIGURE 25. SCREENSHOTS OF THE FREEDIVER APP: (A): HOME SCREEN; (B): SIDEBAR SCREEN; (C): ACCOUNT INFORMATION SCREEN.

## 5.4 BILL OF MATERIALS SUMMARY

In order to be able to build the prototype in the form described, various components are required, which are listed in detail in the Table 11.

Designator	Component	Numb	Cost per unit -	Total cost -	Source of
		er	currency	currency	materials
Adafruit HUZZAH32 – ESP32	Microcontroll er	1	21€[237]	21€[237]	EXP GmbH
TFT FeatherWing - 2.4" 320x240	Display	1	28,30€[238]	28,30€[238]	EXP GmbH
Micro SD card 8GB	Storage	1	3,99€	3,99€	Amazon
MS5837-30BA	Depth, Pressure and Temperature Sensor	1	7€[239]	7€[239]	Mouser electronics
Adafruit TDK InvenSense ICM- 20948	9-DoF Inertial Measurement Unit (IMU)	1	17,39€[240]	17,39€[240]	Eckstein Komponenten
Lithium-Ion polymer battery 3.7V 2000mAh	Battery	1	8,05€[241]	8,05€[241]	Eckstein Komponenten
Reed Contact N/O N/C SPDT (2,5 mm × 14mm)	On / Off Switch	1	1€	1€	Amazon
Epoxy Resin	Pouring Material	1kg	15,99€	1,19€	Epodex.com
3D printed House	Polyethylene	9,65gr	39,96€/kg	0,38€	3D Jake

 TABLE 11. BILL OF MATERIALS

The corresponding sources for procurement are listed in the table. No intensive optimization of procurement was undertaken here, as the specific components may vary depending on the project.

## **5.5 BUILD INSTRUCTIONS**

Former, as a first step, the 3D housing should be printed. The following steps need to be performed during printing.

To later switch the dive computer on and off, first the reed contact is soldered to the pins under the micro-SD card slot (on/off switch). This should be placed in such a way that the switch is as close as possible to the edge of the housing.

Regarding the assembling operation, it is possible to take two forms: by plugging or soldering the connections where necessary as shown below. When assembling, it is important to note that each of the pins on the Huzzah32 is accommodated in the mounts on the display and that no pin on the Huzzah32 is without connection to the display. Insert the Micro SD card and glue the Adafruit 9 DoF sensor onto the yellow display cable as shown in Figure 5. The pressure and temperature sensor will then be soldered to the 9-DoF Sensor and plugged into the board. The connection to the display doesn't need to be soldered as there are spring contacts installed.



FIGURE 26. HUZZAH32 MOUNTED ON FEATHERWING AND SUPPLEMENTED WITH THE 9 DOF AND MS5837 SENSOR

The connection shown on the right in Figure 26 is the simplest of the possible wiring options. The pins were chosen correctly here, but the schematic should always be carefully observed when replicating the dive computer.

At this point, it makes sense to upload the code in advance and test all sensors to minimize later effort. Once done, the pressure and temperature Sensor MS5837 should be glued to the exact position to later align with the housing for casting.

As soon as this is done, the battery can be plugged in and glued to the board.

After the 3D printing is complete, the dive computer is embedded in the housing and the magnetic USB connection is attached from the outside. To prevent the casting resin from leaking out, the openings in the housing should be sealed watertight. Alternatively, a viscous resin can also be used. Finally, it needs to be poured. Later in the stage the 3D printed housing can either be removed and the epoxy be beautified by falling and grinding or the housing could stay in place.

## 5.6 VALIDATION AND CHARACTERIZATION

After completion of the assembly of the described prototype, the dive computer was tested by one person in 15 dives to a maximum depth of 7 meters in freediving. There were no problems with recording or water resistance of the complete prototype. The depth and pressure sensor worked very precisely as stated in the data sheet. This data was then visually processed in Excel and presented graphically as seen in the example Figure 27 as collected by the prototype and uploaded to the storage server. For better readability, individual time segments of the surface intervals were cut out of the data set. Since the sensor shows negative values at rest on the water surface, these have all been replaced by 0 meters for better readability.



FIGURE 27. DATA COLLECTION DIVE COMPUTER

To determine the usability for future large-scale studies, the transmission rate was tested with the default configuration of the WIFI chip from the ESP microcontroller. For the test scenario representative data files ranging from 100 kB to 100000 kB in size were created. To measure the time needed to transmit the distinct data files, the app was temporarily modified by using the Stopwatch class from the .NET framework[34]. 100 iterations for each data package were made to ensure the validity of the test results. From that the average time was calculated and then used to determine the transmission rate.

Data size	Transmission time	Transmission rate	
100 kB	1476 ms	~67.75 kB/s	
1000 kB	5873 ms	~170.27 kB/s	
10000 kB	53034 ms	~188.56 kB/s	
100000 kB	499141 ms	~200.34 kB/s	

TABLE 12. COMPARISON BETWEEN DATA SIZE EACH PACKAGE AND TRANSMISSION VALUES

As can be seen in Table 12, good to very good transfer rates were achieved between the dive computer and the smartphone in the tests. Even if several dive computers transmit data at the same time, e.g., after tests with several testers in the water, the speed can be considered good and should also be manageable with several 100 subjects.

## 5.7 SUMMARY

We were able to achieve the goal of an easy-to-build, waterproof and inexpensive dive computer. The expandability has also been demonstrated by installing the 9 DoF sensor. Through the development and implementation of an inexpensive and significantly more comprehensive dive computer than already available commercial models, we enable to carry out significantly larger and target group-oriented studies in the future with over 1000 volunteers participating. By implementing various concepts, we were able to pave the way to collect significantly more parameters and values than other already available dive computers can achieve and that at relatively low cost. Due to the possibility of mixing and selecting different sensors and modules as needed for the specific research, the values and parameters can be collected the exact needed way. The first real-world results showed the feasibility of the proposed diving computer for developing a low-cost, durable and easy-to-replicate dive

computer. By providing all components and the code, the project can also develop into a community project among the divers with increasing acceptance and willingness, thus paving the way for further projects overall. An open-source development can also help in medical matters related to diving or in the much larger field of application of IoUT (Internet of underwater Things), which has grown significantly in recent years[35]. By implementing a cheap modem, the dive computer can function as an independent underwater station reporting data to a near shore or other station[193], [195]. To strive further in this direction we reduced the price, reproducibility and adaptability which are the most important aspects to allow further big data research in this area[155].

Various goals for the further development of the prototype can be derived from this:

- Fixed implementation of the position sensor (9-DoF) in the dive computer and its display
- Modularization of the dive computer by offering modules that can be easily switched on and off.
- Study-specific kits that adapt to the desired study design through questionnaires or assessments of individual aspects.
- independently running station that can remain autonomously in one place in the water for a long period of time to gather data.
- Offering a ready-to-use acoustic module for this dive computer.
- Building a platform for scientists who can use the dive computer for studies without additional effort.

In general, the presented and implemented interaction is perfect for data collection such as vital signs, simple communication between divers underwater or to adapt the prototype to the individual specific needs, since a broad basis of data can be collected. Furthermore, we were able to show the feasibility and usefulness of a cheap and versatile dive computer. The next steps require that this prototype also works without prior instruction and error-free even for non-experienced people.

## **6 GENERAL CONCLUSION**

In this last chapter will summarize the key contributions presented in this work. We will also discuss new opportunities and challenges for future work that result from this work but which go beyond the scope of this thesis. Finally, we will close this thesis with final remarks.

### **6.1 MAJOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The work presented in this thesis has focused on understanding the principles of wearable devices in freediving and extend the current state-of-the art by proposing a novel communication wearable for freedivers. Successfully understanding the usage of wearable technology for freediver is challenging as this is a relatively new and underexplored area of research, especially on the technological side.

In the first part (Chapter 3 Wearables in Diving: A Scoping Review) we investigated how and in which direction wearables for freedivers were used and in which direction they are currently further developing. In the second part (Chapter 4 A Novel Wearable Communication Device for Freediver), we presented, based on the previous result, a novel wearable freedive computer with acoustic communication which helps diver to improve their dive and safety.

Chapter 5 also addresses the second part, but with a different focus and a different prototype e.g. approach. Trough the very manageable amount of scientific research in this area outlined in Chapter 3, we were able to quickly conclude, that another wearable dive computer is needed that can be easily adapted and with manageable costs build for further data collection which then allows an easier access to this area.

The contributions of this work were made by applying the methods of research through different databases and other methods e.g. collecting data in the wild which are sufficient to the field of freediving. Further, we developed and studied different prototypes contribute to address some of the detected shortcomings of current state-of-the-art technology as well as literature. The work presented in this thesis has made contributions to the two fields of understanding (U) and supporting (S) wearable technology for freedivers:

### (U1) A large-scale study on wearable technologies in diving.

A total of 2320 scientific articles were identified by the search following the PRISMA-ScR which were than filtered, subsequently checked and which than underwent a further full-text analysis if necessary. Furthermore, each included article or original paper were screened for any potentially missed papers. Of this large-scale study only 36 studies retained in the review. To be considered as a wearable device, the following criteria had to be met: It needed to be a prototype or device that was described and tested in water, could be worn and interacted with (e.g., display, buttons, etc.) and were fully functional without external equipment. Wearables that could not function independently as a research object were excluded, since they are not wearable devices.

# (U2) A first insight into the possibilities and challenges of wearable technologies for underwater usage.

Through the review conducted in Chapter 3, we were able to provide a first insight into the opportunities and challenges of the technologies used in and for wearable devices intended for use in the underwater environment. Among these, underwater communication technologies have had the most significant influence on future developments. Moreover, further topic that has not received enough attention but should be further addressed were the human-computer interaction. By this first review we could establish a good and powerful basis for the further development and orientation of current underwater wearables within the field, especially the possibilities and challenges for underwater

communication which were identified as the core part of wearable technologies for underwater usage.

#### (U3) A comprehensive map of wearable devices and their capabilities and features.

The possibilities and challenges of the respective technologies were considered and evaluated separately. In addition to the well-covered field of safety devices relating to the collection of vital signs from divers, other areas such as underwater communication between divers as well as topics such as human-computer interaction and specialized wearables for divers were also covered for the first time. Recent research has shown that the underwater communication has the most significant influence on future developments. In contrast, human-computer interaction has so far received far too little consideration. This is particularly surprising because the conditions under water are different from those on the surface. A scientific summary and overview of the housings and seals used in devices for scientific purposes offered first insights into this until now completely uncovered topic.

### (S1) A System to support freediver and their safety during diving.

By implementing and testing a novel wearable device with communication capability, we were able to carry out various tests. This showed that during a normal dive, observation of the diver could take place at almost any time. Krack et al. made in 2006 the statement: "We want to know where a person is and how they are doing at any time during their dive"[213]. Even if this statement was not aimed at a technological solution, it can still be described exactly with these words. It is always particularly important to know where the freediving partner is underwater. We proposed a prototype that is capable of calculating, logging, displaying and communicating between several devices through acoustic data transfer which increase the safety tremendously during diving, as the timespan from an accident to an appropriate reaction is much shorter.

#### (S2) A study on the impact of a communication device for freediver.

Through the standardized UEQ survey several facets including impact, novelty and other aspects could be identified. The last point in the survey determines the novelty of a product compared to what is known so far. As there is currently no freediving computer with a function like this, the novelty is, as expected, very high. The amazing thing is that it is just a first prototype, with no emphasis on design, functionality or usability it still achieved high to very high values in comparison. Our assumption is that the functionality of wireless communication underwater and its possibilities in freediving overshadows all other points. This assumption is reinforced by the fact that the participants repeatedly mentioned the advantages of a no longer existing line of sight and that these are enormous. In addition, the WADAC is particularly suitable for the safety diver, who receives good support in securing the diver.

# (S3) An easily adaptable System to allow large-scale and low-cost data collection in real world scenarios.

Through the prototype presented in Chapter 5 we were able to achieve the goal of an easyto-build, waterproof and inexpensive dive computer. The expandability has also been demonstrated by installing the 9 DoF sensor. Through the development and implementation of an inexpensive and significantly more comprehensive dive computer than already available commercial models, we enable to carry out significantly larger and target grouporiented studies in the future. By providing all components and the code, the project can also develop into a community project among the divers with increasing acceptance and willingness, thus paving the way for further projects overall. In general, the presented and implemented wearable dive computer interaction is perfect for data collection such as vital signs, simple communication between divers underwater or to adapt the prototype to the individual specific needs, since a broad basis of data can be collected. Furthermore, we were able to show the feasibility and usefulness of a cheap and versatile dive computer.

In addition to these contributions, which can be used individually to inform the understanding of wearable devices for freediver and to improve future designs of such systems, we also contribute the essential technical systems implemented during the course of the thesis as open source<sup>13</sup> as well as the materials used to build them<sup>14</sup>. This contribution will allow other researchers on the one hand to produce their own results, draw their own conclusions and gain new understanding based on our data, and on the other hand to build their own systems based on the approaches that we have developed and provided in this work.

The contributions achieved in this thesis have been published and presented in two scientific journals included among the highest ranked journals (Q1) indexed in the Journal Citation Reports (JCI) to underline the impact[119], [193]. The third paper is currently under review in an (Q2) ranked journal.

## 6.2 FUTURE WORK

The findings we provided in this thesis leaves different opportunities and challenges unanswered, due to the time constraints of this kind of research work. To summarize these in one sentence: One could use the information on wearable devices, refine and extend our studies, improve presented information and systems, and build a single device solution integrating all results, as we discuss below:

## 6.2.1 EXTENSION AND REFINEMENT OF STUDIES

The results and conclusions presented in this work are based on indexed databases and studies of reallife systems. The method of research through databases, which this work mainly relies on, bears some limitations, which we partly addressed through the usability evaluation for the specific part – understanding and supporting – of communication devices in chapters 4 and 5. However, we cannot know the ground truth of the underlying reason why the researchers published the analysed papers when looking into the databases and whether there is any additional material that has not yet been published that would suggest a different direction (see Chapter 3). For future refinement of our work, we propose to validate each of the different proposed categories in our scoping review and compare them to gain additional insights into users' contexts when using wearable devices. By developing a Technology acceptance model (TAM), one could further identify and outline categories and different directions in which one should align the further research.

To dig deeper into wearable devices for freediver, future work might look into the impact of disturbance trough wearables during freediving, since freediving mainly relies on one breath and therefore a limited attention span. This could be done by focusing more on research done in health with a relation on freediving as well as collecting data through new studies where freedivers are part of and where health related data is gathered while doing certain tasks on already available freediving watches.

## 6.2.2 IMPROVEMENT OF THE PRESENTED SYSTEM

In the event of further development, the form factor can be reduced, the design developed, and power consumption optimized. In addition, the cost of manufacturing a WADAC is around 2000€. By changing to another, more compact and cheaper modem, the WADAC can also be implemented at significantly lower costs[220]. Through integration with different sensors and actuators, relatives, coast guards and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> https://github.com/bbube/FreediverAppAndroid

<sup>14</sup> https://doi.org/10.17605/OSF.IO/PGU6T

other authorized persons could intervene at any time in the event of danger. That could enormously shorten the time span of a rescue chain. By linking a life jacket for divers to the WADAC, the safety diver can deploy the jacket externally and without exposing himself to any danger. Thanks to the modular system of the WADAC, any components can be added or removed at any time, which is an ideal basis for further scientific investigations. In addition, the collected data can be used to identify different situations with the help of machine learning[242]. Consistent further development towards a user interface is also useful.

## 6.2.3 ONE INTEGRATED SINGLE SOLUTION

One natural next step to the work presented in this thesis would be an integration of all findings and proposed systems and information into one single solution, and the study of such a wearable device under aspects of general usability and user experience. This would be a wearable device that tracks the device usage and supports the diver, analyses changes in the diver's behaviour and acts based on these, by recommending new options. This would further allow the surrounding divers to interact and observe the diver in a much better way to improve safety.

However, while it would be possible to build such a single integrated solution that exploits all findings of this thesis and all supportive functionality into one single solution, this system would demand a high degree of low-level access to fundamental operating system functionality. Such a prototype would result in a proprietary branch of a whole operating system that we would not be able to evaluate with the method of research through databases, which we rely on in this work. We would instead have to distribute a new wearable device with a customized software stack, which would require substantial resources if it were to be done on a large scale. This piece of future work is instead left for industry to inform the design of a new wearable device for diving in general.

## **6.3 CLOSING REMARKS**

This thesis has investigated the current generation of wearables for freedivers resulting from the recent development of hardware and software, which transformed from simple gauge meter into wearables (see Chapter 2). We can only foresee in a tautological way and discuss both options: wearables for freediver will either continue to improve or disappear – i.e., we will proceed either with integration or dis-integration of wearables into our dives as described by Harmon and Mazmanian regarding the Smartphone era[243].

However, since such research as done in this thesis were not provided before, the current state of wearables in combination with freediving is fairly new. Under consideration that freediving is maybe in a few years not anymore, the main focus of wearables, we can say anyway, that other applications of these technologies such as space missions, technical divers, medical monitoring or any other field of direct information insight will or already gained huge importance.

There is ongoing and groundbreaking research in the area of tangible interaction and wearable computing in which everyday objects become smart through enrichment with sensing, computing and networking capabilities; compare for instance Chapter 2.

With the work presented in this dissertation, we lay the foundation to address these central questions by investigating them for the first time in such a scale and by proposing the first device into this direction which strive to be the first connected device and therefore the possibility to became not only smart but also ubiquitous: The first wearable freediving smartwatch with underwater communication capabilities. Furthermore, we have paved the way for large-scale studies and data collection to be carried out with the second prototype. This prototype is one of the first to offer an openly accessible app and all the associated components so that it can be recreated and used. By addressing the low costs and open hardware, a device can be easily manufactured and used in sufficient numbers.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- [1] "The history of the dive computer DIVE Magazine." Accessed: Jun. 16, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://divemagazine.com/scuba-diving-equipment/history-of-the-dive-computer
- "Survey Results: Dive Computer Market, Features & Usage Among Scuba Divers (Tech & Recreational) | by Darcy Kieran (Scuba Diving) | Scubanomics | Medium." Accessed: Jul. 07, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://medium.com/scubanomics/survey-results-dive-computer-market-features-usage-among-scuba-divers-tech-recreational-34a72cce081e
- [3] H. Karjaluoto *et al.*, "Factors affecting consumer choice of mobile phones: Two studies from Finland," *Journal of Euromarketing*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 59–82, 2005, doi: 10.1300/J037V14N03\_04.
- "Warn, Faith (2000), Bitter Sea, The real story of... Google Scholar." Accessed: May 16, 2023.
   [Online]. Available: https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=de&as\_sdt=0%2C5&q=Warn%2C+Faith+%282000%29 %2C+Bitter+Sea%2C+The+real+story+of+Greek+Sponge+Diving%2C+Guardian+Angel+Press%2 C+South+Woodham+Ferrers.&btnG=
- I. ' I. Qsqijhne, H. ~ Undersea, E. Ckaes, and G. Lendgreaa, "The physiology of breath-hold diving," 1987, Accessed: May 24, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/39516
- [6] H. Rahn and T. Yokoyama, "Physiology of Breath-hold Diving and the Ama of Japan," 1965, Accessed: May 24, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA034502
- H. C. (Hem C. Ray, K. M. De Silva, and University of Peradeniya., "History of Ceylon," 1993, Accessed: May 24, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.com/books/about/History\_of\_Ceylon.html?hl=de&id=AkhuAAAAMAAJ
- [8] Dimitri Rebikoff, *Free Diving*. 1956. Accessed: May 24, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://books.google.de/books/about/Free\_Diving.html?id=wcYIAQAAIAAJ&redir\_esc=y
- [9] Owen David M., A manual for free-divers using compressed air. 1955. Accessed: May 24, 2023.
   [Online]. Available: https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=de&as\_sdt=0%2C5&q=D.+M.+Owen%2C+%E2%80%9C A+manual+for+free-divers+using+compressed+air%E2%80%9D%2C+1955.&btnG=
- [10] P. T.-(No Title) and undefined 1957, "The complete manual of free diving," *cir.nii.ac.jp*, Accessed: May 24, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://cir.nii.ac.jp/crid/1130570607734017030
- [11] D. Smart *et al.*, "Freediving in cyberspace," *dhmjournal.com*, Accessed: May 24, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.dhmjournal.com/images/34/DHM\_Vol34\_No2.pdf#page=43
- [12] A. Neşe Alkan and A. Tolga Akış, "Psychological Characteristics of Free Diving Athletes: A Comparative Study," Int J Humanit Soc Sci, vol. 3, no. 15, 2013, Accessed: Jun. 16, 2023. [Online]. Available: www.ijhssnet.com
- P. Buzzacott and P. J. Denoble, "DAN Annual Diving Report 2018 edition: A report on 2016 diving fatalities, injuries, and incidents," *Divers Alert Network*, 2019, Accessed: Nov. 22, 2021.
   [Online]. Available: https://espace.curtin.edu.au/handle/20.500.11937/79641
- [14] NH Green and B Woodward, "The Evolution of Divers' Decompression Computers," *Society for Underwater Technology*, 1993, Accessed: May 24, 2023. [Online]. Available:

https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=de&as\_sdt=0%2C5&q=The+Evolution+of+Divers%27+ Decompression+Computers+%281995%29%2C+Society+of+Underwater+Technology%2C+Vol. +19%2C+No.+1%2C+p+9+-+23&btnG=

- [15] R. M. Pope and E. S. Fry, "Absorption spectrum (380–700 nm) of pure water II Integrating cavity measurements," *Appl Opt*, vol. 36, no. 33, 1997, doi: 10.1364/ao.36.008710.
- [16] S. Tang, Y. Dong, and X. Zhang, "On link misalignment for underwater wireless optical communications," *IEEE Communications Letters*, vol. 16, no. 10, 2012, doi: 10.1109/LCOMM.2012.081612.121225.
- B. Benson *et al.*, "Design of a low-cost, underwater acoustic modem for short-range sensor networks," in *OCEANS'10 IEEE Sydney*, *OCEANSSYD 2010*, 2010. doi: 10.1109/OCEANSSYD.2010.5603816.
- [18] X. Che, I. Wells, G. Dickers, P. Kear, and X. Gong, "Re-evaluation of RF electromagnetic communication in underwater sensor networks," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 48, no. 12, 2010, doi: 10.1109/MCOM.2010.5673085.
- [19] A. Sandra, Sendra Jose, V. Lamparero Jaime, Lloret Miguel, "Underwater Communications in Wireless Sensor Networks using WLAN at 2.4 GHz," in 2011 Eighth IEEE International Conference on Mobile Ad-Hoc and Sensor Systems, 2011, pp. 892–897.
- [20] A. Palmeiro, M. Martín, I. Crowther, and M. Rhodes, "Underwater radio frequency communications," in OCEANS 2011 IEEE - Spain, 2011. doi: 10.1109/Oceans-Spain.2011.6003580.
- [21] J. Lloret, S. Sendra, M. Ardid, and J. J. P. C. Rodrigues, "Underwater wireless sensor communications in the 2.4 GHz ISM frequency band," *Sensors*, vol. 12, no. 4, 2012, doi: 10.3390/s120404237.
- [22] J.-Paul. Marage and Yvon. Mori, "Sonar and underwater acoustics," p. 628, 2010, Accessed: Nov. 16, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.wiley.com/enus/Sonar+and+Underwater+Acoustics-p-9781118600658
- [23] M. Barbeau, J. Garcia-Alfaro, E. Kranakis, and S. Porretta, "The sound of communication in underwater acoustic sensor networks: (Position paper)," in *Lecture Notes of the Institute for Computer Sciences, Social-Informatics and Telecommunications Engineering, LNICST*, 2018. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-74439-1\_2.
- [24] M. A. Bin Yusof and S. Kabir, "An overview of sonar and electromagnetic waves for underwater communication," *IETE Technical Review (Institution of Electronics and Telecommunication Engineers, India)*, vol. 29, no. 4. 2012. doi: 10.4103/0256-4602.101312.
- [25] A. Faggio, M. Viscardi, T. Coppola, and E. Rizzuto, "A numerical code for underwater noise propagation," in *MATEC Web of Conferences*, 2018. doi: 10.1051/matecconf/201821005017.
- [26] M. Ainslie, Principles of Sonar Performance Modelling. 2010. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-87662-5.
- [27] L. K. Gkoura et al., "Underwater Optical Wireless Communication Systems: A Concise Review," in Turbulence Modelling Approaches - Current State, Development Prospects, Applications, 2017. doi: 10.5772/67915.
- [28] D. Pompili and I. F. Akyildiz, "Overview of Networking Protocols for Underwater Wireless Communications," *IEEE Communications Magazine*, vol. 47, no. 1, 2009, doi: 10.1109/MCOM.2009.4752684.

- [29] K. J. Kim and D. H. Shin, "An acceptance model for smart watches: Implications for the adoption of future wearable technology," *Internet Res.*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 527–541, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1108/INTR-05-2014-0126.
- [30] J. H. Huang, Y. R. Lin, and S. T. Chuang, "Elucidating user behavior of mobile learning: A perspective of the extended technology acceptance model," *Electronic Library*, vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 585–598, 2007, doi: 10.1108/02640470710829569.
- [31] C. Buenaflor and H.-C. Kim, "Six Human Factors to Acceptability of Wearable Computers," International Journal of Multimedia and Ubiquitous Engineering, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 103–114, 2013, Accessed: Jun. 26, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.earticle.net/Article/A202284
- [32] A. Sano, R. P.-2013 H. association conference on, and undefined 2013, "Stress recognition using wearable sensors and mobile phones," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, Accessed: Jun. 26, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/6681508/?casa\_token=EFWYSS8ayvQAAAAA: WZsw4gpgmrsKeDIYSI6-uzQVndq3Yr7xVdrAbCbleN07JWQrLmXtVQCWO\_dbM4k276j9iC0Svx0
- [33] R. Rawassizadeh, B. A. Price, and M. Petre, "Wearables: Has The age of smartwatches finally arrived?," *Commun ACM*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 45–47, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1145/2629633.
- [34] C. Baker, "How Microsoft lost the wrist-top," Wired. Accessed: Jun. 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://scholar.google.com/scholar?cluster=1611763110593664678&hl=de&as\_sdt=2005&sci odt=0,5
- [35] "Wearable technology is booming, powered by photonics." Accessed: Jun. 26, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://spie.org/news/wearable-photonics?SSO=1
- [36] "Half of American use fitness trackers on daily basis." Accessed: Jun. 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://healthexec.com/topics/patient-care/precision-medicine/half-american-usefitness-trackers-daily-basis
- [37] "Fitness trackers statistics & facts | Statista." Accessed: Jun. 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.statista.com/topics/4393/fitness-and-activity-tracker/#topicOverview
- [38] "Wearable Technology statistics and trends 2018 | Smart Insights." Accessed: Jun. 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.smartinsights.com/digital-marketing-strategy/wearablesstatistics-2017/
- [39] "The Age of Wearables Is on Us | 2015-01-01 | SDM Magazine." Accessed: Jun. 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.sdmmag.com/articles/90779-the-age-of-wearables-is-on-us
- [40] "71% Of 16-To-24-Year-Olds Want 'Wearable Tech.' Why Don't I Even Want To Wear A Watch?" Accessed: Jun. 26, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.forbes.com/sites/victorlipman/2014/09/22/71-of-16-24s-want-wearable-techwhy-dont-i-even-want-to-wear-a-watch/?sh=6b6cb9270bf8
- [41] L. Dunne, "Smart Clothing in Practice: Key Design Barriers to Commercialization," http://dx.doi.org/10.2752/175693810X12640026716393, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 41–65, May 2015, doi: 10.2752/175693810X12640026716393.
- [42] S. C. Lee, B. Li, and T. Starner, "AirTouch: Synchronizing in-air hand gesture and on-body tactile feedback to augment mobile gesture interaction," *Proceedings International Symposium on Wearable Computers, ISWC*, pp. 3–10, 2011, doi: 10.1109/ISWC.2011.27.

- [43] Simon Jones, "Our survey says ... something doesn't add up," WearableTechWatch.
- [44] C. Yu, K. Sun, M. Zhong, X. Li, P. Zhao, and Y. Shi, "One-dimensional handwriting: Inputting letters and words on smart glasses," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Proceedings*, pp. 71–82, May 2016, doi: 10.1145/2858036.2858542.
- [45] T. Grossman, X. A. Chen, and G. Fitzmaurice, "Typing on glasses: Adapting text entry to smart eyewear," *MobileHCI 2015 - Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services*, pp. 144–152, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1145/2785830.2785867.
- [46] D. Ashbrook, P. Baudisch, and S. White, "Nenya: Subtle and eyes-free mobile input with a magnetically-tracked finger ring," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems -Proceedings*, pp. 2043–2046, 2011, doi: 10.1145/1978942.1979238.
- [47] W. Kienzle and K. Hinckley, "LightRing: Always-available 2D input on any surface," UIST 2014 -Proceedings of the 27th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pp. 157–160, Oct. 2014, doi: 10.1145/2642918.2647376.
- [48] X.-D. Yang, T. Grossman, D. Wigdor, and G. Fitzmaurice, "Magic finger," pp. 147–156, Oct. 2012, doi: 10.1145/2380116.2380137.
- [49] J. Rekimoto, "GestureWrist and GesturePad: Unobtrusive wearable interaction devices," International Symposium on Wearable Computers, Digest of Papers, pp. 21–27, 2001, doi: 10.1109/ISWC.2001.962092.
- [50] S. Schneegass and A. Voit, "GestureSleeve: Using touch sensitive fabrics for gestural input on the forearm for controlling smartwatches," *International Symposium on Wearable Computers, Digest of Papers*, vol. 12-16-September-2016, pp. 108–115, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.1145/2971763.2971797.
- [51] D. Dobbelstein, P. Hock, and E. Rukzio, "Belt: An unobtrusive touch input device for head-worn displays," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*, vol. 2015-April, pp. 2135–2138, Apr. 2015, doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702450.
- [52] R. Shilkrot, J. Huber, J. Steimle, S. Nanayakkara, and P. Maes, "Digital Digits: A Comprehensive Survey of Finger Augmentation Devices," ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR), vol. 48, no. 2, Nov. 2015, doi: 10.1145/2828993.
- [53] M. Ogata, Y. Sugiura, H. Osawa, and M. Imai, "iRing intelligent ring using infrared reflection," pp. 131–136, Oct. 2012, doi: 10.1145/2380116.2380135.
- [54] J. Ham, J. Hong, Y. Jang, ... S. K.-2014 I. S., and undefined 2014, "Poster: Wearable input device for smart glasses based on a wristband-type motion-aware touch panel," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, Accessed: Jun. 26, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/6798863/?casa\_token=1KHPlgOSUFMAAAAA: qJAmZaSrtwDHS9ix6B6rmvK7sglSNDRgQmSXcG8VKf748y36gOLmobI-ECXWypPE6\_I0sZiw9PE
- [55] S. Gustafson, B. Rabe, and P. Baudisch, "Understanding palm-based imaginary interfaces: The role of visual and tactile cues when browsing," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*, pp. 889–898, 2013, doi: 10.1145/2470654.2466114.
- [56] B. Yi, X. Cao, M. Fjeld, and S. Zhao, "Exploring User Motivations for Eyes-free Interaction on Mobile Devices," 2012.

- [57] C. T. Fuentes and A. J. Bastian, "Where is your arm? Variations in proprioception across space and tasks," *J Neurophysiol*, vol. 103, no. 1, pp. 164–171, Jan. 2010, doi: 10.1152/JN.00494.2009.
- [58] S. Gustafson, B. Rabe, and P. Baudisch, "Understanding palm-based imaginary interfaces: The role of visual and tactile cues when browsing," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*, pp. 889–898, 2013, doi: 10.1145/2470654.2466114.
- [59] C. Harrison, H. Benko, and A. D. Wilson, "OmniTouch: Wearable multitouch interaction everywhere," UIST'11 - Proceedings of the 24th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pp. 441–450, 2011, doi: 10.1145/2047196.2047255.
- [60] C. Harrison, D. Tan, and D. Morris, "Skinput," Commun ACM, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 111–118, Aug. 2011, doi: 10.1145/1978542.1978564.
- [61] C. Y. Wang et al., "Palm gesture: Using palms as gesture interfaces for eyes-free input," MobileHCI 2015 - Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services, pp. 217–226, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1145/2785830.2785885.
- [62] C. Y. Wang, W. C. Chu, P. T. Chiu, M. C. Hsiu, Y. H. Chiang, and M. Y. Chen, "Palm type: Using palms as keyboards for smart glasses," *MobileHCI 2015 - Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services*, pp. 153–160, Aug. 2015, doi: 10.1145/2785830.2785886.
- [63] M. Weigel, T. Lu, G. Bailly, A. Oulasvirta, C. Majidi, and J. Steimle, "ISkin: Flexible, stretchable and visually customizable on-body touch sensors for mobile computing," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*, vol. 2015-April, pp. 2991–3000, Apr. 2015, doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702391.
- [64] T. Azai, S. Ogawa, M. Otsuki, F. Shibata, and A. Kimura, "Selection and manipulation methods for a menu widget on the human forearm," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*, vol. Part F127655, pp. 357–360, May 2017, doi: 10.1145/3027063.3052959.
- [65] S. Y. Lin, C. H. Su, K. Y. Cheng, R. H. Liang, T. H. Kuo, and B. Y. Chen, "PUB Point upon body: Exploring eyes-free interaction and methods on an arm," UIST'11 - Proceedings of the 24th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pp. 481–487, 2011, doi: 10.1145/2047196.2047259.
- [66] M. Ogata, Y. Sugiura, Y. Makino, M. Inami, and M. Imai, "SenSkin: Adapting skin as a soft interface," UIST 2013 - Proceedings of the 26th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pp. 539–543, 2013, doi: 10.1145/2501988.2502039.
- [67] M. Serrano, B. Ens, and P. Irani, "Exploring the use of hand-to-face input for interacting with head-worn displays," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*, pp. 3181–3190, 2014, doi: 10.1145/2556288.2556984.
- [68] R. Lissermann, J. Huber, A. Hadjakos, and M. Mühlhäuser, "EarPut: Augmenting Behind-the-Ear Devices for Ear-based Interaction," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems -Proceedings*, vol. 2013-April, pp. 1323–1328, Apr. 2013, doi: 10.1145/2468356.2468592.
- [69] C. Harrison, D. Tan, and D. Morris, "Skinput: Appropriating the skin as an interactive canvas," *Commun ACM*, vol. 54, no. 8, pp. 111–118, Aug. 2011, doi: 10.1145/1978542.1978564.

- [70] E. Jones, J. Alexander, A. Andreou, P. Irani, and S. Subramanian, "GesText: Accelerometer-based gestural text-entry systems," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems -Proceedings*, vol. 4, pp. 2173–2182, 2010, doi: 10.1145/1753326.1753655.
- S. Yi, Z. Qin, E. Novak, Y. Yin, Q. L.-I. I. 2016-The, and undefined 2016, "Glassgesture: Exploring head gesture interface of smart glasses," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, Accessed: Jun. 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/7524542/?casa\_token=7zayy63IOm4AAAAA: 8NSVDFw8mDP-EFFcvK1QE0zDtI6UDAHxo04FM7aEVnFHtN6mALzEICkhGjOU8dxqyvllqRjCyBc
- [72] F. Wahl, M. Freund, ... O. A. 2015 A. I. J. C., and undefined 2015, "Using smart eyeglasses as a wearable game controller," *dl.acm.org*, pp. 377–380, Sep. 2015, doi: 10.1145/2800835.2800914.
- [73] C. Ware and H. H. Mikaelian, "An evaluation of an eye tracker as a device for computer input2," Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings, pp. 183–188, 1987, doi: 10.1145/29933.275627.
- [74] M. Bâce, T. Leppänen, D. G. De Gomez, and A. R. Gomez, "Ubigaze: Ubiquitous augmented reality messaging using Gaze gestures," SA 2016 - SIGGRAPH ASIA 2016 Mobile Graphics and Interactive Applications, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.1145/2999508.2999530.
- [75] D. Slambekova, R. Bailey, and J. Geigel, "Gaze and gesture based object manipulation in virtual worlds," *Proceedings of the ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology, VRST*, p. 203, 2012, doi: 10.1145/2407336.2407380.
- [76] T. Toyama, D. Sonntag, A. Dengel, T. Matsuda, M. Iwamura, and K. Kise, "A mixed reality headmounted text translation system using eye gaze input," *International Conference on Intelligent User Interfaces, Proceedings IUI*, pp. 329–334, 2014, doi: 10.1145/2557500.2557528.
- [77] O. Tuisku, P. Majaranta, P. Isokoski, and K. J. Räihä, "Now Dasher! Dash away!: Longitudinal study of fast text entry by eye gaze," *Eye Tracking Research and Applications Symposium (ETRA)*, pp. 19–26, 2008, doi: 10.1145/1344471.1344476.
- [78] T. Toyama, T. Kieninger, F. Shafait, and A. Dengel, "Gaze guided object recognition using a head-mounted eye tracker," *Eye Tracking Research and Applications Symposium (ETRA)*, pp. 91–98, 2012, doi: 10.1145/2168556.2168570.
- [79] T. Schuchert, S. Voth, and J. Baumgarten, "Sensing visual attention using an interactive bidirectional HMD," *Proceedings of the 4th Workshop on Eye Gaze in Intelligent Human Machine Interaction, Gaze-In 2012*, 2012, doi: 10.1145/2401836.2401852.
- [80] J. Shimizu and G. Chernyshov, "Eye movement interactions in google cardboard using a low cost EOG setup," UbiComp 2016 Adjunct - Proceedings of the 2016 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing, pp. 1773–1776, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.1145/2968219.2968274.
- [81] A. Bulling, R. Dachselt, A. Duchowski, R. Jacob, S. Stellmach, and V. Sundstedt, "Gaze interaction in the post-WIMP world - CHI 2012 special interest group meeting," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*, pp. 1221–1224, 2012, doi: 10.1145/2212776.2212428.
- [82] Y. Kozaki, N. Matsushiro, and K. Suzuki, "A wearable soft robot for movement assistance on eyelid closure," *ROBOMECH Journal*, vol. 5, no. 1, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1186/S40648-018-0126-6.

- [83] A. Frigerio, T. A. Hadlock, E. H. Murray, and J. T. Heaton, "Infrared-based blink-detecting glasses for facial pacing: Toward a bionic blink," *JAMA Facial Plast Surg*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 211–218, 2014, doi: 10.1001/JAMAFACIAL.2014.1.
- [84] Y.-C. Tung *et al.*, "User-defined game input for smart glasses in public space," *dl.acm.org*, vol. 2015-April, pp. 3327–3336, Apr. 2015, doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702214.
- [85] D. Moazen, ... S. S.-2016 13th I. A., and undefined 2016, "AirDraw: Leveraging smart watch motion sensors for mobile human computer interactions," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, Accessed: Nov. 21, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/7444820/?casa\_token=WY0\_IrKMbKoAAAAA: YIFGdFjqzd1TiWrNWMPxG5Sqzq68Ku8IXUfoyQ8Aez5FmtNMTVW8MejTqS10GEW2ZT64MOX Xi4c9
- [86] P. Kumar, J. Verma, S. P.-I. J. of A. Science, and undefined 2012, "Hand data glove: a wearable real-time device for human-computer interaction," *Citeseer*, vol. 43, 2012, Accessed: Nov. 21, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=f1ae8066b654e5ccd2ae2 1c1e0bf32308c0361e9
- [87] A. Schmidt, "Implicit human computer interaction through context," *Pers Ubiquitous Comput*, vol. 4, no. 2–3, pp. 191–199, 2000, doi: 10.1007/BF01324126.
- [88] M. M. Theimer and B. N. Schilit, "Disseminating Active Map Information to Mobile Hosts," *IEEE Netw*, vol. 8, no. 5, 1994, doi: 10.1109/65.313011.
- [89] A. Schmidt, M. Beigl, and H. W. Gellersen, "There is more to context than location," *Computers and Graphics (Pergamon)*, vol. 23, no. 6, 1999, doi: 10.1016/S0097-8493(99)00120-X.
- [90] G. D. Abowd, A. K. Dey, P. J. Brown, N. Davies, M. Smith, and P. Steggles, "Towards a better understanding of context and context-awareness," in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, 1999. doi: 10.1007/3-540-48157-5\_29.
- [91] C. Perera, ... C. L.-I. transactions on, and undefined 2015, "The emerging internet of things marketplace from an industrial perspective: A survey," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, Accessed: Jun. 27, 2023.
   [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/7004800/?casa\_token=EljH4x3NKJcAAAAA:Ot 5rBly-q2Ctj1e7l8U0Jr5XtS-oesPMKXpe36yG1c6EWn2KbAdkOvWQ5SdC674T\_vTIS-JOJTg
- [92] A. Ometov, S. Bezzateev, ... J. K.-I. I. of, and undefined 2016, "Facilitating the delegation of use for private devices in the era of the internet of wearable things," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, Accessed: Jun. 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/7518650/?casa\_token=\_DXJP9NPfCcAAAAA:j mrw0OUQiBj\_aBVvdFVHzs-k03MoQblcq\_2YpwJ6lqxjg\_2c-POwze-yzG\_IaRLFxPKoz\_zTptY
- [93] T. O'Donovan, J. O'Donoghue, ... C. S.-2009 3rd, and undefined 2009, "A context aware wireless body area network (BAN)," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, Accessed: Jun. 27, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/5191231/?casa\_token=-NO-8RjTXyIAAAAA:qDNfEGoUhjXSyl\_9KLzxGthXopWGXQivKsmpl75m5rJEA87gXY1LKRuq7kBtM0ly XHX9c30OnSU
- [94] D. Kim and Y. Choi, "Applications of smart glasses in applied sciences: A systematic review," *Applied Sciences (Switzerland)*, vol. 11, no. 11. 2021. doi: 10.3390/app11114956.

- [95] S. Murphy, "Smart Glasses Reveal What It's Like to Have Superpowers | Mashable," mashable.com. Accessed: Jul. 10, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://mashable.com/archive/atheer-google-glass-competitor
- [96] R. Lin *et al.*, "Wireless battery-free body sensor networks using near-field-enabled clothing," *Nat Commun*, vol. 11, no. 1, 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-14311-2.
- [97] X. Shi *et al.*, "Large-area display textiles integrated with functional systems," *Nature*, vol. 591, no. 7849, 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41586-021-03295-8.
- [98] W. Fan *et al.*, "Machine-knitted washable sensor array textile for precise epidermal physiological signal monitoring," *Sci Adv*, vol. 6, no. 11, 2020, doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aay2840.
- [99] W. Weng, P. Chen, S. He, X. Sun, and H. Peng, "Smart electronic textiles," *Angewandte Chemie* - *International Edition*, vol. 55, no. 21. 2016. doi: 10.1002/anie.201507333.
- [100] S. Y. Heo *et al.*, "Wireless, battery-free, flexible, miniaturized dosimeters monitor exposure to solar radiation and to light for phototherapy," *Sci Transl Med*, vol. 10, no. 470, 2018, doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aau1643.
- [101] K. Kwon *et al.*, "Wireless, soft electronics for rapid, multisensor measurements of hydration levels in healthy and diseased skin," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 118, no. 5, 2021, doi: 10.1073/pnas.2020398118.
- [102] L. Xu *et al.*, "Characterization and Modeling of Embroidered NFC Coil Antennas for Wearable Applications," *IEEE Sens J*, vol. 20, no. 23, 2020, doi: 10.1109/JSEN.2020.3008594.
- [103] S. Alharbi, Q. Ze, R. Zhao, and A. Kiourti, "Magnetoactuated reconfigurable antennas on hardmagnetic soft substrates and E-threads," *IEEE Trans Antennas Propag*, vol. 68, no. 8, 2020, doi: 10.1109/TAP.2020.2988937.
- [104] S. Alharbi *et al.*, "E-Textile Origami Dipole Antennas with Graded Embroidery for Adaptive RF Performance," *IEEE Antennas Wirel Propag Lett*, vol. 17, no. 12, 2018, doi: 10.1109/LAWP.2018.2871643.
- [105] A. Hirsch, L. Dejace, H. O. Michaud, and S. P. Lacour, "Harnessing the Rheological Properties of Liquid Metals to Shape Soft Electronic Conductors for Wearable Applications," Acc Chem Res, vol. 52, no. 3, 2019, doi: 10.1021/acs.accounts.8b00489.
- [106] S. Veerapandian *et al.*, "Hydrogen-doped viscoplastic liquid metal microparticles for stretchable printed metal lines," *Nat Mater*, vol. 20, no. 4, 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41563-020-00863-7.
- [107] S. Liu, D. S. Shah, and R. Kramer-Bottiglio, "Highly stretchable multilayer electronic circuits using biphasic gallium-indium," *Nat Mater*, vol. 20, no. 6, 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41563-021-00921-8.
- [108] L. Teng, L. Zhu, S. H.-W.-... of M. C. C, and undefined 2019, "Robust, multiscale liquid-metal patterning enabled by a sacrificial sealing layer for flexible and wearable wireless powering," *pubs.rsc.org*, Accessed: Jul. 10, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlehtml/2019/tc/c9tc04876f
- [109] K. Yamagishi *et al.*, "Ultra-deformable and tissue-adhesive liquid metal antennas with high wireless powering efficiency," *Wiley Online Library*, vol. 33, no. 26, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.1002/adma.202008062.

- [110] S. Iqbal, I. Mahgoub, E. Du, ... M. L.-N. F., and undefined 2021, "Advances in healthcare wearable devices," nature.com, 2021, Accessed: Jul. 10, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41528-021-00107-x
- [111] K. Brophy *et al.*, "The future of wearable technologies," *guderesearch.com*, 2021, doi: 10.25561/88893.
- [112] J. Heikenfeld, A. Jajack, J. Rogers, P. Gutruf, L. T.-L. on a Chip, and undefined 2018, "Wearable sensors: modalities, challenges, and prospects," *pubs.rsc.org*, Accessed: Jul. 10, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlehtml/2018/lc/c7lc00914c
- [113] S. S. Gambhir, T. J. Ge, O. Vermesh, R. Spitler, and G. E. Gold, "Continuous health monitoring: An opportunity for precision health," *Science Translational Medicine*, vol. 13, no. 597. 2021. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.abe5383.
- [114] Y. Yang *et al.*, "A laser-engraved wearable sensor for sensitive detection of uric acid and tyrosine in sweat," *Nat Biotechnol*, vol. 38, no. 2, 2020, doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0321-x.
- [115] G. Quer *et al.*, "Wearable sensor data and self-reported symptoms for COVID-19 detection," *Nat Med*, vol. 27, no. 1, 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-1123-x.
- [116] W. Hong and W. G. Lee, "Wearable sensors for continuous oral cavity and dietary monitoring toward personalized healthcare and digital medicine," *Analyst*, vol. 145, no. 24. 2020. doi: 10.1039/d0an01484b.
- [117] Y. Cotur, M. Kasimatis, M. Kaisti, S. Olenik, C. Georgiou, and F. Güder, "Stretchable Composite Acoustic Transducer for Wearable Monitoring of Vital Signs," *Adv Funct Mater*, vol. 30, no. 16, 2020, doi: 10.1002/adfm.201910288.
- [118] H. Plattner, C. Meinel, and U. Weinberg, "Design thinking," 2009, Accessed: Nov. 21, 2023.[Online]. Available: https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-3-642-13757-0.pdf
- [119] B. Bube, B. B. Zanón, A. M. Lara Palma, and H. G. Klocke, "Wearable Devices in Diving: Scoping Review," JMIR Mhealth Uhealth, vol. 10, no. 9, Sep. 2022, doi: 10.2196/35727.
- Y. Rogers, "HCI Theory : Classical, Modern, and Contemporary," Published in 2012 in San Rafael by Morgan & Claypool Publishers, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 1–129, 2012, Accessed: Jul. 07, 2023.
   [Online]. Available: https://lib.ugent.be/catalog/rug01:002370944
- [121] B. Brown, M. McGregor, and E. Laurier, "IPhone in vivo: Video analysis of mobile device use," Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings, pp. 1031–1040, 2013, doi: 10.1145/2470654.2466132.
- [122] A. Rahmati and L. Zhong, "Studying smartphone usage: Lessons from a four-month field study," *IEEE Trans Mob Comput*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 1417–1427, 2013, doi: 10.1109/TMC.2012.127.
- [123] S. Milgram, "Behavioral Study of obedience," J Abnorm Soc Psychol, vol. 67, no. 4, pp. 371–378, Oct. 1963, doi: 10.1037/H0040525.
- [124] J. Wennström, "NUDGE: IMPROVING DECISIONS ABOUT HEALTH, WEALTH AND HAPPINESS by Richard H. Thaler and Cass R. Sunstein," *Economic Affairs*, vol. 29, no. 1, 2009, doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0270.2009.1884\_6.x.
- [125] R. Armstrong, B. J. Hall, J. Doyle, and E. Waters, "Cochrane Update. 'Scoping the scope' of a cochrane review," J Public Health (Oxf), vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 147–150, 2011, doi: 10.1093/PUBMED/FDR015.

- [126] H. Bastian, P. Glasziou, and I. Chalmers, "Seventy-Five Trials and Eleven Systematic Reviews a Day: How Will We Ever Keep Up?," *PLoS Med*, vol. 7, no. 9, p. e1000326, Sep. 2010, doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PMED.1000326.
- [127] A. C. Tricco, J. Tetzlaff, and D. Moher, "The art and science of knowledge synthesis," J Clin Epidemiol, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 11–20, 2011, doi: 10.1016/J.JCLINEPI.2009.11.007.
- [128] H. Arksey and L. O'Malley, "Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework," https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 19–32, Feb. 2007, doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616.
- [129] T. Crilly, C. B. Consulting, and A. Jashapara, "Research Utilisation & Knowledge Mobilisation: A Scoping Review of the Literature," 2010.
- [130] A. Cronin De Chavez, K. Backett-Milburn, O. Parry, and S. Platt, "Understanding and researching wellbeing: Its usage in different disciplines and potential for health research and health promotion," *Health Educ J*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 70–87, Mar. 2005, doi: 10.1177/001789690506400108.
- [131] J. E. Decaria, C. Sharp, and R. J. Petrella, "Scoping review report: obesity in older adults," Int J Obes (Lond), vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 1141–1150, Sep. 2012, doi: 10.1038/IJO.2012.29.
- [132] D. Levac, H. Colquhoun, and K. K. O'Brien, "Scoping studies: Advancing the methodology," Implementation Science, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 1–9, Sep. 2010, doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-5-69/TABLES/3.
- [133] M. D. J. Peters, C. M. Godfrey, H. Khalil, P. McInerney, D. Parker, and C. B. Soares, "Guidance for conducting systematic scoping reviews," *Int J Evid Based Healthc*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 141– 146, Sep. 2015, doi: 10.1097/XEB.0000000000000050.
- [134] M. Peters, C. Godfrey, P. McInerney, Z. Munn, A. Tricco, and H. Khalil, "Chapter 11: Scoping reviews: 2020 version," in *JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis*, 2021.
- [135] D. G. Altman and I. Simera, "Using Reporting Guidelines Effectively to Ensure Good Reporting of Health Research," in *Guidelines for Reporting Health Research: A User's Manual*, 2014. doi: 10.1002/9781118715598.ch4.
- [136] D. Moher, K. F. Schulz, I. Simera, and D. G. Altman, "Guidance for developers of health research reporting guidelines," *PLoS Medicine*, vol. 7, no. 2. 2010. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000217.
- [137] A. C. Tricco et al., "PRISMA extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and explanation," Ann Intern Med, vol. 169, no. 7, pp. 467–473, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.7326/M18-0850/SUPPL\_FILE/M18-0850\_SUPPLEMENT.PDF.
- [138] E. M. AH Blackwell, "Prototype," UXL encyclopedia of science, 2015, Accessed: Aug. 23, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=de&as\_sdt=0%2C5&q=Blackwell%2C+A.+H.%3B+Mana r%2C+E.%2C+eds.+%282015%29.%C2%A0%22Prototype%22.%C2%A0UXL+Encyclopedia+of+S cience%C2%A0%283rd%C2%A0ed.%29.+Retrieved%C2%A013+July%C2%A02015.&btnG=
- [139] M. Deininger, S. R. Daly, K. H. Sienko, and J. C. Lee, "Novice designers' use of prototypes in engineering design," *Des Stud*, vol. 51, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.destud.2017.04.002.
- [140] L. Sass and R. Oxman, "Materializing design: The implications of rapid prototyping in digital design," *Des Stud*, vol. 27, no. 3, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.destud.2005.11.009.

- [141] C. S. Lai and G. Locatelli, "Valuing the option to prototype: A case study with Generation Integrated Energy Storage," *Energy*, vol. 217, p. 119290, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.ENERGY.2020.119290.
- [142] D. Ullman, "The mechanical design process," 2003, Accessed: Aug. 23, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://ds.amu.edu.et/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/16814/The%20Mechanical%20De sign%20Process.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- [143] B. Laugwitz, T. Held, and M. Schrepp, "Construction and evaluation of a user experience questionnaire," in *Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics)*, 2008. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-89350-9\_6.
- [144] A. Hinderks, M. Schrepp, F. J. Domínguez Mayo, M. J. Escalona, and J. Thomaschewski, "Developing a UX KPI based on the user experience questionnaire," *Comput Stand Interfaces*, vol. 65, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.csi.2019.01.007.
- [145] K. P. L. Chong, J. Z. Guo, X. Deng, and B. K. P. Woo, "Consumer Perceptions of Wearable Technology Devices: Retrospective Review and Analysis," JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(4):e17544 https://mhealth.jmir.org/2020/4/e17544, vol. 8, no. 4, p. e17544, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.2196/17544.
- [146] M. Pobiruchin, J. Suleder, R. Zowalla, and M. Wiesner, "Accuracy and Adoption of Wearable Technology Used by Active Citizens: A Marathon Event Field Study," *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth* 2017;5(2):e24 https://mhealth.jmir.org/2017/2/e24, vol. 5, no. 2, p. e6395, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.2196/MHEALTH.6395.
- [147] C.-C. Chang, "Exploring the Usage Intentions of Wearable Medical Devices: A Demonstration Study," *Interact J Med Res 2020;9(3):e19776 https://www.i-jmr.org/2020/3/e19776*, vol. 9, no. 3, p. e19776, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.2196/19776.
- [148] D. Fuller et al., "Reliability and Validity of Commercially Available Wearable Devices for Measuring Steps, Energy Expenditure, and Heart Rate: Systematic Review," JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(9):e18694 https://mhealth.jmir.org/2020/9/e18694, vol. 8, no. 9, p. e18694, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.2196/18694.
- [149] J. Xie, D. Wen, L. Liang, Y. Jia, L. Gao, and J. Lei, "Evaluating the Validity of Current Mainstream Wearable Devices in Fitness Tracking Under Various Physical Activities: Comparative Study," *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018;6(4):e94 https://mhealth.jmir.org/2018/4/e94*, vol. 6, no. 4, p. e9754, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.2196/MHEALTH.9754.
- [150] Z. Dujic and T. Breskovic, "Impact of breath holding on cardiovascular respiratory and cerebrovascular health," Sports Medicine, vol. 42, no. 6. pp. 459–472, 2012. doi: 10.2165/11599260-00000000-00000.
- [151] J. M. Chonody, S. N. Webb, R. Ranzijn, and J. Bryan, "Working with older adults: Predictors of attitudes towards ageing in psychology and social work students, faculty, and practitioners," *Aust Psychol*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 374–383, 2014, doi: 10.1111/ap.12056.
- [152] M. Gren *et al.*, "Blood biomarkers indicate increased amyloid β production and mild neuroaxonal injury after transient hypoxia during breath-hold diving." Accessed: Oct. 02, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02699052.2016.1179792
- [153] H. Yin, Y. Li, F. Xing, B. Wu, Z. Zhou, and W. Zhang, "Hybrid acoustic, wireless optical and fiberoptic underwater cellular mobile communication networks," *International Conference on*

*Communication Technology Proceedings, ICCT*, vol. 2019-October, pp. 721–726, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.1109/ICCT.2018.8599957.

- [154] M. Z. Chowdhury, M. K. Hasan, M. Shahjalal, M. T. Hossan, and Y. M. Jang, "Optical Wireless Hybrid Networks: Trends, Opportunities, Challenges, and Research Directions," *IEEE Communications Surveys and Tutorials*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 930–966, Apr. 2020, doi: 10.1109/COMST.2020.2966855.
- [155] M. Jahanbakht, W. Xiang, L. H.-... S. & Tutorials, and U. 2021, "Internet of underwater Things and big marine data analytics—A comprehensive survey," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 904–956, 2021, doi: 10.1109/COMST.2021.3053118.
- [156] T. Cibis *et al.*, "Diving into Research of Biomedical Engineering in Scuba Diving," *IEEE Rev Biomed Eng*, vol. 10, pp. 323–333, 2017, doi: 10.1109/RBME.2017.2713300.
- [157] G. Vinetti, N. F. Lopomo, A. Taboni, N. Fagoni, and G. Ferretti, "The current use of wearable sensors to enhance safety and performance in breath-hold diving: A systematic review," *Diving Hyperb Med*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 54–65, Mar. 2020, doi: 10.28920/DHM50.1.54-65.
- [158] R. B. Arne Sieber, Antonio L'Abbate, Benjamin Kuch, Matthias Wagner, Antonio Benassi, Mirko Passera, "Advanced instrumentation for research in diving and hyperbaric medicine," *search.proquest.com*, vol. 37, no. 5, 2010.
- [159] E. Azzopardi and M. D. J. Sayer, "A review of the technical specifications of 47 models of diving decompression computer," in Underwater Technology, 2010, pp. 63–72. doi: 10.3723/ut.29.063.
- [160] B. R. Wienke and T. R. O'Leary, "Modern dive computers," SpringerBriefs in Computer Science, pp. 9–16, 2018, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-94054-0\_2.
- [161] T. Ozyigit and S. M. Egi, "Evaluating the ergonomic performance of dive computers," 2012 2nd International Conference on Digital Information and Communication Technology and its Applications, DICTAP 2012, pp. 314–318, 2012, doi: 10.1109/DICTAP.2012.6215418.
- [162] H. Arksey and L. O'Malley, "Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework," https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 19–32, Feb. 2007, doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616.
- [163] J. Rivera et al., "Mobile Apps for Weight Management: A Scoping Review," JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016;4(3):e87 https://mhealth.jmir.org/2016/3/e87, vol. 4, no. 3, p. e5115, Jul. 2016, doi: 10.2196/MHEALTH.5115.
- [164] P. Düking, S. Achtzehn, H. C. Holmberg, and B. Sperlich, "Integrated framework of load monitoring by a combination of smartphone applications, wearables and point-of-care testing provides feedback that allows individual responsive adjustments to activities of daily living," *Sensors (Switzerland)*, vol. 18, no. 5, May 2018, doi: 10.3390/S18051632.
- [165] P. Düking, A. Hotho, H. C. Holmberg, F. K. Fuss, and B. Sperlich, "Comparison of non-invasive individual monitoring of the training and health of athletes with commercially available wearable technologies," *Front Physiol*, vol. 7, no. MAR, Mar. 2016, doi: 10.3389/FPHYS.2016.00071.
- [166] J. O'Donoghue and J. Herbert, "Data Management Within mHealth Environments: Patient Sensors, Mobile Devices, and Databases," J. Data and Information Quality, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 5:1-5:20, Oct. 2012, doi: 10.1145/2378016.2378021.

- [167] F. Tocco, A. Crisafulli, E. Marongiu, R. Milia, A. Kalb, and A. Concu, "A portable device to assess underwater changes of cardio dynamic variables by impedance cardiography," J Phys Conf Ser, vol. 407, no. 1, 2012, doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/407/1/012026.
- [168] F. Tocco *et al.*, "Assessment of circulatory adjustments during underwater apnoea in elite divers by means of a portable device," *Acta Physiologica*, vol. 207, no. 2, pp. 290–298, 2013, doi: 10.1111/apha.12000.
- [169] A. Schuster, O. Castagna, B. Schmid, T. Cibis, and A. Sieber, "Underwater monitoring system for body temperature and ECG recordings," *Underwater Technology*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 135–139, 2017, doi: 10.3723/ut.34.135.
- [170] T. Cibis, B. H. Groh, H. Gatermann, H. Leutheuser, and B. M. Eskofier, "Wearable real-time ECG monitoring with emergency alert system for scuba diving," *Proceedings of the Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, EMBS*, vol. 2015-Novem, pp. 6074–6077, 2015, doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2015.7319777.
- [171] A. S. Kuch, Benjamin, Bernhard Koss, Zeljko Dujic, Giorgio Buttazzo, "A novel wearable apnea dive computer for continuous plethysmographic monitoring of oxygen saturation and heart rate.," *Diving Hyperb Med*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 34–40, 2010, Accessed: Nov. 22, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23111837/
- [172] R. B. Arne Sieber, Benjamin Kuch, Antonio L'abbate, Matthias Wagner, Paolo Dario, "An underwater blood pressure measuring device," *Diving Hyperb Med*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 128–134, 2008.
- [173] F. Di Pumpo, G. Ruffino, and P. Malacarne, "Pulse oximeter to detect peripheral oxygen saturation in underwater rebreather ECCR diver: A preliminary study," Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2019, doi: 10.22462/01.03.2019.0.
- [174] C. Altepe, S. Murat Egi, T. Ozyigit, D. Ruzgar Sinoplu, A. Marroni, and P. Pierleoni, "Design and Validation of a Breathing Detection System for Scuba Divers," *Sensors 2017, Vol. 17, Page 1349*, vol. 17, no. 6, p. 1349, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.3390/S17061349.
- [175] S. J. Eun, J. Y. Kim, and S. H. Lee, "Development of Customized Diving Computer Based on Wearable Sensor for Marine Safety," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 17951–17957, 2019, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2894740.
- [176] D. Valenko, Z. Mezgec, M. Pec, and M. Golob, "A diver's automatic buoyancy control device and its prototype development," *Mar Technol Soc J*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 16–26, 2013, doi: 10.4031/MTSJ.47.6.7.
- [177] B. Allotta, L. Pugi, J. Gelli, and M. Lupia, "Design and Fast Prototyping of a Wearable Safety Device for Divers," *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, vol. 49, no. 21, pp. 547–552, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.ifacol.2016.10.659.
- [178] C. Beluso *et al.*, "D-SEA: The Underwater Depth Sensing Device for Standalone Time-Averaged Measurements," *Proceedings - 2019 IEEE 16th International Conference on Mobile Ad Hoc and Smart Systems Workshops, MASSW 2019*, pp. 101–105, 2019, doi: 10.1109/MASSW.2019.00027.
- [179] B. H. Groh, T. Cibis, R. O. Schill, and B. M. Eskofier, "IMU-based pose determination of scuba divers' bodies and shanks," 2015 IEEE 12th International Conference on Wearable and Implantable Body Sensor Networks, BSN 2015, 2015, doi: 10.1109/BSN.2015.7299376.

- [180] M. Hirose, Y. Sugiura, K. Minamizawa, and M. Inami, "PukuPuCam: A recording system from third-person view in scuba diving," ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, vol. 11, pp. 161–162, 2015, doi: 10.1145/2735711.2735813.
- [181] B. Kuch, G. Buttazzo, E. Azzopardi, M. Sayer, and A. Sieber, "GPS diving computer for underwater tracking and mapping," *International Journal of the Society for Underwater Technology*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 189–194, 2012, doi: 10.3723/ut.30.189.
- [182] O. McGrane, A. Cronin, and D. Hile, "Use of handheld sonar to locate a missing diver," *Wilderness Environ Med*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 28–31, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.wem.2012.09.002.
- [183] W. W. Piispanen, R. V. Lundell, L. J. Tuominen, and A. K. Räisänen-Sokolowski, "Assessment of Alertness and Cognitive Performance of Closed Circuit Rebreather Divers With the Critical Flicker Fusion Frequency Test in Arctic Diving Conditions," *Front Physiol*, vol. 12, no. August, 2021, doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.722915.
- [184] F. Steinberg and M. Doppelmayr, "Executive functions of divers are selectively impaired at 20meter water depth," *Frontiers in Psychology*, vol. 8, no. JUN. 2017. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01000.
- [185] F. Wiehr, A. Höh, and A. Krüger, "Towards A Wearable for Deep Water Blackout Prevention," in ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, Association for Computing Machinery, Mar. 2020. doi: 10.1145/3384657.3385329.
- [186] K. Hussein, J. P. Gonzalez, and M. Derbali, "A smartphone application for two-way divers communication," *Proceedings of the 2019 6th International Conference on Computing for Sustainable Global Development, INDIACom 2019*, pp. 1322–1325, 2019.
- [187] D. Kohlsdorf, S. Gilliland, P. Presti, T. Starner, and D. Herzing, "An underwater wearable computer for two way human-dolphin communication experimentation," *ISWC 2013 -Proceedings of the 2013 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers*, pp. 147–148, 2013, doi: 10.1145/2493988.2494346.
- [188] C. Cardia, P. Gjanci, C. Petrioli, G. Saturni, D. Spaccini, and D. Tomaselli, "Demo the internet of underwater things: From Nemo to underwater Whatsapp," *Proceedings of the International Symposium on Mobile Ad Hoc Networking and Computing (MobiHoc)*, pp. 409–410, 2019, doi: 10.1145/3323679.3326632.
- [189] P. Anjangi *et al.*, "Diver Communication and Localization System using Underwater Acoustics," 2020 Global Oceans 2020: Singapore - U.S. Gulf Coast, 2020, doi: 10.1109/IEEECONF38699.2020.9389462.
- [190] S. Chen, J. L. Song, Z. M. Yuan, Y. Liu, and P. P. Guo, "Diver communication system based on underwater optical communication," *Applied Mechanics and Materials*, vol. 621, no. Vlc, pp. 259–263, 2014, doi: 10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMM.621.259.
- [191] R. K. Katzschmann, J. DelPreto, R. MacCurdy, and D. Rus, "Exploration of underwater life with an acoustically controlled soft robotic fish," *Sci Robot*, vol. 3, no. 16, 2018, doi: 10.1126/scirobotics.aar3449.
- [192] B. Kuch, B. Koss, G. Buttazzo, A. S.-E. Conf., and U. 2009, "Underwater navigation and communication: A novel GPS/GSM diving computer," in *Proc. of the 35th Annual Scientific Meeting of the European Underwater and Baromedical Society*, 2009. Accessed: Nov. 22, 2021. [Online]. Available: http://retis.sssup.it/~giorgio/paps/2009/eubs09-gps.pdf

- [193] B. Bube, H. G. Klocke, A. M. Lara Palma, and B. Baruque Zanon, "Wearable Freedive Computer with Acoustic Communication," *IEEE Consumer Electronics Magazine*, pp. 1–7, 2021, doi: 10.1109/MCE.2021.3096795.
- [194] R. F. Navea and M. J. Claveria, "Design and development of visible light communication-based underwater communication system for recreational scuba diving," *International Journal of Emerging Trends in Engineering Research*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 2266–2270, 2020, doi: 10.30534/ijeter/2020/10862020.
- [195] B. C. Renner, J. Heitmann, and F. Steinmetz, "AHOI: Inexpensive, low-power communication and localization for underwater sensor networks and µAUVs," ACM Trans Sens Netw, vol. 16, no. 2, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1145/3376921.
- [196] T. Loncar-Turukalo, E. Zdravevski, J. M. da Silva, I. Chouvarda, and V. Trajkovik, "Literature on Wearable Technology for Connected Health: Scoping Review of Research Trends, Advances, and Barriers," J Med Internet Res 2019;21(9):e14017 https://www.jmir.org/2019/9/e14017, vol. 21, no. 9, p. e14017, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.2196/14017.
- [197] D. K. A. Singh, J. W. Goh, M. I. Shaharudin, and S. Shahar, "A Mobile App (FallSA) to Identify Fall Risk Among Malaysian Community-Dwelling Older Persons: Development and Validation Study," JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021;9(10):e23663 https://mhealth.jmir.org/2021/10/e23663, vol. 9, no. 10, p. e23663, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.2196/23663.
- [198] N. Shawen, L. Lonini, C. K. Mummidisetty, M. V. Albert, K. Kording, and A. Jayaraman, "Fall Detection in Individuals With Lower Limb Amputations Using Mobile Phones: Machine Learning Enhances Robustness for Real-World Applications," JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017;5(10):e151 https://mhealth.jmir.org/2017/10/e151, vol. 5, no. 10, p. e8201, Oct. 2017, doi: 10.2196/MHEALTH.8201.
- [199] J. Lee and D. Jun, "Development design of wrist-mounted dive computer for marine leisure activities," *Electronics (Switzerland)*, vol. 9, no. 5, 2020, doi: 10.3390/electronics9050727.
- [200] J. Čejka, J. Chmelík, and F. Liarokapis, "Exploring tilting methods for typing under water," *Multimed Tools Appl*, vol. 80, no. 20, pp. 31085–31103, 2021, doi: 10.1007/s11042-020-09305-7.
- [201] A. Henriksen *et al.*, "Using Fitness Trackers and Smartwatches to Measure Physical Activity in Research: Analysis of Consumer Wrist-Worn Wearables," *J Med Internet Res 2018;20(3):e110 https://www.jmir.org/2018/3/e110*, vol. 20, no. 3, p. e9157, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.2196/JMIR.9157.
- [202] Victor Luckerson, "Google Glass Ends Explorer Beta Program | Time," Time, 2015. Accessed: Nov. 23, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://time.com/3669927/google-glass-explorer-programends/
- [203] Dieter Bohn, "Intel is giving up on its smart glasses The Verge," The Verge, Apr. 18, 2018.Accessed:Nov.23,2021.[Online].Available:https://www.theverge.com/2018/4/18/17255354/intel-vaunt-shut-down
- [204] B. Koss and A. Sieber, "Development of a graphical head-up display (HUD) for rebreather diving," *Underwater Technology*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 203–208, 2011, doi: 10.3723/ut.29.203.
- [205] A. Sieber, B. Kuch, P. Enoksson, and M. Stoyanova-Sieber, "Development of a head-up displayed diving computer capability for full face masks," *Underwater Technology*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 195– 199, 2012, doi: 10.3723/ut.30.195.

- [206] D. G. Gallagher, R. J. Manley, W. W. Hughes, and A. M. Pilcher, "Development of an enhanced underwater navigation capability for military combat divers," *Underwater Intervention 2017*, 2017.
- [207] D. G. Gallagher and R. J. Manley, "Diver's full face mask head-up display system using waveguide optical display technology," *Proceedings of the ASME 2014 International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition*, pp. 1–7, 2014, doi: 10.1109/OCEANS.2014.7002976.
- [208] D. G. Gallagher, R. J. Manley, W. W. Hughes, and A. M. Pilcher, "Divers augmented vision display (DAVD) emerging technology development," *OCEANS 2017 - Anchorage*, vol. 2017-Janua, pp. 1–7, 2017, doi: 10.1117/12.2282874.
- [209] B. Koss and A. Sieber, "Head-mounted display for diving computer platform," *IEEE/OSA Journal of Display Technology*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 193–199, 2011, doi: 10.1109/JDT.2010.2103299.
- [210] A. Schuster, S. Reif, D. Madden, and P. Enoksson, "Head-up display system for closed circuit rebreathers with antimagnetic wireless data transmission," *Mar Technol Soc J*, vol. 47, no. 6, pp. 42–51, 2013, doi: 10.4031/MTSJ.47.6.6.
- [211] K. H. Elliott and A. J. Gaston, "Accuracy of Depth Recorders," https://doi.org/10.1675/063.032.0123, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 183–191, Mar. 2009, doi: 10.1675/063.032.0123.
- [212] E. Schagatay, "Reply: Safety will increase with knowledge," South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society and European Underwater and Baromedical Society, 2012, p. 1. [Online]. Available: https://www.safetylit.org/citations/index.php?fuseaction=citations.viewdetails&citationIds[]= citjournalarticle\_370729\_36
- [213] K. Krack, M. Stepanek, M. C.-B.-H. DIVING, and undefined 2006, "BREATH-HOLD DIVING." Accessed: Oct. 02, 2020. [Online]. Available: http://archive.rubicon-foundation.org
- [214] R. Khalil, M. Babar, ... T. J.-I. C. E., and U. 2020, "Towards the Internet of Underwater Things: Recent Developments and Future Challenges," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, 2020, doi: DOI 10.1109/MCE.2020.2988441.
- [215] R. Coutinho, A. Boukerche, ... L. V.-I. C., and undefined 2020, "Underwater sensor networks for smart disaster management," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, Accessed: Apr. 20, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/8977823/?casa\_token=eNeUh0UOAv4AAAAA :fYdBNLFKkmhHssjlAexJ4kOMuGkYSis6-8SIVohGilcc5tIsKF9rKJT6JvXM7Tb1jk6gMYmaKhrNrA
- [216] "Drowning Protection by Oceanic Safety Systems." Accessed: Oct. 02, 2020. [Online]. Available: http://oceanicss.com/
- [217] "sens07vest: Intelligent safety vest for watersport & professionals | Switzerland." Accessed: Oct. 02, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.provitatec.com/
- [218] "Modem M64 Water Linked AS." Accessed: Apr. 20, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://waterlinked.com/product/modem-m64/
- [219] "Polar T34 Heart Rate Transmitter « Adafruit Industries Makers, hackers, artists, designers and engineers!" Accessed: Apr. 20, 2021. [Online]. Available: https://blog.adafruit.com/2012/09/14/new-product-polar-heart-rate-transmitter/
- [220] J. Heitmann, ... F. S.-O. 2018 M., and undefined 2018, "Self-localization of micro AUVs using a low-power, low-cost acoustic modem," *ieeexplore.ieee.org*, Accessed: Apr. 20, 2021. [Online]. Available:

https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/8604776/?casa\_token=V6ZA5XL9ZboAAAAA: 54NhHa\_Moo0kuC504UYH3L3\_qsMINMjDbEj9ma\_6qavhpHvY50I7YVMfpDr0yNRAgETIAqtDS o7iuw

- [221] F. Tsow, A. Kumar, S. H. Hosseini, and A. Bowden, "A low-cost, wearable, do-it-yourself functional near-infrared spectroscopy (DIY-fNIRS) headband," *HardwareX*, vol. 10, p. e00204, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.1016/J.OHX.2021.E00204.
- [222] M. B. Rhudy, N. Greenauer, and C. Mello, "Wearable light data logger for studying physiological and psychological effects of light data," *HardwareX*, vol. 8, p. e00157, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.1016/J.OHX.2020.E00157.
- [223] R. A. Antunes and L. B. Palma, "An open-source UFBGA μ-board for wearable devices," *HardwareX*, vol. 11, p. e00281, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.1016/J.OHX.2022.E00281.
- [224] F. Salamone, M. Masullo, and S. Sibilio, "Wearable Devices for Environmental Monitoring in the Built Environment: A Systematic Review," *Sensors 2021, Vol. 21, Page 4727*, vol. 21, no. 14, p. 4727, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.3390/S21144727.
- [225] F. de Arriba-Pérez, M. Caeiro-Rodríguez, and J. M. Santos-Gago, "Collection and Processing of Data from Wrist Wearable Devices in Heterogeneous and Multiple-User Scenarios," Sensors 2016, Vol. 16, Page 1538, vol. 16, no. 9, p. 1538, Sep. 2016, doi: 10.3390/S16091538.
- [226] V. Vijayan, J. Connolly, J. Condell, N. McKelvey, and P. Gardiner, "Review of Wearable Devices and Data Collection Considerations for Connected Health," *Sensors 2021, Vol. 21, Page 5589*, vol. 21, no. 16, p. 5589, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.3390/S21165589.
- [227] J. Passos et al., "Wearables and Internet of Things (IoT) Technologies for Fitness Assessment: A Systematic Review," Sensors 2021, Vol. 21, Page 5418, vol. 21, no. 16, p. 5418, Aug. 2021, doi: 10.3390/S21165418.
- [228] E. Mulder and E. Schagatay, "Using Underwater Pulse Oximetry in Freediving to Extreme Depths to Study Risk of Hypoxic Blackout and Diving Response Phases," *Front Physiol*, vol. 12, p. 451, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.3389/FPHYS.2021.651128/BIBTEX.
- [229] E. Mulder, E. Schagatay, and A. Sieber, "First Evaluation of a Newly Constructed Underwater Pulse Oximeter for Use in Breath-Holding Activities," *Front Physiol*, vol. 12, p. 537, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.3389/FPHYS.2021.649674/BIBTEX.
- [230] "Ratio iX3M [Gps] Tech+ Luftintegriert Tauchcomputer." Accessed: Jan. 17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.ratio-computers.eu/de/ix3m-gps-tauchcomputer/33-ix3m-gps-tech-0762307939079.html
- [231] "Garmin Descent<sup>™</sup> Mk2 | Tauchuhr." Accessed: Jan. 17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.garmin.com/de-DE/p/633356
- [232] "Suunto EON Core White Tauchcomputer mit Farbdisplay und großen Ziffern." Accessed: Jan. 17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.suunto.com/de-de/Produkte/Tauchcomputer-und-Instrumente/suunto-eon-core/suunto-eon-core-white/
- [233] "Tauchcomputer | Air Integrated i770R Aqualung." Accessed: Jan. 17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://de.aqualung.com/tauchen/computer-%26-instrumente/i770r-NS139111.html
- [234] "Arduino Home." Accessed: Jan. 28, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://www.arduino.cc/

- [235] "Adafruit HUZZAH32 ESP32 Feather Board | Internet of Things (IoT) | Plattformen | EXP Tech." Accessed: Jan. 17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.exp-tech.de/plattformen/internetof-things-iot/8122/adafruit-huzzah32-esp32-feather-board
- [236] "Adafruit TDK InvenSense ICM-20948 9-DoF IMU (MPU-9250 Upgrade) Epap." Accessed: Jan.
   17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://eckstein-shop.de/AdafruitTDKInvenSenseICM-209489-DoFIMUMPU-9250Upgrade
- [237] "Adafruit HUZZAH32 ESP32 Feather Board | Internet of Things (IoT) | Plattformen | EXP Tech." Accessed: Jan. 17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.exp-tech.de/plattformen/internetof-things-iot/8122/adafruit-huzzah32-esp32-feather-board
- [238] "TFT FeatherWing 2.4" 320x240 Touchscreen-Display für alle Feathers | EXP Tech." Accessed: Jan. 17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.exp-tech.de/displays/tft/7842/tftfeatherwing-2.4-320x240-touchscreen-for-all-feathers
- [239] "MS583730BA01-50 Measurement Specialties | Mouser Deutschland." Accessed: Jan. 17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.mouser.de/ProductDetail/Measurement-Specialties/MS583730BA01-50?qs=sGAEpiMZZMua3V2yDfsb6UPgfSY%252BVxOKbpXCuH1zrmE%3D
- [240] "Adafruit TDK InvenSense ICM-20948 9-DoF IMU (MPU-9250 Upgrade) Epap." Accessed: Jan.
   17, 2022. [Online]. Available: https://eckstein-shop.de/AdafruitTDKInvenSenseICM-209489-DoFIMUMPU-9250Upgrade
- [241] "LiPo Akku Lithium-Ion Polymer Batterie 3,7V 2000mAh JST-PH Connector." Accessed: Jan. 17,2022. [Online]. Available: https://eckstein-shop.de/LiPoAkkuLithium-IonPolymerBatterie32C7V2000mAhJST-PHConnector
- [242] H. Sharma and M. A. Rizvi, "Prediction of Heart Disease using Machine Learning Algorithms: A Survey International," *International Journal on Recent and Innovation Trends in Computing and Communication (IJRITCC)*, vol. 5, no. 8, 2017.
- [243] E. Harmon and M. Mazmanian, "Stories of the smartphone in everyday discourse: Conflict, tension & instability," *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems Proceedings*, pp. 1051–1060, 2013, doi: 10.1145/2470654.2466134.

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Hiermit versichere ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbständig und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe. Die aus anderen Quellen oder indirekt übernommenen Daten und Konzepte sind unter Angabe der Quelle gekennzeichnet. Die Arbeit wurde bisher weder im In- noch im Ausland in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form in einem Verfahren zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades vorgelegt.

Declaration of an oath

I hereby declare on oath that I have completed this thesis independently and without using any other than the specified aids. The data and concepts taken from other sources or indirectly are marked with the indication of the source. The work has not been submitted in the same or a similar form in a procedure for obtaining an academic degree, either in Germany or abroad.
Appendix

# Freedivecomputer with acoustic communication

Diese Umfrage wird im Rahmen des Tauchevents in Ibbenbüren an allen Probanden durchgeführt, die zuvor den Prototypen im Wasser mehrmals benutzt und sich somit einen detaillierten Eindruck verschaffen konnten. Die Umfrage besteht aus zwei Teilen. Im ersten Teil werden ausschließlich demographische Aspekte des Probanden abgefragt. Der zweite Teil der Umfrage beinhaltet die Bewertung des Prototypen.

\* Gibt eine erforderliche Frage an

1. Geschlecht \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.

$\subset$	Männlich
$\subset$	Weiblich
	Divers

2. Alter \*

## 3. Anzahl der Tauchgänge tiefer als 20m \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



4. Personal best (PB) im Tieftauchen in Metern \*

Fragebogen

#### Bitte geben Sie Ihre Beurteilung ab.

Um das Produkt zu bewerten, füllen Sie bitte den nachfolgenden Fragebogen aus. Er besteht aus Gegensatzpaaren von Eigenschaften, die das Produkt haben kann. Abstufungen zwischen den Gegensätzen sind durch Kreise dargestellt. Durch Ankreuzen eines dieser Kreise können Sie Ihre Zustimmung zu einem Begriff äußern.

Beispiel:

attraktiv	0	$\otimes$	0	0	0	0	0	unattraktiv

Mit dieser Beurteilung sagen Sie aus, dass Sie das Produkt eher attraktiv als unattraktiv einschätzen.

Entscheiden Sie möglichst spontan. Es ist wichtig, dass Sie nicht lange über die Begriffe nachdenken, damit Ihre unmittelbare Einschätzung zum Tragen kommt.

Bitte kreuzen Sie immer eine Antwort an, auch wenn Sie bei der Einschätzung zu einem Begriffspaar unsicher sind oder finden, dass es nicht so gut zum Produkt passt.

Es gibt keine "richtige" oder "falsche" Antwort. Ihre persönliche Meinung zählt!

5. \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 uner O O O O O erfreulich

6.	*
	Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	unve O O O O verständlich
7.	*
	Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	krea
8.	*
	Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	leict
9.	*
	Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
	wert O O O O O minderwertig

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 11. \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 12. \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 13. \*



Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 15. \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 16. \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



## 17. \*



Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 19. \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 20. \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 21. \*





2	6.	*
_	<u>v</u> .	

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



27. \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 28. \*

Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



#### 29. \*



Markieren Sie nur ein Oval.



## Sonstiges

31. Anregungen, Verbesserungen oder Kritik über den Prototype?

32. Wenn du über weitere Workshops, Studien oder Informationen auf dem laufenden bleiben möchtest, kannst du hier gerne deine Email Adresse oder sonstige Kontaktdaten hinterlegen

Dieser Inhalt wurde nicht von Google erstellt und wird von Google auch nicht unterstützt.

**Google** Formulare